

A Specialty Networks Company

CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINE Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE)

Version 1.1.2023 February 2023

Table of Contents

Introduction		••••••			7
Quality of Life and Economic Ramification	ations				10
Diagnosis/Classification		•••••			11
Initial Evaluation					16
Immunizations					18
Treatment		•••••			19
Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drug	gs				20
Corticosteroids					20
Immunomodulating Drugs					21
Hydroxychloroquine					21
Dihydroepiandrosterone					23
Vitamin D					23
Immunosuppressive Therapy					24
Methotrexate					24
Leflunomide (Arava [®])					24
Azathioprine (Imuran [®])					25
Cyclophosphamide (Cytoxan [®])					26
Mycophenolate Mofetil					27
Calcineurin Inhibitors—Tacrolimus	5				28
Biologics					29
Rituximab					29
Belimumab					30
Other Available Targeted Therapie	s				31
Monitoring		••••••			33
Frequency of Visits					33
Renal Monitoring					35
Malignancy Screening					36
Hematologic Malignancies					36
Lung Malignancies					36
Cervical Cancer36Monitoring	Risk	Factors	for	Cardiovascular	Disease

Reproductive/Hormonal Issues
Contraception
Preparing for Pregnancy
Lupus Manifestations in Specific Organ Systems
Lupus Nephritis
Treatment of Class I Lupus Nephritis40
Treatment of Class II Lupus Nephritis40
Treatment of Class III and IV Lupus Nephritis40
Treatment of Class V Lupus Nephritis (Diffuse Membranous Nephritis)41
Rituximab without Oral Corticosteroids42
Other Manifestations42
Lupus During Pregnancy49
Appendix A49
Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index Selena Modification
SLE Disease Activity Index (SLEDAI)51
SELENA Flare Index53
Lupus Low Disease Activity State (LLDAS)
References
Document Updates

List of Tables

Table 1. The 1997 update of the 1982 ACR revised criteria for the classification of SLE	12
Table 2. SLICC clinical and immunologic classification criteria for systemic lupus	14
Table 3. EULAR/ACR research classification criteria for systemic lupus	16
Table 4. Effect of prednisone on organ damage adjusting for confounding by indication due to SLE disease activity	22
Table 5. Prednisone by itself increases the risk of cardiovascular events	23
Table 6. Drugs used to treat SLE with recommended doses and contraindications	34
Table 7. Treatment of other potential manifestations of SLE	46

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023

Abbreviations

ACE	Angiotensin-converting-enzyme
ACR	American College of Rheumatology
ALMS	Aspreva Lupus Management Study
ANA	Antinuclear antibody
Anti-dsDNA	Anti-double stranded deoxyribonucleic acid
Anti-Sm	Anti-Smith
Anti-β2GP1	Anti-β2-glycoprotein 1
aPL	Antiphospholipid
BILAG	British Isles Lupus Assessment
BLyS	B-lymphocyte stimulator (also known as BAFF)
BMD	Bone mineral density
BMI	Body mass index
C3	Complement component 3
C4	Complement component 4
CAPS	Catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome
CBC	Complete blood count
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CNI	Calcineurin inhibitor
CNS-SLE	Neuropsychiatric lupus
CRP	C-reactive protein
DHEA	Dihydroepiandrosterone
DILE	Drug-induced lupus erythematosus
DMARD	Disease-modifying antirheumatic drug
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ECLAM	European Consensus of Lupus Activity Measurement
EEG	Electroencephalogram
EULAR	European League Against Rheumatism
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate
GI	Gastrointestinal
GPL	G-phospholipids
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HPV	Human papillomavirus
ICD	intrauterine contraceptive device
IFN	Interferon
IV	Intravenous

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023

LFT	Liver function test
LLDAS	Lupus Low Disease Activity State
LMW	Low molecular weight
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
NIH	National Institutes of Health
NSAID	Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug
Рар	Papanicolaou

PGA	Physician's Global Assessment	
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis	
RBCs	Red blood cells	
REMS	Risk Evaluation Management Strategy	
RNP	Ribonucleoprotein	
RPR	Rapid plasma reagin	
SLE	Systemic lupus erythematosus	
SLEDAI	SLE Disease Activity Index	
SLICC	Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics	
SRI	Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Responder Index	
SSA	Sjögren's syndrome-related antigen A	
SSB	Sjögren's syndrome-related antigen B	
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor	
US	United States	

Introduction

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is an incurable systemic autoimmune disease with a wide variety of clinical manifestations, ranging from subtle symptoms to life-threatening multi-organ failure. Systemic lupus erythematosus is characterized by alterations in both the innate and adaptive immune systems, ultimately leading to loss of self-tolerance and formation of autoantibodies against nuclear material. The severity of the disease is very variable and characterized by continuous activity, flares or rare periods of remission or near remission.¹

Recently, four United States (US) regions have reported the incidence of SLE to be between 4.6 and 5.5 per 100 000,²⁻⁶ and a prevalence between 62.2 and 96.8 per 100 000.⁷⁻⁹ Systemic lupus erythematosus predominantly affects adults, at a female-to-male ratio of between 9:1 and 15:1.¹⁰ It usually affects women of childbearing age (20 to 40 years old). Children and older adults, such as postmenopausal women, can also be affected by the disease. In all studies the prevalence in African-Americans is higher. The incidence of SLE has nearly tripled in the last 4 to 5 decades, largely as a result of earlier detection of mild disease.^{7, 10-13} There are probably 300 000 patients with SLE in the US and another 300 000 with purely cutaneous lupus, 10% of whom progress to SLE.²⁻⁴ The survival of patients with SLE has dramatically improved during the last 50 years. The 5-year survival rates were approximately 50% in the 1950s; they range from 88% to 96% today.^{14, 15}

The pathogenesis of the immune alterations in SLE is complex.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ Its causes, development, heterogeneous presentation, and unpredictable course make SLE a major diagnostic challenge even for rheumatologists.¹⁹ It is thought that a complex genetic predisposition; environmental triggers; and hormonal factors contribute to the etiology of this disease.²⁰ According to Rhodes and Vyse (Page 550),²¹ "There is a growing understanding that susceptibility to SLE is due to a complex interaction of multiple genes and environmental factors, and that many of these may be shared with other autoimmune diseases."

Studies have shown that more than 80 genes are associated with SLE. When genetically susceptible individuals are exposed to certain environmental and hormonal factors, the disease can develop.²² The genetic contribution to the development of the disease is supported by the study of twins. In 1992, Deapen et al.²³ published a study of 107 pairs of twins with SLE and found that 24% of the monozygotic twins, but only 2% of dizygotic twins were concordant. First-degree relatives of a patient with SLE have a greater chance of developing SLE.²⁴

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.201 Environmental factors that are thought to increase the risk for development of SLE in susceptible individuals include but are not limited to the following:²⁵

- Ultraviolet light²⁶
- Epstein Barr virus^{27, 28}
- Smoking
- Silica²⁹
- Mercury ³⁰
- Pesticides³⁰

The clinical presentation of SLE is extremely variable. Some of the more recognized presenting manifestations include: $^{31, 32}$

- Fever
- Photosensitive skin rashes
- Alopecia
- Arthralgias and arthritis
- Anemia (hemolytic or anemia of chronic inflammation)
- Leukocytopenia
- Thrombocytopenia
- Renal disease (lupus nephritis)
- Psychosis
- Seizures
- Encephalopathy
- Myelitis
- Serositis including pleuritis and pericarditis
- Arterial or venous thrombosis

As indicated above, SLE is an autoimmune disease associated with auto-antibodies. Some of the common auto-antibodies found in these patients include:^{33, 34}

- Antinuclear antibodies (ANA)
- Anti-double stranded deoxyribonucleic acid (anti-dsDNA)
- Anti-Ro (SSA, Sjögren's syndrome-related antigen A) antibodies
- Anti-La (SSB, Sjögren's syndrome-related antigen B) antibodies
- Anti-Smith (anti-Sm) antibodies
- Anti-ribonucleoprotein (RNP)
- Antiphospholipid (aPL) antibodies including lupus anticoagulant, anticardiolipin and anti-β2glycoprotein 1 (anti-β2GP1)
- Anti-ribosomal P
- Anti-histone
- Anti-chromatin

Autoantibodies in SLE can be present for 5 to 7 years before clinical manifestations develop.³³

Some of these auto-antibodies may also be found in healthy individuals. A study by Tan et al.³⁵ published in 1997, reported that, in a group of healthy individuals between the ages of 20 and 60 years old, 31.7%

were ANA positive at a serum dilution of 1:40, 13.3% were positive at a serum dilution of 1:80, 5% were positive at 1:160, and 3% were positive at 1:320. The most common autoantibodies found in healthy individuals are ANA, anti-Ro, and anticardiolipin antibodies. Anti-dsDNA and anti-RNP antibodies are rare in people without SLE.

A study published in 2006 compared the presence of ANA, anti-dsDNA antibodies, and eight other lupusrelated autoantibodies including Ro (SSA), La (SSB), Sm, RNP, Jo-1, chromatin, SCL-70, and ribosomal-P in patients with SLE, patients with undifferentiated connective tissue diseases, and unaffected first-degree relatives of patients with SLE versus 3000 normal individuals.³⁶ There was a 27% prevalence of ANA positivity in asymptomatic people. At least one additional autoantibody was found in 1.7% of the normal individuals.

Some lupus antibodies may be important in disease course.³⁷ Ng et al.³⁸ reported that, among patients with elevated levels of anti-dsDNA antibodies and low disease activity, up to 80% would experience a flare within 5 years of the detection of the elevated antibodies. However, on the day of an SLE flare, on average, anti-dsDNA decreases in the serum.³⁹

It is very important to differentiate idiopathic SLE from drug-induced lupus erythematosus (DILE). DILE is a clinical syndrome with features similar to some of those of SLE. It can develop following the use of more than 90 different drugs.⁴⁰⁻⁴⁶ The cause DILE can be divided into three groups:

• Drugs definitely associated with DILE—there is strong evidence that these drugs cause DILE:

Hydralazine o Procainamide o Isoniazid o Methyldopa o Chlorpromazine o Quinidine
 Minocycline

 \circ Anti-tumor necrosis factor (anti-TNF)- α agents such as etanercept, infliximab, adalimumab

• Drugs that may or possibly can cause DILE:

o Sulfasalazine

• Antiepileptics such as carbamazepine, diphenylhydantoin, ethosuximide, phenytoin, primidone, trimethadione, valproate, zonisamide

• Statins such as lovastatin, simvastatin, fluvastatin, atorvastatin, pravastatin • Antihypertensives such as methyldopa, acebutolol, atenolol, labetalol, enalapril, minoxidil, pindolol, practolol, metoprolol, timolol, pindolol, propranolol

○ Fluorouracil agents ○ Penicillamine ○ Terbinafine

Drugs that have at least one case report of DILE in the literature or are suggested to cause DILE:

- Gold salts
 Griseofulvin
 Penicillin
 Alpha Interferons
 Streptomycin
 Phenylbutazone
- Tetracycline Hydroxyurea
- Estrogens and oral Para-aminosalicylic acid contraceptives Clobazam
- $\circ \ {\sf Tamoxifen} \qquad \circ \ {\sf Tocainide} \circ {\sf Lithium} \quad \circ \ {\sf Bupropion} \circ {\sf Captopril} \qquad \circ \ {\sf Taxanes}$
- Lisinopril Cyclophosphamide Clonidine Doxorubicin

- Lithium carbonate
 Anastrozole
 Ciprofloxacin
 Bortezomib
 Rifampicin
 IL-2

 IL-2
- Calcium channel blockers Lamotrigine

The increased use of immunotherapy in oncology (immune checkpoint inhibitors) has resulted in an increased number of reports of immune-related adverse events with these drugs.⁴⁷⁻⁵⁰ The use of checkpoint inhibitors (anti-PD-1, anti PD-L1, and anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibodies) is currently limited but expanding rapidly. Currently, the approved anti-PD-1 drugs include nivolumab (Opdivo[®]) and pemobrolizumab (Keytruda[®]). ipilimumab (Yervoy[®]) is an approved anti-CTA-4 monoclonal antibody, and atezolizumab (Tecentriq[®]), avelumab (Bavencio[®]), and durvalumab (Imfinzi[®]) are approved PD-L1 monoclonal antibodies. These drugs are used to treat a wide variety of cancers.

The most common adverse events associated with checkpoint inhibitors tend to be related to tissuespecific inflammation.⁴⁹ These include skin rashes, pruritus, vitiligo, vomiting, diarrhea, colitis, hepatitis and elevated liver enzymes, thyroiditis, hypothyroidism, decreased pituitary function, adrenal insufficiency, and pneumonitis. Dry mouth, oral candidiasis and Sjögren's syndrome have also been reported. Fadel et al.⁵⁰ reported a case of anti-CTLA-4 monoclonal antibody-induced lupus nephritis. In addition, arthralgias have been reported with checkpoint inhibitors.⁵¹⁻⁵³ When evaluating patients with cancer treated with checkpoint inhibitors presenting with symptoms of a possible rheumatic disorder, it is important to keep in mind that the drugs used to treat the cancer may be responsible for the new symptoms of an autoimmune disorder.

The risk of developing DILE varies from 20% per year for procainamide, 5% to 8% per year for hydralazine, to less than 1% per year for quinidine and much less than 1% per year for most other drugs.⁵⁴

Separately from DILE, many patients with established lupus can have their manifestations exacerbated by medications. Lupus patients may flare upon exposure to sulfa⁵⁵ antibiotics and echinacea.⁵⁶

There are several findings in the clinical history, physical examination, and laboratory data that help to differentiate the idiopathic form of SLE from DILE. A history of treatment with a 'suspected' drug for at least 1 month is a helpful indicator when there is a suspicion of DILE. While idiopathic SLE characteristically has a female predominance, DILE occurs equally in both men and women. Drug-induced lupus is more common in older persons, because exposure to drugs is higher in this group.⁵⁷ Patients with DILE frequently present with arthralgia, myalgia, serositis, fever, and cutaneous manifestations; while renal and central nervous system manifestations are rare. Elevated titers of ANA are found in both idiopathic SLE and DILE. Anti-histone antibodies are present in 75% of DILE patients; however, they are not pathognomonic of DILE, because they can also be present in idiopathic SLE patients. Anti-dsDNA is positive in less than 5% of patients with DILE. Anti-Sm is almost exclusively found in idiopathic SLE and rarely in DILE. Symptoms of DILE may resolve over days or weeks after the drug is discontinued; however, serologic abnormalities, especially anti-histone antibodies, may persist much longer.⁵⁸

Quality of Life and Economic Ramifications

Patients with SLE have a diminished quality of life, even when compared to patients with other chronic diseases such as diabetes and hypertension.⁵⁹ In particular, chronic fatigue (unrelated to lupus activity) can occur and often has the characteristics of fibromyalgia.

The cost of caring for patients with SLE is a significant burden to the healthcare system. Annual direct costs in the US ranged from \$2,214 to \$16,875 in 2010 dollars, according to Meacock et al.³¹ In addition, patients with SLE incur indirect costs as a result of decreased productivity at work, increased absenteeism from work, reduced hours, early retirement, and loss of employment. In 2010 dollars, these were estimated to range from \$2239 to \$35 540.³¹

In 2015, Garris et al.⁶⁰ published a study of the cost of care for patients with SLE in the Medicare population. The study group consisted of 6707 patients with SLE and 13 414 non-SLE patients. The SLE group had 2.4 times more doctor visits, 2.7 times more hospitalizations, 2.2 times more outpatient visits, and 2.1 times more emergency department visits than the non-SLE group. Overall, the SLE group's annual medical costs exceeded those of the non-SLE group by approximately \$10,229 per patient. In this study, close to 50% of the SLE patients were receiving disability benefits, and almost 2% of new disability cases in Medicare were related to SLE.

Diagnosis/Classification

In 1997, the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) published a revision to the 1982 Classification Criteria for SLE, with eleven criteria (Table 1).⁶¹ For patients to be classified as having SLE, they had to meet four or more of these criteria; individuals meeting one to three criteria were said to have incomplete SLE. Although the 1982 criteria have been used very successfully by rheumatologists, the 1997 revisions were not adequate, especially in light of advances in the understanding of SLE.⁶²

Criteria	Definition
Malar rash	Fixed erythema, flat or raised, over the malar eminences, tending to spare the nasolabial folds
Discoid rash	Erythematous raised patches with adherent keratotic scaling and follicular plugging; atrophic scarring may occur in older lesions
Photosensitivity	Skin rash as a result of unusual reaction to sunlight, by patient history or physician observation
Oral ulcers	Oral or nasopharyngeal ulceration, usually painless, observed by a physician
Arthritis	Nonerosive arthritis involving two or more peripheral joints characterized by tenderness, swelling, or effusion
Serositis	Pleuritis—convincing history of pleuritic pain or rubbing heard by a physician, or evidence of pleural effusion OR Pericarditis—documented by ECG or rub, or evidence of pericardial effusion

Table 1. The 1997 update of the 1982 ACR revised criteria for the classification of SLE

Renal disorder	Persistent proteinuria greater than .5 grams per day, or greater than 3+ if quantitation is not performed OR Cellular casts—may be red cell, hemoglobin, granular, tubular, or mixed
Neurologic disorder	Seizures—in the absence of offending drugs or known metabolic derangements such as uremia, ketoacidosis, or electrolyte imbalance OR Psychosis—in the absence of offending drugs or known metabolic derangements; e.g., uremia, ketoacidosis, or electrolyte imbalance
Criteria	Definition
Hematologic disorder	 Hemolytic anemia—with reticulocytosis OR Leukopenia—less than 4000/mm³ total on two or more occasions OR Lymphopenia—less than 1500/mm³ on two or more occasions OR Thrombocytopenia—less than 100,000/mm³ in the absence of offending drugs
Immunologic disorder	Positive LE cell preparation OR Anti-DNA: antibody to native DNA in abnormal titer OR Anti-Sm: presence of antibody to Smith nuclear antigen OR False positive serologic test for syphilis known to be positive for at least 6 months and confirmed by Treponema pallidum immobilization or fluorescent treponemal antibody absorption test
ANA	An abnormal titer of antinuclear antibody by immunofluorescence or an equivalent assay at any point in time and in the absence of drugs known to be associated with "DILE" syndrome

ACR, American College of Rheumatology; ANA, antinuclear antibody; anti-Sm, anti-Smith; DILE, drug-induced lupus erythematosus; DNA, deoxyribonucleic acid; ECG, electrocardiogram; LE cell, lupus erythematosus cell (usually a neutrophil or macrophage that has phagocytized, damaged nuclear material from another cell); SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus

In 2012, the Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics (SLICC) published an evidence-based set of classification criteria for SLE (Table 2).⁶³ Classification criteria are not diagnostic criteria but are intended to be used to classify patients for clinical trials. Despite the initial intent they are used by many physicians as if they were diagnostic criteria. These criteria require that a patient have 4 or more of the listed criteria to be classified as having SLE. In addition, this classification system requires that the

patient must have at least one positive clinical and one positive immunologic finding. If lupus nephritis was confirmed by renal biopsy (with ANA or anti-dsDNA) that would be sufficient for classification.

Acute	Cutaneous Lupus
0 0 0	cluding lupus malar rash (do not count if malar discoid) Bullous lupus Toxic epidermal necrolysis variant of SLE Maculopapular lupus rash Photosensitive lupus rash (in the absence of dermatomyositis) o Subacute taneous lupus (nonindurated psoriaform and/or annular polycyclic lesions that resolve without scarring, although occasionally with post-inflammatory dyspigmentation or telangiectasias)
Chron	c Cutaneous Lupus
 Hy Lu Lu Ch 	cluding classical discoid rash o Localized (above the neck) Generalized (above and below the neck) pertrophic (verrucous lupus) pus panniculitis (profundus) • Mucosal lupus pus erythematosus tumidus ilblains lupus scoid lupus/lichen planus overlap
Oral a	nd Nasal Ulcers
Behçe	absence of other etiologies such as vasculitis, inflammatory bowel disease, reactive arthritis, t's disease, infection such as herpes, and acidic foods)
Behçe • Pa	-
Behçe • Pa • Bu • To	t's disease, infection such as herpes, and acidic foods) late
Behçe • Pa • Bu • To • No	t's disease, infection such as herpes, and acidic foods) late ccal mucosa ngue
Behçe Pa Bu To Nonsc (in the	e's disease, infection such as herpes, and acidic foods) late ccal mucosa ngue ose
Behçe Pa Bu To Nonsc (in the androg	e absence of other causes of alopecia such as alopecia areata, drugs, iron deficiency, and
Behçe Pa Bu To Nonsc (in the androg	e's disease, infection such as herpes, and acidic foods) late ccal mucosa ngue ose arring Alopecia e absence of other causes of alopecia such as alopecia areata, drugs, iron deficiency, and genic alopecia) fuse thinning or hair fragility with visible broken hairs
Behçe Pa Bu To Nonsc (in the andro Synov	e's disease, infection such as herpes, and acidic foods) late ccal mucosa ngue ose arring Alopecia e absence of other causes of alopecia such as alopecia areata, drugs, iron deficiency, and genic alopecia) fuse thinning or hair fragility with visible broken hairs

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023

Classification Criteria*

Serositis

- Pleurisy for more than one day

 Pleural fluid
 Pleural fluid
 Pleural fluid
- Pericardial pain (pain on lying down that gets better on sitting forward) for more than 1 day (in the absence of other etiologies such as infection, uremia, and Dressler's syndrome)
 - Pericardial effusion
 Pericardial rub
 Pericarditis on ECG

Renal

• Urine protein/creatinine or 24-hour urine protein with 500 mg of protein/24 hours • Red blood cell casts

Neurologic

- Seizures
- Psychosis
- Myelitis
- Mononeuritis multiplex (in the absence of other known causes such as primary vasculitis)
- Peripheral or cranial neuropathy (in the absence of other causes such as primary vasculitis, infection, and diabetes mellitus)
- Acute confusional state (in the absence of other causes such as toxic-metabolic, uremia, or drugs)

Hemolytic Anemia

Leukopenia \circ <4000/mm³ at least once in the absence of other causes such as Felty's syndrome, drugs, or portal hypertension **and/or**

Lymphopenia \circ <1000/mm³ at least once in the absence of other causes such as steroids, drugs, or infection

Thrombocytopenia • <100,000/mm³ at least once in the absence of any other known cause such as drugs, portal hypertension, or TTP

Immunologic Criteria*

ANA

Above laboratory reference level

Anti-dsDNA

• Above laboratory reference range, except with ELISA: twice above laboratory reference range

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023

Anti	i-Sm
•	Positive
Anti	iphospholipid antibody any of the following:
•	Lupus anticoagulant
•	False-positive RPR
•	Medium or high titer anticardiolipin (IgA, IgG, or IgM)
•	Anti-β2 glycoprotein I (IgA, IgG, or IgM)
Low	r complement
•	Low C3
•	Low C4
•	Low CH50
Dire	ect Coombs test
•	Positive in the absence of hemolytic anemia

ANA, anti-nuclear antibodies; anti-dsDNA, anti-double stranded DNA antibodies; anti-Sm, anti-Smith antibody; C3, complement component 3; C4, complement component 4; CH50, hemolytic complement 50; dsDNA, double stranded deoxyribonucleic acid; ECG, electrocardiogram; IgA, interleukin A; IgG, interleukin G; IgM, interleukin M; RPR, rapid plasma reagin; SLICC, Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics; TTP, thrombotic thrombocytopenia purpura

There is now a proposed third set of classification criteria by the European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR)/ACR (Table 3), developed for only clinical research.⁶⁴ These criteria include an entry criterion, a positive ANA of equal to or greater than 80. If that is met, the criteria are weighted, with a score of 10 required for classification.

Clinical Domains and Criteria	Weight	Immunologic Domain and Criteria	Weight
Constitutional domain		Antiphospholipid antibodies domain	
Fever >38.3°C	2	Anticardiolipin IgG >40 GPL units <u>or</u> anti-β2GP1 IgG >40 units <u>or</u> lupus anticoagulant positive	2
Cutaneous domain			
Non-scarring alopecia	2		
Oral ulcers	2	Complement proteins domain	
Subacute cutaneous <u>or</u> discoid lupus	4	Low C3 <u>or</u> low C4	3

Table 3. EULAR/ACR research classification criteria for systemic lupus

Acute cutaneous lupus	6	Low C3 <u>and</u> low C4 at the same time	4	
Clinical Domains and Criteria	Weight	Immunologic Domain and Criteria	Weight	
Arthritis domain				
Synovitis in ≥2 joints or tenderness in ≥2 joints and ≥30 minutes of morning stiffness	6			
Neurologic domain		Highly specific antibodies domain		
Delirium	2	Anti-dsDNA antibody	6	
Psychosis	3	Anti-Smith antibody	6	
Seizure	5			
Serositis domain				
Pleural <u>or</u> pericardial effusion	5			
Acute pericarditis	6			
Hematologic domain				
Leukopenia (<4000/mm ³)	3			
Thrombocytopenia	4			
Autoimmune hemolysis	4			
Renal domain				
Proteinuria >.5 g/24h	4			
Renal biopsy with Class II or V lupus nephritis	8			
Renal biopsy with Class III or IV lupus nephritis	10			
Classify as SLE if total score ≥10 points				

Anti-β2GP1, anti-β2-glycoprotein 1; C3, complement component 3; C4, complement component 4; dsDNA, double-stranded deoxyribonucleic acid; GPL, G phospholipids; IgG, interleukin-G; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus

There is a so called "preclinical" or asymptomatic stage of SLE that can be as long as 5 to 6 years. During this phase of the disease, patients produce autoantibodies (some of which are seen in other autoimmune diseases and in healthy individuals) and gradually (up to 5 to 6 years) develop clinical signs of SLE. ^{33, 34}

Initial Evaluation

The initial evaluation should include at least the following:

• Complete medical history, including a complete drug and smoking history

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023

- Complete physical examination
- Vaccination history
- Complete blood count (CBC) with differential
- Urinalysis, including microscopy, and urine protein/creatinine ratio
- Erythrocyte sedimentation rate and/or C-reactive protein (CRP)
- Liver function tests (LFTs)
- Complete metabolic panel
- 25(OH) Vitamin D level
- Consider baseline bone mineral density (BMD), in particular if there has been past corticosteroid use or if corticosteroid use is contemplated at that visit or in the near future
- Tuberculosis testing if patient has an endemic area Note: Hydroxychloroquine can cause an indeterminate QuantiFERON test.
- Any patient to be started on hydroxychloroquine should have a baseline ophthalmologic examination

EULAR recommends the following autoantibody and complement tests at the initial evaluation:⁶⁵

- ANA
- Anti-dsDNA
- Anti-Sm
- Anti-RNP
- Anti-SSA (Ro)
- Anti-SSB (La)
- C3
- C4
- Lupus anticoagulant, anticardiolipin, and anti-β2GP1, false-positive rapid plasma reagin (RPR)
- Direct Coombs test

Evaluation of patients with neurologic manifestations is complex. Patients with a history of seizures should have magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain and an electroencephalogram (EEG). Those presenting with cognitive impairment should have neuropsychological testing and evaluation by a cognitive psychologist. Lupus patients with myelopathy should have a contrast-enhanced MRI of the spine and a cerebrospinal fluid analysis. Optic neuritis should be evaluated with a complete eye examination to include at least fundoscopy and fluorangiography, MRI, and visual evoked potentials. Those with an acute confusional state require a lumbar puncture for cerebrospinal fluid evaluation, an MRI of the brain, and an EEG to exclude non-SLE causes of the confusion.⁶⁶

The ACR recommends that all patients with evidence of active lupus nephritis have a renal biopsy (unless strongly contraindicated) to document and classify the glomerular disease.⁶⁷ Indications for renal biopsy proposed by the ACR and EULAR include rising creatinine without another explanation.^{65, 67} EULAR recommends biopsy at 500 mg proteinuria on a 24-hour specimen or a random spot urine protein/creatinine ratio.⁶⁵

At the initial evaluation, the physician should complete at least a Physician Global Assessment (that can include visual analog scales for active organs⁶⁸) and can consider using any of the versions of the SLE

Disease Activity Index to establish a baseline for each patient. The relevant form is included in the Appendix, together with a scoring system for the evaluation of flares. Also included in the Appendix is the Physician Global Assessment, with a score of 0 indicating no disease activity; and scores of 1, 2, and 3 indicating mild, moderate, and severe disease activity, respectively, with severe being the most severe expression possible in SLE.

United Rheumatology believes that the Lupus Low Disease Activity State (see Appendix) is the best treatto-target goal in SLE. It combines low disease activity (Physician Global Assessment [PGA] \leq 1; SLE Disease Activity Index [SLEDAI] \leq 4) with prednisone \leq 7.5 mg daily. Achieving a Lupus Low Disease Activity State (LLDAS) at 50% or more of follow-up visits leads to a 50% reduction in organ damage.⁶⁹ A LLDAS is recommended as part of routine care for SLE patients. Failure to achieve LLDAS on the current medication regimen would be an impetus to change the regimen, or to check on patient adherence.

Immunizations

Infection is one of the most common causes of morbidity and mortality in patients with SLE worldwide.⁷⁰⁻ ⁷² The disturbance of the innate and adaptive immunity, low complement levels, splenic dysfunction, and the use of steroids and immunosuppressive medications used to treat these patients increases their susceptibility to both classic and opportunistic infections.⁷²⁻⁷⁵

There is concern that some patients with SLE may have a potentially increased risk of disease activity with immunization.⁷⁶⁻⁷⁹ However, two blinded trials of influenza and pneumococcal vaccine showed no increase in disease activity following vaccination.^{80, 81} The possibility of live attenuated vaccines inducing active infection remains a real concern and argues against the use of live viral vaccination in severely immunocompromised SLE patients.⁷⁰

The EULAR recommendations for vaccination in patients with autoimmune inflammatory rheumatic disease were published in 2010.⁸² The association cautions that these recommendations are based on limited data and additional studies are needed. However, at this time, EULAR acknowledges that there are vaccine-preventable diseases that occur in patients with autoimmune diseases and that most vaccines are effective in patients with SLE, even when they are taking immunosuppressive drugs, with the exception of rituximab.

Streptococcus pneumoniae accounts for about 6% to 18% of bacterial infections in SLE patients.⁸³ Pneumococcal vaccine is recommended for SLE patients,^{84, 85} first, with pneumococcal 13 (a one-time vaccine). The "booster" pneumococcal vaccine, a 23-valent polysaccharide vaccine which contains capsular polysaccharides antigens from the 23 most dominant serotypes of *S. pneumoniae* responsible for approximately 90% of the invasive infections in adults, can be given 8 weeks up to 1 year later, followed by at least 5 years for two more doses.⁸⁴ The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommends three boosters over a lifetime.⁸⁶ For an SLE patient, that would mean 0, 5, and 10 years. As patients with SLE are often young, current CDC guidance is unclear what to do after that. Infectious disease consultant Kevin Winthrop MD MPH, provided his opinion that there will be additional updates on pneumococcal vaccine guidelines over the next 10 years (personal communication).

Some studies have shown that immunosuppressive treatment did not affect the response to pneumococcal vaccine,^{87, 88} while others demonstrated that it might decrease the response.^{89, 90} Consequently, it is better to give the pneumococcal vaccination before the initiation of

immunosuppressive therapy, whenever possible. Revaccination every 5 years is advisable to maintain an adequate antibody response post vaccination.⁷³

The EULAR guidelines also recommend that patients with SLE receive annual influenza vaccinations.⁸²

In addition, the EULAR guidelines indicate that consideration should be given to human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination in patients with SLE. A case-controlled study of 50 lupus patients and 50 healthy controls evaluated the efficacy and safety of the HPV vaccine.⁹¹ The results of this study showed an adequate response in most SLE patients; however, patients treated with mycophenolate mofetil and steroids had a lower response to the vaccine.

Hepatitis B (HBV) vaccine is the recombinant deoxynucleic acid (DNA) of hepatitis B surface antigen. It has been reported to be a potential trigger for autoimmune diseases such as vasculitis,⁹²⁻⁹⁶ transverse myelitis,⁹⁷ uveitis,⁹⁸ immune thrombocytopenia,⁹⁹⁻¹⁰² RA,^{92, 103, 104} spondyloarthropathies,⁹² and SLE.^{92, 104, 105} A prospective study evaluated the safety and efficacy of HBV vaccine in 28 inactive SLE patients for

7 months.¹⁰⁵ The authors found no significant change from baseline in the frequency of exacerbations, the SLEDAI score, anti-DNA antibodies, steroid dose, or the use of immunosuppressive drugs. They also reported adequate seroconversion at the end of the study (93%), although it was lower than the controls after the first and the second doses (58%). EULAR recommends the use of HBV vaccine for inactive, highrisk SLE patients such as healthcare providers and those in contact with infected individuals.⁸²

The new herpes zoster vaccine is inactivated and more effective than the previous live attenuated vaccine.¹⁰⁶ There are no studies yet in SLE. However, as zoster is frequent in SLE, there is a clear need for effective zoster prevention.

Treatment

Prevention and treatment of flares to minimize organ damage are the goals of therapy in SLE. The treatments are highly variable and individualized; they are developed according to the needs of each individual patient. In particular, treatment is based on the organ system involvement, and within each organ, on the severity of the lupus activity.

Treatment for SLE varies depending on the clinical presentation and severity of disease. The drugs used for the treatment of SLE have been associated with a number of potentially serious adverse effects. Physicians should be familiar with the Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved package inserts for the medications discussed below and with the management of potential complications and drug interactions.

The pharmacologic treatment of SLE has slowly evolved and now includes several classes of drugs:

- Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs)
- Corticosteroids
- Immunomodulating drugs o
 Antimalarials (hydroxychloroquine, quinacrine, chloroquine)
 - \circ Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) \circ Vitamin D

- Calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs)

 Tacrolimus
 - Cyclosporine (rarely used)
- Biologics \circ Rituximab \circ Belimumab
 - Some biologics approved for RA, including, but not limited to, abatacept, tocilizumab, and tofacitinib may occasionally be used in SLE. Anti-TNF is generally not used (except in patients who have true RA *and* SLE (rhupus)).

Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs

Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs may be used to help control pain, swelling, and fever. However, doses should be adjusted, as appropriate, for the overall health of the patient, any existing comorbidities, and potential drug interactions. Patients with lupus nephritis should not chronically take NSAIDs. Chronic use of NSAIDs increases the risk of cardiovascular disease. Ibuprofen can cause aseptic meningitis in SLE.¹⁰⁷

Corticosteroids

Corticosteroids remain the fastest onset and most broadly effective immunosuppressants in the treatment of SLE. Unfortunately, they also are directly or indirectly responsible for 80% of the permanent organ damage by 15 years after diagnosis.¹⁰⁸ Corticosteroids predispose to immediate (psychosis, insomnia, depression, hyperlipidemia, hyperglycemia, hypertension) and long-term (osteoporosis, osteonecrosis, cardiovascular disease, cataracts, diabetes, obesity) sequelae.

For acute organ threatening or life-threatening events, SLE pulse methylprednisolone 1000 mg daily for 3 days (given over 90 minutes) is useful. It can be followed by the lowest appropriate oral prednisone dose AND addition of appropriate immunosuppression.

For mild/moderate lupus flares, an oral Medrol dose pack or triamcinolone 100 mg IM can be used. Both are effective for the majority of flares and avoid the need for any increase in maintenance oral prednisone.¹⁰⁹

Any oral prednisone dose of 6 mg or higher increases permanent organ damage by 50% (Table 4).¹¹⁰

Table 4. Effect of prednisone on organ damage adjusting for confounding by indication due to SLE
disease activity

Prednisone Average Dose	Hazard Ratio
>0-6 mg/day	1.16
> 6-12 mg/day	1.50
>12-18 mg/day	1.64

>18 mg/day	2.51
a	

SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus

Any oral maintenance dose of 10 mg increases cardiovascular events 2.4-fold; 20 mg increase the risk of cardiovascular events 5-fold (Table 5).¹¹¹

Table 5. Prednisone by itself increases the risk of cardiovascular events

Prednisone Use	Observed Number of CVE	Rate of Events per 1000 Person Years	Age-adjusted Rate ratios (95% Cl)	P value	
Never taken	22	13.3	1.0 (reference group)		
	1	Currently taking			
1-9 mg/day	32	12.3	1.3 (.8, 2.0)	.31	
10-19 mg/day	31	20.2	2.4 (1.5, 3.8)	.0002	
≥20 mg/day	25	35.4	5.1 (3.1, 8.4)	<.0001	
Cumulative past dose					
<3650 mg	14	9.9	.9 (.4, 1.6)	.56	
3650-10,950 mg	26	13.8	1.2 (.7, 2.2)	.49	
10,950-36,499 mg	41	12.8	1.1 (.6, 1.8)	.83	
≥36,500 mg	30	25.3	2.2 (1.2, 3.7)	.0066	

CI, confidence interval; CVE, cardiovascular events

Immunomodulating Drugs

Hydroxychloroquine

Initially all SLE patients should be started on hydroxychloroquine, unless contraindicated.¹¹²⁻¹¹⁴ It is not necessary to check G6PD before starting.¹⁰⁹ Other antimalarials include quinacrine and chloroquine.

Hydroxychloroquine immunomodulatory effects in SLE include many different molecular pathways.¹¹⁵⁻¹¹⁹ As a weak base, it increases the lysosomal pH in antigen presenting cells, which interferes with phagocytosis and disrupts self-antigen presentation.^{120, 121} It also alters T-cell responses and inhibits numerous cytokines (IL-1, IL-2, IL-6, IL-17, IL-22, interferon [IFN]- α , and TNF- α).¹¹⁵⁻¹¹⁹ Its Immunomodulatory action, in particular, may be exerted through the inhibition of Toll-like receptor activation.¹²² Hydroxychloroquine decreases signaling of Toll-like receptors 3, 7, 8, and 9; which decreases dendritic-cell activation and IFN production,¹⁰⁶ among other mechanisms.¹²³

For most patients, the initial dose of hydroxychloroquine has classically been $\leq 6.5 \text{ mg/kg/day}$, not to exceed 400 mg/day. Recent US ophthalmology guidelines have suggested $\leq 5.0 \text{ mg/kg/day}$.¹²⁴ In patients with renal insufficiency, the dose is decreased to 200 mg/day; and for those on dialysis, the dose is 200 mg three times per week. Adherence can be monitored by blood (not plasma) levels. In some studies, as many as 50% of patients are nonadherent.¹²⁵

Contraindications to the use of hydroxychloroquine include known allergy to the drug, to 4aminoquinoline derivatives, or to any component of the drug. Another contraindication is the development of hydroxychloroquine retinopathy.¹¹⁴ Current guidelines recommend one or more of the newer retina monitoring tests such as ocular coherence tomogram along with visual fields.¹²⁴ Screening should be done within the first year, and annual screening after 5 years of use. As many SLE patients did not have a pretreatment baseline, a retina expert must interpret abnormal tests. In the past, hydroxychloroquine was thought to be contraindicated in patients with myasthenia gravis,¹²⁶ but recent data from a study of 17 patients with both SLE and myasthenia gravis who were treated with hydroxychloroquine found that hydroxychloroquine was safe in these patients.¹²⁷ Some patients develop hyperpigmentation; very rare toxicities of hydroxychloroquine include cardiomyopathy and myopathy.

Hydroxychloroquine has many benefits in the management of patients with SLE, including

- Decreased (by 50%) SLE activity and reduced lupus flares.¹¹² A Canadian report found that withdrawal of hydroxychloroquine increased the risk of a flare 2.5 times.¹²⁸ Another report indicated that hydroxychloroquine did not reduce severe flares.¹²⁹
- Effective management of skin disease and arthritis. In fact, hydroxychloroquine is considered the first drug of choice for patients with skin involvement.¹³⁰⁻¹³³
- Protection against thrombosis, ¹³⁴⁻¹³⁶ including patients with positive aPL antibodies. ¹³⁷⁻¹⁴⁰
- Anti-diabetic effect. Many patients with diabetes and SLE treated with hydroxychloroquine show improved blood glucose levels.^{141, 142}
- Lipid-lowering effect.¹⁴³⁻¹⁴⁵
- Independent predictor of complete renal remission in patients with lupus nephritis treated with mycophenolate mofetil. The remission rate was three times higher in those treated with hydroxychloroquine and mycophenolate mofetil when compared to those treated with mycophenolate mofetil alone.¹⁴⁶
- Improvement of pregnancy outcomes.¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁴⁹ A reduction in pre-eclampsia has been found.
- Reduced risk of congenital heart block in neonates born to mothers with positive Ro (SSA) antibodies.¹⁵⁰
- Increase in survival.^{138, 151, 152} In a case-control study performed within the context of a multiethnic US cohort (LUMINA), in which deceased patients were matched for disease duration (within 6 months) with living patients (controls) in a proportion of 3:1 investigators found that hydroxychloroquine had a protective effect on survival.¹⁵¹ Similar results were shown with the Multinational Latin American Inception Cohort (GLADEL) study.¹⁵² A recent study from China confirmed the survival benefit.¹⁵³

• Delayed onset of SLE in those with undifferentiated connective tissue disease.¹⁵⁴

Under certain circumstances, chloroquine (for severe skin disease) or quinacrine can be substituted for hydroxychloroquine. Quinacrine can be added to hydroxychloroquine for severe cutaneous lupus.

Dihydroepiandrosterone

Dihydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) is the major product of the normal adrenal glands. In women with SLE, levels may be low. In premenopausal women, replacement with 200 mg was shown to be beneficial in two randomized clinical trials^{155, 156} as well as beneficial for BMD.¹⁵⁷ It should not be given to men (due to reduction in endogenous testosterone) or to post-menopausal women (due to an increase in estrogen level). It is not FDA-approved for the treatment for SLE.

Vitamin D

Vitamin D deficiency is common among patients with SLE. Therefore, it is important to maintain a vitamin D level of 40 ng/mL in these patients.^{158, 159}

The cause of the deficiency is multifactorial and includes avoidance of sun exposure; use of sunscreen; renal insufficiency; and medications such as steroids, antimalarials, and antiepileptic drugs.¹⁶⁰⁻¹⁶⁵

Cross-sectional cohort studies from all over the world have demonstrated an association between low levels of vitamin D in patients with SLE and higher disease activity using scoring measures such as SLEDAI, British Isles Lupus Assessment (BILAG), and the European Consensus of Lupus Activity Measurement (ECLAM).¹⁶⁶ A cohort study of 181 women with SLE evaluated the associations of serum vitamin D levels with cardiovascular risk in this patient pool.¹⁶⁷ The study suggested an association between lower vitamin D levels and higher body mass index (BMI), diastolic blood pressure, LDL cholesterol, and diabetes in female SLE patients.

Mok et al.¹⁶⁸ studied 290 patients with SLE and found that low levels of vitamin D were associated with higher atherogenic lipoprotein indices (total/high-density lipoprotein [HDL] cholesterol ratio).

Another cohort study of 75 female SLE patients demonstrated that vitamin D deficiency was associated with increased vascular stiffness in SLE, independent of traditional cardiovascular risk factors and insulin resistance. These investigators reported no association between vitamin D and carotid plaque.¹⁶⁹ However, Ravenell et al.¹⁷⁰ demonstrated a significant association between vitamin D level and total carotid plaque area in African American patients with SLE.

In the largest prospective cohort study, 1006 patients with SLE, who presented with initial vitamin D levels below 40 ng/mL were supplemented with 50 000 IU vitamin D2 weekly and followed for 128 weeks.¹⁵⁹ Higher levels of vitamin D were associated with statistically significant improvement in the urine protein to creatinine ratio. There was also a statistically significant relationship between the change in serum 25(OH) vitamin D and global SLE clinical disease activity measured by the Physician Global Assessment.¹⁵⁹

A controlled trial, in which 267 lupus patients were randomized 2:1 to receive either oral vitamin D at 2000 IU/day or placebo for 12 months, showed a significant improvement in levels of inflammatory and hemostatic markers and in disease activity in the treatment group compared to the placebo group.¹⁷¹ In accordance with these results, Lima et al.,¹⁷² in a 24-week randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial including 60 juvenile-onset SLE patients; found that vitamin D supplementation was associated with a decrease in disease activity and improvement of fatigue in these patients.

In a randomized controlled study, Swan et al.¹⁷³ evaluated the relationship of vitamin D supplementation and BMD increase in premenopausal patients with SLE taking both corticosteroids and bone-active medication. They demonstrated that patients with higher vitamin D levels had a better BMD response during treatment with bone-active agents and advised vitamin D supplementation until a vitamin D level of at least 30 ng/mL was reached.

The benefits of vitamin D supplementation in patients with SLE include at least the following:

- Reduced disease activity, ^{159, 171, 172} especially proteinuria
- Reduced cardiovascular risk¹⁶⁸
- Improved bone health¹⁷³

Immunosuppressive Therapy

Methotrexate

Methotrexate is the most commonly used disease-modifying antirheumatic drug (DMARD) for the treatment of RA.¹⁷⁴ In 2014, Sakthiswary and Suresh¹⁷⁵ published a systematic review of methotrexate in patients with SLE and found that methotrexate effectively reduced disease activity based on the SLEDAI scale and decreased corticosteroid use.

Other studies have shown that methotrexate is most effective in the management of SLE patients with articular and cutaneous manifestations.¹⁷⁶⁻¹⁸⁰ There is no evidence from randomized controlled trials that methotrexate is beneficial in other organ manifestations of SLE. A small controlled study of 30 SLE patients, 12 of whom had lupus nephritis, found that, after treatment with methotrexate, serum protein decreased in 4 of the participants, remained unchanged in 4 and increased in 4 patients.¹⁸¹

Methotrexate is used in doses ranging from 7.5 to 25 mg/week orally, but should be used subcutaneously if the dose is greater than 15 mg weekly. This drug can take up to 3 months to demonstrate its effectiveness, although patients may improve as quickly as 3 to 6 weeks. Daily folate supplements are required to decrease some of the side effects of this medication; which include nausea, vomiting, stomatitis, and elevated LFTs.¹⁸² Methotrexate can never be used in pregnancy or renal failure.

Leflunomide (Arava®)

Leflunomide is a DMARD sometimes used in RA when patients fail to respond to methotrexate. This drug works by inhibiting the synthesis of RNA and DNA in both T and B lymphocytes by blocking the *de novo* pyrimidine synthesis pathway.

It may take up to 12 weeks to see improvement in disease activity with leflunomide. The most common side effect of leflunomide is diarrhea, which usually is self-limited. Other side effects are nausea, headache, rash, dyspepsia, alopecia, and infection. Elevated LFTs can occur and should be routinely monitored. According to the Arava package insert, LFTs should be monitored at least monthly for 6 months after starting leflunomide and every 6 to 8 weeks thereafter.¹⁸³ It should not be used in pregnancy.

Leflunomide has been reported to have a 30% response rate in SLE patients with refractory synovitis when given at high doses of 40 mg for at least 3 months.¹⁸⁴

This drug has also been evaluated for the management of lupus nephritis. Wang et al.¹⁸⁵ reported on the results of a small observational prospective study with 110 patients with biopsy-proven lupus nephritis. Seventy patients were treated with leflunomide and 40 with cyclophosphamide. Both groups were given prednisone. The leflunomide group showed complete remission in 21% and partial remission in 52% of patients; in the cyclophosphamide group 18% of patients showed complete and 55% partial remission. Renal function tests and disease activity scores improved in both groups.

A systematic review and meta-analysis including 254 patients with lupus nephritis evaluated the efficacy and safety of leflunomide versus cyclophosphamide for the treatment of lupus nephritis.¹⁸⁶ Leflunomide was found to be more effective than cyclophosphamide for improving renal function and achieving complete remission. It appeared to be equal to cyclophosphamide in improvement of disease activity and serum albumin. Leflunomide had a somewhat safer profile than cyclophosphamide with respect to hepatoxicity and infection. In 2010, leflunomide was approved in doses up to 40 mg a day in China for lupus nephritis. Although not FDA approved for SLE, it could be considered, especially in a patient with both nephritis and arthritis.

Azathioprine (Imuran[®])

Azathioprine is a DMARD usually taken orally, but may also be given intravenously. It is an immunosuppressant drug that is used for lupus nephritis, cutaneous lupus and hematological manifestations of SLE. It is considered to be a steroid-sparing agent.^{67, 187-190}

Azathioprine is not itself an active drug. It must be converted to its active components, 6-mercaptopurine and 9-thioinosince acid, in the body by intracellular metabolism. In its active form, azathioprine interferes with DNA synthesis in dividing cells.

It has been used successfully for long-term maintenance of patients with lupus nephritis.¹⁹¹⁻¹⁹³ It has also been shown to decrease nephrotic syndrome and recurrences.¹⁹²

Thiopurine methyltransferase genetic testing is recommended before starting azathioprine to identify "slow metabolizers" at greater risk for toxicity.

The most common side effects of azathioprine include nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain, and diarrhea. Hepatitis and pancreatitis have also been reported. There are drug interactions with allopurinol, warfarin, sulfasalazine, olsalazine, and mesalamine. Azathioprine has been associated with leukopenia and pancytopenia. Long-term use has been associated with an increased risk of cancer.¹⁹⁴

Azathioprine has a slow onset of action of up to 6 to 12 weeks. During the first month of treatment a CBC should be performed one week after starting, with periodic monitoring thereafter.¹⁹⁴

The Imuran package insert cautions that azathioprine should not be used in pregnant or nursing women.¹⁹⁴ However, several studies demonstrated that it may safely be used during pregnancy and lactation.¹⁹⁴⁻²⁰⁰

This drug is used in SLE patients without lupus nephritis to control disease activity and prevent flares. In some cases, the prednisone dose can be decreased.¹⁹²

The ACR recommends azathioprine, among other drugs, for maintenance therapy but not for induction in patients with lupus nephritis, at a recommended dose of 2 mg/kg/day plus low-dose glucocorticoids.⁶⁷ According to the joint European League Against Rheumatism and European Renal Association-European Dialysis and Transplant Association (EULAR/ERA-EDTA) guidelines,¹⁸⁷ azathioprine may be used for both

induction and maintenance. It is used as an alternative to mycophenolate mofetil for induction if mycophenolate is contraindicated. The recommended dose of azathioprine is 2 mg/kg/day for induction. The maintenance dose should be continued for at least 3 years. If drug withdrawal is considered, prednisone should be tapered first.¹⁸⁷

Cyclophosphamide (Cytoxan[®])

This is a potent immunosuppressive drug and is considered to be mostly a rescue drug for severe organ threatening SLE.²⁰¹ Cyclophosphamide is an alkylating agent that is metabolized in the liver to its active form. The metabolites prevent replication of actively dividing cells by interfering with DNA replication. Side effects of cyclophosphamide include²⁰²

- Leukopenia
- Thrombocytopenia
- Loss of appetite
- Infection
- Gonadal failure
- Abdominal pain or discomfort
- Alopecia
- Hemorrhagic cystitis and urinary bladder fibrosis
- Malignancy

Cyclophosphamide is excreted in breast milk and should not be used during lactation.²⁰³ It is also considered to be teratogenic and should be stopped before pregnancy.²⁰⁰

In patients with SLE, cyclophosphamide is usually administered in an intermittent intravenous (IV) schedule. The efficacy of this approach was demonstrated by trials performed at the National Institutes of Health (NIH).^{204, 205} There are two regimens for IV cyclophosphamide. The high dose (NIH regimen) has been used for lupus nephritis and consists of .75 to 1.0 g/m² IV cyclophosphamide given monthly for 6 months and then quarterly for up to 2 more years. The low-dose IV regimens (Euro-Lupus regimen) consists of six doses of 500 mg every 2 weeks. The 10-year follow-up of the Euro-Lupus Nephritis Trial showed both cyclophosphamide regimens to have similar results.²⁰⁶

Intravenous cyclophosphamide, in combination with glucocorticoids, is still recommended by both the EULAR/ERA-EDTA and ACR for the induction of remission of proliferative lupus nephritis, although in practice, mycophenolate mofetil is usually used.^{67, 187}

Cyclophosphamide is also an important treatment option for severe neuropsychiatric lupus. The efficacy of cyclophosphamide in neuropsychiatric lupus has been demonstrated in a number of case series,²⁰⁷⁻²⁰⁹ cohort studies,²¹⁰⁻²¹³ and one small randomized controlled trial involving 32 patients with SLE and neuropsychiatric manifestations.²¹⁴ In this latter study, patients were randomized into two groups. After induction therapy, patients in the first group were treated with IV cyclophosphamide monthly, those in the second group with IV methylprednisolone bimonthly every 4 months for 1 year and then IV cyclophosphamide or IV methylprednisolone every 3 months for another year. One patient in the cyclophosphamide-only group failed to improve versus seven patients in the methylprednisolone group. Cyclophosphamide was significantly more effective than methylprednisolone in patients with seizures,

peripheral neuropathy, optic neuritis, and brainstem disease; while differences were not clear in coma and myelitis.²¹⁴

Cyclophosphamide has also been used for the treatment of diffuse alveolar hemorrhage, which can be a severe life-threatening complication of SLE. Data show conflicting results. Zamora et al.²¹⁵ reported that the use of cyclophosphamide was associated with higher mortality than that seen in patients not treated with cyclophosphamide. Martinez et al.²¹⁶ demonstrated a potential benefit of cyclophosphamide in patients with SLE and diffuse alveolar hemorrhage, although the results were not statistically significant.

Cyclophosphamide has been used in SLE patients who develop catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome (CAPS).^{217, 218} The multivariate analysis data of the CAPS Registry showed that cyclophosphamide decreased mortality rates in patients with SLE associated with CAPS.²¹⁸ However, rituximab or eculizumab may be better current options.^{219, 220}

Mycophenolate Mofetil

Mycophenolate mofetil is an immunosuppressive agent widely used to prevent acute rejection in solid organ transplantation. More recently, it is increasingly used in the treatment of patients with lupus nephritis, where it has been shown to be effective as both induction and maintenance therapy.^{221, 178}

Mycophenolate mofetil is a selective inhibitor of inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase that catalyzes the *de novo* synthesis of purine nucleotides. It inhibits T and B cell proliferation and autoantibody production, inducing activated T cell apoptosis, downregulation of adhesion molecule expression, and inhibition of dendritic-cell maturation.²²²

Potential side effects of this drug include infection, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, cytopenias, nonHodgkin's lymphoma, and all malignancies.²²³⁻²²⁵ Mycophenolic acid can be used instead of mycophenolate mofetil, if there are gastrointestinal (GI) side effects, although a clinical trial showed mycophenolic acid might have fewer side effects.²²⁶.

The efficacy of mycophenolate mofetil in the treatment of lupus nephritis is well established by multiple randomized controlled trials^{223, 225, 227, 228} and a number of meta-analyses.^{202, 229, 230} Furthermore, mycophenolate mofetil is recommended by the EULAR/ERA-EDTA as the first choice in lupus nephritis Classes III and IV and an equivalent choice in Class V.¹⁸⁷ The ACR considers mycophenolate mofetil equivalent to cyclophosphamide in lupus nephritis Class III/IV (Level A) and pure membranous lupus nephritis (Class V).⁶⁷

The efficacy and safety of mycophenolate mofetil in the treatment of nonrenal manifestations of SLE have been evaluated in cohort studies and small case series.^{224, 231-237} The Aspreva Lupus Management Study (ALMS) evaluated the efficacy and safety of mycophenolate mofetil in nonrenal manifestations as a secondary end point and indicated that mycophenolate mofetil showed similar efficacy in treating nonrenal manifestations; particularly mucocutaneous, musculoskeletal, and hematologic features.²³⁸ Another double-blind, placebo-controlled trial showed that although it is not the best choice, mycophenolate mofetil has some benefit in the treatment of patients with SLE and arthritis.²²³ A recent retrospective observational cohort study evaluated the efficacy of mycophenolate mofetil in patients with extrarenal manifestations of SLE. The study followed 177 patients with SLE (72 with extrarenal manifestations) for 12 months. The authors reported some benefit of mycophenolate mofetil in musculoskeletal, cutaneous, neuropsychiatric, serological, and hematological lupus manifestations, as well as a significant corticosteroid-sparing effect.²³⁹

Mycophenolate mofetil is used as induction therapy in the treatment of lupus nephritis. The ACR guidelines recommend a dose of 2 to 3 g/day for 6 months plus glucocorticoids, followed by maintenance with mycophenolate mofetil for 3 years.⁶⁷ If mycophenolate mofetil is used for induction, the European guidelines suggest a dose 3 g/day for 6 months, followed by maintenance therapy at a dose of 2 g/day for at least 3 years.¹⁸⁷ Asian women may need lower doses of 1,000 mg twice daily for induction. Mycophenolate is forbidden in pregnancy. The FDA has a REMS program for patients. In addition to teratogenicity, it interferes with oral contraceptive efficacy.

Calcineurin Inhibitors—Tacrolimus

Calcineurin inhibitors are immunosuppressant drugs that inhibit the activation of T cells by interfering with the action of calcineurin (a protein phosphatase needed for the activation of T cells). Both cyclosporine and tacrolimus are CNIs commonly used to prevent rejection of solid organ transplants, especially renal transplants.^{240, 241} Tacrolimus is the CNI used most often. Topical pimecrolimus and tacrolimus are useful for cutaneous lupus.²⁴²

Both drugs act through reduction of IL-2 transcription and inhibition of T cells²⁴³ and have been shown to decrease the production of IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IFN-γ, and TNF.²⁴⁴ However, tacrolimus is 10- to 100-fold more potent than cyclosporine.²⁴⁴

The efficacy of tacrolimus in lupus nephritis has been demonstrated in cohort studies,²⁴⁵⁻²⁴⁷ randomized controlled trials,²⁴⁸⁻²⁵⁴ and meta-analyses.^{255, 256} The efficacy of cyclosporine in lupus nephritis has been demonstrated in uncontrolled studies,^{257, 258} randomized controlled studies,²⁵⁹⁻²⁶¹ and meta-analyses.^{255, 256}

One meta-analysis compared CNIs to cyclophosphamide for the induction therapy of active lupus nephritis.²⁵⁵ The report included six controlled trials (with a total of 265 patients), four of which compared tacrolimus with cyclophosphamide and two others that compared cyclosporine to cyclophosphamide. The authors found that CNIs resulted in higher complete remission rates, better total remission rates, and fewer side-effects than cyclophosphamide. Tacrolimus demonstrated more favorable results than cyclosporine. A subsequent meta-analysis of 65 randomized controlled trials, reported no difference in the renal outcome between azathioprine, cyclophosphamide, tacrolimus, and mycophenolate mofetil.²⁵⁶ More recently, a meta-analysis of 12 randomized controlled trials and one cohort controlled trial with tacrolimus revealed that tacrolimus showed better complete and partial remission rates than cyclophosphamide during the induction phase in patients with active severe lupus nephritis.²⁶² Tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil and tacrolimus was superior to cyclophosphamide for achieving remission in patients with refractory lupus nephritis.²⁶²

An important advantage of CNIs is their safe use during pregnancy²⁶³ and lactation.²⁰⁰

Adverse effects of tacrolimus were similar to other immunosuppressants used in the management of lupus nephritis. Tacrolimus was associated with fewer GI side effects, leukopenia, menstrual disorders, infections, and episodes of liver dysfunction, but with a greater incidence of new hypertension and hyperglycemia.²⁶²

Adverse reactions reported with tacrolimus include but are not limited to the following:²⁶⁴

• Increased incidence of malignancy, especially lymphomas

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023

- Serious infections
- Diabetes
- Neurotoxicity
- Hyperkalemia
- Hypertension
- Myocardial hypertrophy
- Pure red cell aplasia
- Nephrotoxicity

Adverse reactions reported with cyclosporine include but are not limited to the following:²⁶⁵

- Hyperkalemia
- Thrombotic microangiopathy
- Hepatotoxicity
- Increased incidence of malignancy
- Neurotoxicity
- Hypertension
- Nephrotoxicity

Practically, tacrolimus is the preferred CNI in SLE. The starting dose is .5 mg twice daily with monthly increments depending on response. It is widely used in Asia.²⁶⁶

Biologics

Rituximab

Rituximab is an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody leading to peripheral B cell depletion.^{267, 268}

There are two double-blinded, randomized controlled studies evaluating the efficacy of rituximab in SLE. The Exploratory Phase II/III SLE Evaluation of Rituximab (EXPLORER) trial evaluated the efficacy and safety of rituximab in patients with moderately-to-severely active extrarenal SLE.²⁶⁹ Investigators enrolled 257 SLE patients with either at least one organ system involved and a BILAG A score (severe disease activity) or at least two organ systems involved and a BILAG B score (moderate disease activity). Patients were randomized at a 2:1 ratio to receive either IV rituximab (1000 mg) or placebo on Days 1, 15, 168, and 182; in addition to prednisone and the baseline immunosuppressive regimen. There was no difference between the rituximab and placebo group (standard of care) after 1 year. However, a beneficial effect of rituximab was observed in the African American and Hispanic subgroups.²⁶⁹

The Lupus Nephritis Assessment with Rituximab (LUNAR) trial included 144 patients with new or relapsed biopsy-proven proliferative lupus nephritis.²⁷⁰ Patients were randomized into a placebo or rituximab group. The rituximab group received 1000 mg of the drug intravenously on Days 1, 15,168, and 182. Both groups received 1000 mg methylprednisolone 30 to 60 minutes before either the placebo or rituximab on Day 1 and again within the next 3 days. In addition, all participants received oral prednisone and mycophenolate mofetil. This trial also failed to meet its primary end point, with no difference in the complete and partial remission rates between the groups after 1 year.²⁷⁰

On the other hand, a recent systematic review²⁷¹ including one randomized controlled trial²⁶⁹, two openlabel studies,^{272, 273} and 22 cohort studies,²⁷⁴⁻²⁹⁵ with a total of 1231 patients, evaluated the efficacy

and safety of rituximab in the treatment of nonrenal SLE. Rituximab was found to be safe and effective for the treatment of patients with nonrenal SLE.²⁷¹

There are no controlled trials evaluating the efficacy of rituximab in neuropsychiatric lupus. However, data from case series^{277, 296, 297} and cohort studies^{277, 290, 292, 294, 295} show promising results. Collected data of 34 patients with SLE and neuropsychiatric manifestations treated with rituximab demonstrated an overall response rate of 85%. After a median of 10 months, 45% of these patients relapsed, despite being on maintenance therapy.²⁹⁷

Adverse reactions associated with rituximab in the EXPLORER and LUMINA trials were mild and most frequently infusion-related reactions or upper respiratory tract infections. However, potential rituximab side-effects include infection (including progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy), neutropenia, hypogammaglobulinemia, and infusion reactions.

Recently, rituximab has been used sequentially, followed by belimumab, in the SynBiose regimen. Long-term important efficacy was found, including lupus nephritis.²⁹⁸ It has also been used with mycophenolate, but without any oral steroids, in the Rituxilup regimen.²⁹⁹

Belimumab

Belimumab is a fully humanized monoclonal antibody that inhibits B-lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS or BAFF). B-lymphocyte stimulator is a key cytokine required for B-lymphocyte survival.³⁰⁰⁻³⁰² It is overexpressed in patients with SLE, and increased levels correlate with greater disease activity (based on the SELENA-SLEDAI scoring system) and predict flares.³⁰³⁻³⁰⁵

Belimumab is the only biologic approved by the US FDA and the European Medicines Agency for the treatment of patients with active seropositive SLE with low complement and positive anti-dsDNA antibodies. It is approved as an IV infusion at a dose of 10 mg/kg on Days 0, 14, and 28; and then every 28 days.³⁰⁶ In 2017, it was approved as a weekly subcutaneous injection.³⁰⁷

The Phase III clinical trials for belimumab included BLISS-52³⁰⁸ and BLISS-76.³⁰⁹ Both trials were doubleblind, placebo-controlled, multicenter investigations to evaluate the efficacy and safety of two doses of belimumab (1 and 10 mg/kg) plus standard of care versus placebo plus standard of care, in seropositive (ANA >1:80 and/or anti-dsDNA antibodies >30 IU/mL) patients with SLE and SELENA–SLEDAI scores of at least 6. The primary efficacy endpoint was defined as improvement in the Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Responder Index (SRI) at Week 52 (reduction of at least four points in the SELENA-SLEDAI score; no new BILAG, and no worsening in PGA score).^{308, 309}

Pooled data from the two Phase III trials showed that belimumab led to significant sustained reductions of autoantibodies (anti-dsDNA, anti-Sm, anticardiolipin, and anti-ribosomal P autoantibodies) as well as reversal of hypocomplementemia.³¹⁰ Belimumab treatment also led to reductions in numbers of naïve and activated B cells and plasma cells while preserving the memory B cell subset and T cell populations.³¹⁰

A *post hoc* analysis of the belimumab trials demonstrated that high disease activity, serological activity (low complement or high anti-dsDNA), and the need for prednisone identified patients likely to respond to this biologic.³¹¹

In an open-label continuation (to 7 years) of the Phase II study of belimumab aimed at assessing the efficacy and safety of belimumab plus standard therapy in patients with and mild or moderate disease activity.³¹² There was sustained disease control and a decreased frequency of all (including severe) flares

throughout the study. The safety of belimumab, including infections, were generally stable or decreased during 7 years of treatment.³¹²

The efficacy of belimumab in black/African American patients with SLE has been evaluated in a retrospective cohort study.³¹³ The study included 58 African American SLE patients—76% had high antidsDNA; 59% had low C3 or C4; and 2%, 71%, and 28% had mild, moderate and severe disease, respectively. After 6 months of belimumab therapy, most patients had improvements in clinical manifestations and required a lower dose of steroids.³¹³

In the subsequent Phase III randomized controlled Belimumab International SLE Study-Subcutaneous (BLISS-SC) trial, 836 patients with active, autoantibody-positive SLE were randomized to receive weekly belimumab subcutaneously or placebo, in addition to standard SLE therapy.³¹⁴ This study showed that disease activity measured by SRI decreased in more patients treated with subcutaneous belimumab plus standard SLE care (60.8%) than in those receiving placebo plus standard SLE care (48.47%).

Other Available Targeted Therapies

A variety of biologics and targeted therapies are also used in SLE patients. These include tocilizumab, abatacept, tofacitinib, and anti-TNFs (for patients with co-existing RA).

Table 6 summarizes key information relating to the drugs used for the treatment of patients with SLE.

Drug	Dose	Contraindications	Potential Indications
Hydroxychloroquine	 or mg/kg/day, with a maximum dose of 400 mg/day Renal insufficiency: 200 mg/day Dialysis patients: 200 mg 3x/week following dialysis 	 Hypersensitivity to HCQ, 4-aminoquinoline derivatives or any component of the drug Development of HCQ retinopathy or any other HCQ side effect 	 Cutaneous lupus Lupus arthritis Serositis Renal lupus
Vitamin D	 Start at 50 000 IU/week Goal: 25(OH) vitamin D level of 40 ng/mL 		 Global disease activity Renal lupus Promote bone health

Table 6. Drugs used to treat SLE with recommended doses and contraindications

DHEA-S	• 100-200 mg/day	 Hypersensitivity to DHEA or DHEAS or any of the drug components Male gender or postmenopausal women Children Breast feeding women Known or suspected pregnancy Undiagnosed genital bleeding History of breast cancer 	 Constitutional symptoms Cutaneous lupus Lupus arthritis Osteoporosis
Methotrexate	 7.5-25 mg/week, orally or subcutaneously 	 Hypersensitivity allergy to methotrexate Pregnancy 	Lupus arthritisCutaneous lupus

Drug	Dose	Contraindications	Potential Indications
Leflunomide	 10-20 mg/day orally May be used if there is no risk of hepatotoxicity or bone marrow depression 	 Hypersensitivity to leflunomide or any component of the drug Pregnancy Liver disease 	Lupus arthritisLupus nephritis
Azathioprine	• 1-2 mg/kg/day	 Hypersensitivity to azathioprine or any component of the drug 	Lupus arthritisLupus nephritis
Cyclophosphamide	 <u>NIH</u> .75–1.0 g/m² IV monthly for 6 months, then quarterly for up to 1 year after complete remission OR <u>Euro-Lupus</u> 500 mg IV every 2 weeks for 6 doses 	 Hypersensitivity to cyclophosphamide Bone marrow depression Pregnancy 	Lupus nephritisCNS-SLE

Mycophenolate mofetil	 2-3 g/day for 6 months with or without glucocorticoids, followed by maintenance with mycophenolate mofetil for 3 years 	 Hypersensitivity to the drug or any of its components Hypersensitivity to polysorbate 80 Pregnancy Women of child bearing age who are not using effective contraception Breast feeding 	 Lupus nephritis Cutaneous lupus Serositis CNS-SLE
Tacrolimus	 .5 mg twice daily with gradual increments 	 Known hypersensitivity to tacrolimus or any of the other drug components 	Lupus nephritis
Rituximab	 1000 mg followed by repeat dose in 2 weeks 	 Hypersensitivity to rituximab 	 Lupus arthritis Cutaneous lupus Refractory lupus nephritis CNS-SLE
Drug	Dose	Contraindications	Potential Indications
Belimumab	 10 mg/kg IV on Days 0, 14, and 28; then every 28 days Subcutaneously 200 mg/mL weekly 	 Hypersensitivity to belimumab 	Cutaneous lupusLupus arthritis

CNS-SLE, neuropsychiatric lupus; DHEA, dehydroepiandrosterone; DHEAS, dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate; HCQ, hydroxychloroquine; IU, International Units; IV, intravenous; SSRIs, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors

Monitoring

Frequency of Visits

Patients with SLE require lifelong monitoring to detect and treat flares as early as possible.³¹⁵ In general, the frequency of follow-up visits should be tailored to each patient depending on disease activity, severity of disease, type of treatment, response to treatment, and the need to monitor patients for possible medication toxicities. The 1999 ACR Guidelines³¹⁵ recommend that patients with stable, mild SLE may be followed up at 3 to 6 month intervals. According to the EULAR recommendation, patients with inactive disease without comorbidities or solid organ damage may be seen every 6 to 12 months.⁶⁵ More frequent visits are needed for patients with active disease, severe disease, or adverse reaction related to treatment; and for those with lupus nephritis or an increased risk of cardiovascular disease.

If immunosuppressive therapy is ongoing, patients should be seen more often.³¹⁵ All medications used for the management of SLE require monitoring for signs of toxicity. In addition to the monitoring tests United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023

recommended for all patients with SLE and for those with renal involvement, the following list of medications and associated recommended laboratory testing³¹⁵ should be used as a guide:

- NSAIDs
 - CBC, at least annually Creatinine, annually
- Glucocorticoids \odot $\,$ Serum glucose or urine dipstick for glucose, every 3-6 months
 - Bone densitometry, every 1 to 2 years, based on the dose of steroids and other risk factors_{316, 317}
 - Cholesterol, annually, with lipid panel, if abnormal
- Hydroxychloroquine o Retinal examination, baseline, 5 years, and then annually
- Azathioprine \circ CBC and platelet count, every 1-2 weeks when dose is increased, every 1 to 3 months thereafter
 - Aspartate aminotransferase, periodically
 Papanicolaou (Pap) smear, every 1 to 3 years
- Cyclophosphamide
 O
 CBC and urinalysis, monthly
 O
 Pap smear, annually
- Methotrexate
 CBC and platelet count, every 4 to 12 weeks
 LFTs, every 4 to 12 weeks
 Serum creatinine every 12
 weeks

A general follow-up evaluation for all patients may include but not be limited to the following:^{65, 315}

- History and physical examination to evaluate features of SLE
- CBC including a platelet count and differential
- Creatinine and glomerular filtration rate (GFR) calculation
- Urinalysis and urine protein/creatinine ratio
- SLEDAI, Physician Global Assessment, and LLDAS (for treat-to-target)
- Anti-dsDNA
- C3 and C4 levels
- Antiphospholipid antibody tests can be repeated in certain situations, such as flare, after reduction in medications, or at time of thrombotic events

An observational cohort study followed 515 patients SLE for 2 years and demonstrated that those with mild or inactive disease should be followed with clinical and laboratory measures every 3 to 4 months.³¹⁸ The investigators noted that 25% of patients with asymptomatic SLE had variable silent laboratory abnormalities such as proteinuria, hematuria, pyuria, casts, low hemoglobin, leukopenia, thrombocytopenia, elevated serum creatinine, positive anti-DNA antibodies, and low complement.

Prior to pregnancy, SLE patients should have re-evaluation of anti-Ro, anti-La titers, and aPL antibodies in addition to the tests listed above.⁶⁵

Patients treated with hydroxychloroquine are at risk of developing drug-induced retinopathy, which can lead to scotomata, and is the most serious side effect of this therapy.^{319, 320} Early detection of this problem is important, particularly because it is asymptomatic early on and can be detected only through screening.³²¹ The risk of developing hydroxychloroquine retinopathy is increased with renal or hepatic dysfunction, obesity, age over 60 years old, preexisting retinal disease or maculopathy, a daily dose of hydroxychloroquine exceeding 400 mg or 6.5 mg/kg of ideal/lean body weight for short individuals, a cumulative dose exceeding 1000 g, or use of the drug for more than 5 years.³²²

Every patient to be started on hydroxychloroquine should undergo a baseline ophthalmologic examination consisting, at a minimum, of a visual field evaluation and a spectral-domain optical coherence tomography. Other helpful tests include an multifocal electroretinogram, microperimetry, and fundal autofluorescence.¹²⁴

Renal Monitoring

All general monitoring recommendations for patients with SLE should be included in the follow up of patients who have renal involvement, especially of those with active nephritis. Patients with active nephritis may need to be seen monthly following diagnosis; and during induction therapy, relapse, and withdrawal of treatment. If there is no active nephritis, a visit every 3 months is needed for early identification of disease relapse.^{67, 187, 323}

Regular monitoring of this subset of SLE patients should include at least the following:^{67, 187}

- Body weight
- Blood pressure
- Serum creatinine and estimated GFR
- Serum albumin
- Proteinuria by urine protein/creatinine ratio
- Urinary sediment (microscopic evaluation)
- Serum C3/C4
- Serum anti-dsDNA antibody levels
- CBC and LFTs to monitor for toxicity
- Adherence checks such as therapeutic drug levels

Spot urinary protein/creatinine ratio is a valid measurement for assessing proteinuria.^{324, 325} Timed (12- or 24-hour) urine collections may also be used at baseline and when major therapeutic changes are required.¹⁸⁷

The reappearance of urine casts,³²⁶ abnormal complement levels,^{327, 328} anti dsDNA titers,³²⁹⁻³³² anti C1q,³³³ and anti-nucleosome antibodies^{334, 335} are important predictors of renal flare and can indicate the need for more monitoring.

Repeat renal biopsy is important in patients with relapse of nephritis after a complete renal response, or in those with refractory disease to guide the choice of therapy.³³⁶⁻³³⁹

Malignancy Screening

Recent advances in the management of SLE have led to improved survival and prolongation of life expectancy.³⁴⁰ Consequently, chronic complications and organ damage such as cardiovascular disease and malignancy are encountered more frequently.^{340, 341} The exact reason for an increased cancer risk in SLE is not completely understood. However, the link between SLE and cancer has been attributed to medication usage, viral infections (such as HPV), and inherent immune system abnormalities,³⁴² the overlap with clinical syndromes such as Sjögren's syndrome,³⁴³ and the presence of traditional lifestyleassociated risk factors for cancer, especially smoking.³⁴⁴

Recent data from a multicenter international SLE cohort study with 16 409 patients showed that there was an increased risk of malignancy in patients with SLE when compared to the general population.³⁴⁵ The investigators reported a significant risk of hematologic malignancies, particularly non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and leukemia. They also reported increased risks of cancer of the vulva, lung, thyroid, and hepatobiliary system. However, there was a decreased risk for breast, endometrial, and ovarian cancers.³⁴⁵

Hematologic Malignancies

A meta-analysis of five prospective cohort studies confirmed an increased risk of hematologic malignancy in patients with SLE. The most common malignancy observed was non-Hodgkin's lymphoma.³⁴⁶ The most common type non-Hodgkin's lymphoma seen in SLE patients was diffuse B cell lymphoma.^{345, 347}

Lung Malignancies

A meta-analysis of seven cohort studies confirmed an increased risk of lung cancer in patients with SLE.³⁴⁸ In a multicenter cohort analysis, a history of smoking was found to be a strong predictor for lung cancer in patients with SLE.³⁴⁹ Smoking has also been shown to be a predisposing factor for increased SLE disease activity,³⁴⁸ and greater cumulative disease activity increases the risk of cancer.³⁵⁰ According to the Swedish Hospital Discharge Registry, small cell lung cancer is the lung cancer most commonly found in patients with SLE.³⁵¹

Cervical Cancer

The increased risk of cervical dysplasia and high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions in SLE patients has been reported in a number of studies.^{352, 353} In a meta-analysis of seven studies, a nine-fold increase in the risk of high-grade cervical squamous intraepithelial lesions in SLE was found.³⁵² However, in an international multicenter SLE cohort, which excluded cervical dysplasia and carcinoma *in situ*, whether an increased risk of invasive cervical cancer exists remained unclear.³⁴⁵

Patients with SLE have an increased risk for HPV, which increases the risk of developing cervical cancer.³⁵³ In addition, immunosuppressive therapy, especially cyclophosphamide, may increase the risk of HPV infection and cervical dysplasia.³⁵⁴⁻³⁵⁶ Consequently, EULAR recommends routine Pap smear screening for cervical dysplasia in female patients with SLE.³⁵⁷

Monitoring Risk Factors for Cardiovascular Disease

In the Hopkins Lupus Cohort, the risk of cardiovascular disease was found to be 2.66 times greater in patients with SLE than the general population.¹¹¹ Recent data from the SLICC inception cohort of 1848 patients found that, within 15 months of diagnosis, the prevalence of myocardial infarction was significantly higher in SLE patients than in healthy individuals. Cardiovascular disease may occur early or even before the diagnosis of SLE.³⁵⁸ It may be appropriate to consider coronary computed tomography (or equivalent) 10 years after the diagnosis of SLE to identify atherosclerosis early.

Patients with SLE should be screened for both traditional modifiable and SLE-specific risk factors for cardiovascular disease. Traditional modifiable risk factors include:

Smoking

Smoking is a well-established risk factor for cardiovascular disease in the general population.³⁵⁹ Patients with SLE who smoke were found to have a two- to three-fold greater risk of cardiovascular disease than non-smokers.^{135, 360-363} Conversely, smoking is a risk factor for developing SLE.³⁶⁴ In patients who already have SLE, smoking may lead to an increase in anti-dsDNA antibodies.³⁶⁵ It may also interfere with the action of antimalarial drugs such as hydroxychloroquine.³⁶⁶

• Hypertension

Hypertension is a major independent risk factor for coronary artery disease (CAD) in SLE.^{360,} ^{363, 367-373} It is also associated with arterial stiffness, ^{374, 375} progression of carotid plaques, ³⁷⁶⁻³⁸⁰ and poor renal outcome in patients with SLE.³⁸¹ Based on a 2016 report, the treatment target for hypertension is a blood pressure of 120/80.³⁸²

Hyperlipidemia

Hypercholesterolemia in SLE patients is a significant risk factor for CAD,^{367, 369, 383-385} carotid plaque formation,^{374, 377, 386} coronary artery calcification,³⁸⁷ and myocardial perfusion defects._{373, 388}

Elevated triglycerides^{369, 389} and low HDL³⁷² are also independent predictors of cardiovascular disease in patients with SLE. In these patients, HDL may be proinflammatory and not protective as it is in healthy individuals.^{379, 390}

• Diabetes mellitus

Patients with diabetes and SLE have two to four times the risk for cardiovascular disease¹¹¹ and 60 times the risk for carotid artery plaque progression³⁹⁰ when compared to SLE patients without diabetes.

Obesity

Obesity is a risk factor for hypertension, hyperlipidemia, Type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and obstructive sleep apnea.³⁹¹ Obese SLE patients have a higher risk of cardiovascular disease, coronary artery calcification,^{392, 393} and carotid plaque formation.^{394, 395}

Patients with SLE should also be screened for the following SLE-specific risk factors:

Auto-antibodies

In patients with SLE, increased rates of cardiovascular disease have been related to past levels of disease activity, recent elevated levels of circulating anti-dsDNA, the presence of antiphospholipid antibodies, elevated levels of CRP, and current use of at least 10 mg/day of corticosteroids.¹¹¹ In addition, patients with SLE and anti-cardiolipin antibodies have increased rates of noncalcified coronary artery plaque.^{135, 396} This type of plaque can rupture and result in acute coronary artery obstruction and potentially in myocardial infarction.

Renal disease

Impaired renal function is a well-defined atherosclerosis risk factor in the general population.³⁹⁷

• Medications o Corticosteroids

The use of corticosteroids at doses \geq 10 mg/day increases the risk of cardiovascular disease in patients with SLE.¹¹¹

• Immunosuppressive drugs

The use of azathioprine may increase the risk of cardiovascular disease in SLE patients.¹¹¹ One paper reported that azathioprine increased the risk of developing increased carotid intimal-medial thickness.³⁹⁴

o NSAIDs

The use of indomethacin at doses of at least 150 mg/day has been shown to decrease GFR by approximately 16% in patients with SLE and initially normal or slightly impaired GFR.³⁹⁸ Indomethacin should be avoided in patients SLE, because it may put them at risk of developing renal insufficiency. In addition, the use of NSAIDs is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease in the general population.

• Hydroxychloroquine

In contrast to all other medications, hydroxychloroquine has shown a protective effect against cardiovascular disease in patients with SLE.^{384, 399}

Reproductive/Hormonal Issues

Contraception

As pregnancy confers a significantly increased risk of lupus nephritis, pre-eclampsia, preterm birth and even mortality,⁴⁰⁰ family planning is an essential part of the management of pre-menopausal women with SLE. While treated with medications that are teratogenic, completely effective contraception is required. These medications include angiotensin-converting-enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, statins, mycophenolate mofetil, methotrexate, possibly leflunomide, and cyclophosphamide. For mycophenolate mofetil, having the patient read and sign the FDA Risk Evaluation Management Strategy (REMS) form is recommended.⁴⁰¹ Preferred methods of contraception with less than a 1% failure rate include the intrauterine contraceptive device (IUD) ParaGard[®] (with 12-year efficacy). Hormonal IUDs include Skyla[®] and Mirena[®] (levonorgestrel). The hormonal implant is Nexplanon[®] (etonogestrel).

The second tier includes oral contraceptives, the patch, the ring, and Depo-Provera[®]. The SELENA study showed that oral contraceptives did not increase lupus flares; however, oral contraceptives should not be used in women with very active lupus, hypercoagulability, elevated liver function tests, and migraines.⁴⁰² In addition, mycophenolate mofetil interferes with the efficacy of oral contraceptives.

Rheumatologists should be able to give general advice about emergency contraception and , in particular, insist that patients have an emergency gynecologic appointment. The ParaGard IUD is 100% effective within 5 days. Ella[®] (ulipristal acetate) works up to 5 days but is less effective in women with body weights over 195 lbs. Plan B One-Step[®] is effective up to 3 days, but less effective in women with weighing over 165 lbs.

Preparing for Pregnancy

Unfortunately, 50% of pregnancies are unplanned. The goal in SLE is for pregnancy to occur only when the SLE is well controlled on allowable medications. It is particularly important to plan ahead when a woman has lupus nephritis. It is likely that she will be on mycophenolate mofetil, which must be stopped 3 months prior to pregnancy with a switch to azathioprine and/or tacrolimus. The 3-month timespan will allow assessment if the new regimen is controlling the lupus nephritis before conception. Angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers, and statins must be stopped BEFORE conception. Methotrexate, likely leflunomide, cyclophosphamide, and belimumab should be stopped before conception. Hydroxychloroquine should be continued to control lupus, and because it reduces pregnancy complications.¹⁴⁷

Lupus nephritis is more likely to flare in pregnancy. Women should be seen every 6 weeks. Patients with anti-Ro and/or La will need fetal cardiac ultrasounds from the 16th week of gestation. Hydroxychloroquine may reduce the risk of congenital heart block.¹⁵⁰ Women with aPL antibodies (the lupus anticoagulant being the most important) and no previous pregnancy or past successful pregnancies should be on aspirin and hydroxychloroquine. If more than one or two first trimester losses or even one late loss, prophylactic low molecular weight (LMW) heparin twice daily and low-dose aspirin is recommended. In women with a past history of thrombosis, therapeutic LMW heparin is given. Low molecular weight heparin must be transitioned to unfractionated heparin prior to delivery.

Lupus Manifestations in Specific Organ Systems

Lupus Nephritis

Note: The pharmacologic management of lupus nephritis is complex. Treatment is composed of an induction phase and a maintenance phase. In addition to the United Rheumatology Guidelines, providers should carefully review the ACR and/or Joint EULAR/ERA-EDTA Recommendations for the Management of Adult and Pediatric Lupus Nephritis guidelines cited in the narrative below for a more detailed description of medications, routes of administration, dosing, and duration of treatment.

Lupus nephritis, is defined as proteinuria of >.5 gm/day or >3+ by dipstick and/or cellular casts including red blood cells (RBCs), hemoglobin, granular, tubular or mixed. Fifty percent to 60% of SLE patients will develop lupus nephritis within 10 years of diagnosis.^{67, 403, 404}

In 2012, three guidelines for the treatment of lupus nephritis were published:

• Joint EULAR/ERA-EDTA Recommendations for the Management of Adult and Pediatric Lupus

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023 Nephritis¹⁸⁷

- ACR Guidelines for Screening, Treatment, and Management of Lupus Nephritis⁶⁷
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Clinical Practice Guideline for Glomerulonephritis³²³

Treatment of lupus nephritis is based on the classification of the disease using the International Society of Nephrology/Renal Pathology Society 2003 Classification of Lupus Nephritis Criteria.⁴⁰⁵

Treatment of Class I Lupus Nephritis

No treatment is required for this group of SLE patients, who have minimal disease.

Treatment of Class II Lupus Nephritis

The ACR guideline recommends that Class II lupus nephritis generally does not require immunosuppressive treatment. All lupus nephritis patients with proteinuria \geq .5 g/24 hours should be treated with either angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), both of which reduce proteinuria by approximately 30%, and significantly delay doubling of serum creatinine and progression to end-stage renal disease.⁶⁷

On the other hand, EULAR/ERA-EDTA¹⁸⁷ recommended low to moderate doses of oral steroids (.25-.5 mg/kg/day) alone or in combination with azathioprine (1–2 mg/kg/day). Azathioprine could be used in cases of proteinuria over 1 g/24 hours, especially in the presence of glomerular hematuria or as a steroid-sparing agent. Practically, however, mycophenolate mofetil is used.

Treatment of Class III and IV Lupus Nephritis

Proliferative lupus nephritis (Class III – focal proliferative – and Class IV – diffuse proliferative) is an important cause of end stage renal disease in SLE patients.¹⁹¹ Treatment of proliferative lupus nephritis is divided into an induction phase, followed by maintenance phase. It is recommended that at least 3 years of immunosuppressive maintenance treatment be used to achieve remission and better long-term outcomes.^{191,406}

Guidelines recommend either cyclophosphamide or mycophenolate mofetil induction regimens, but differ in the amount of IV corticosteroid given at the initiation of therapy, the use of oral prednisone for maintenance, and the aggressiveness of tapering the drugs.^{67, 187, 323} Physicians should consult either the ACR or EULAR/ERA-EDTA guidelines for details about the use of steroid doses. However, newer regimens such as *Rituxilup*⁴⁰⁷ (rituximab followed by mycophenolate with no oral steroid) include no oral prednisone. In the recent Phase 2 lupus nephritis randomized clinical trial of voclosporin, a new calcineurin inhibitor, only 25 mg of prednisone was used.^{408, 409}

Mycophenolate mofetil is preferred over cyclophosphamide in African and Hispanic patients, based on a *post hoc* subgroup analysis of the ALMS trial.⁴¹⁰

Mycophenolate mofetil is also preferred for young lupus nephritis patients who have a major concern with fertility preservation, because high-dose cyclophosphamide may cause infertility.^{230, 411}

Patients who fail to respond to a 6-month trial of treatment with glucocorticoids plus either mycophenolate mofetil or cyclophosphamide could be switched to either cyclophosphamide or

mycophenolate mofetil, which ever drug has not been used. When starting with the new drug choice, IV steroids for 3 days are recommended.^{67, 187} Providers should consult either the ACR or EULAR/ERA-EDTA guidelines for more details. However, many counsel adding tacrolimus or rituximab in mycophenolate partial or non-responders.

Both guidelines^{67, 187} recommend mycophenolate mofetil (1–2 g/day) or azathioprine (1.5-2.5 mg/kg/day) for the maintenance phase of treatment. The EULAR/ERA-EDTA guideline¹⁸⁷ recommends mycophenolate mofetil in patients who responded to it as part of the induction phase, based on results of the ALMS¹⁹¹ and MAINTAIN Nephritis¹⁹³ trials. For those having difficulty tolerating mycophenolate from a GI standpoint, an enteric coated agent (Myfortic[®]) can be used (usual dose is 720 mg twice a day).

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis included six randomized controlled trials to determine the most effective immunosuppressive therapy for the long-term maintenance phase of proliferative lupus nephritis. The authors focused on the comparative effectiveness of cyclophosphamide versus azathioprine versus mycophenolate mofetil, based on the incidence of renal failure with these regimens; they found no conclusive evidence of the superiority of one drug over the others.²²⁹

A subsequent systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of different treatments of lupus nephritis was published in 2016.²⁰² The goal of this review was to compare the efficacy and harms of different lupus nephritis induction and maintenance regimens. This review reported that the incidence of end stage renal disease was lower in patients treated with

- Either cyclophosphamide or cyclophosphamide and azathioprine when compared to standard-dose corticosteroids
- High-dose cyclophosphamide when compared to high-dose corticosteroids

There was no difference in the outcomes of patients treated with any of the immunosuppressive drugs to treat lupus nephritis (cyclophosphamide, azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil, and tacrolimus), except for a decrease in the occurrence of relapse with mycophenolate mofetil when compared to azathioprine. The authors also found no difference among these drugs with respect to the risk of malignancy, diabetes, aseptic necrosis, nausea, or death. There was a difference in the occurrence of other side effects or adverse events among the immunosuppressive drugs:²⁰²

- Cyclophosphamide was associated with a 4.5 times increase in alopecia when compared to mycophenolate mofetil (may be relative when treating younger patients).
- High-dose cyclophosphamide was associated with a 3.3-times increase in the odds of developing GI complaints when compared to mycophenolate mofetil and an 8.2-times increase in the odds of developing it when compared to tacrolimus.
- Cyclophosphamide was associated with a 9.7 times higher odds of developing urinary bladder toxicity when compared to corticosteroids.

Treatment of Class V Lupus Nephritis (Diffuse Membranous Nephritis)

Immunosuppressive therapy is recommended for Class V lupus nephritis with proteinuria (>3 g/24 hours).^{187, 412} However, earlier treatment leads to better response.¹⁴⁶

Both the EULAR/ERA-EDTA¹⁸⁷ and ACR⁶⁷ guidelines prefer mycophenolate mofetil over the other immunosuppressive agents (IV cyclophosphamide, CNIs, azathioprine, or rituximab) for induction and

maintenance therapy at appropriate doses. The preference for mycophenolate mofetil is mainly based on a combined retrospective analysis of two randomized controlled trials, showing that mycophenolate mofetil taken at a total daily dose of 2 to 3 g plus daily prednisone for 6 months and IV cyclophosphamide (.5-1.0 mg/kg monthly) plus prednisone for 6 months resulted in similar improvement.⁴¹³

In addition, a retrospective cohort study evaluated the efficacy of mycophenolate mofetil therapy in membranous lupus nephritis patients with and without a concurrent proliferative lesion.⁴¹⁴ This study reported that, at 12 months, mycophenolate mofetil induced and maintained complete remission in a significant proportion of patients with membranous lupus nephritis without coexistent proliferative lesions, particularly in those with mild proteinuria.⁴¹⁴

The efficacy of tacrolimus, cyclosporine, and rituximab in idiopathic membranous nephropathy supports a therapeutic role for these agents in some patients with membranous lupus nephritis.⁴¹⁵⁻⁴¹⁷ If patients fail to respond to cyclophosphamide or mycophenolate mofetil then, according to the EULAR/ERA-EDTA guidelines,¹⁸⁷ they may be switched to the drug which has not been used, or rituximab may be tried.

Rituximab without Oral Corticosteroids

Eliminating or decreasing the long-term use of oral glucocorticoids in the lupus nephritis population was the target of a study reported in the *Annals of Rheumatic Diseases* in 2013.²⁹⁹ Condon and colleagues at Hammersmith Hospital in the United Kingdom reported on the results of an observational study of 50 patients with Class III, IV, or V lupus nephritis using the medication protocol *Rituxilup* (rituximab and mycophenolate mofetil without oral steroids). During the induction phase, patients were treated with 1 g of rituximab plus 500 mg of IV methyl prednisolone on Days 1 and 15. Mycophenolate mofetil without oral steroids was used for the maintenance phase. In addition, ARBs and ACE inhibitors were used at the highest tolerable dose. Complete or partial remission was achieved by 62% of the patients by 26 weeks. This development should be monitored carefully, due to its potential of achieving equal or better results than the current drug combinations and to decrease or eliminate the negative effects of long-term steroid use. Reports on larger groups of patients from different centers followed for longer intervals are required.

Other Manifestations

Treatment recommendations for patients with SLE manifestations in additional organ systems are summarized in Table 7.

Table 7. Treatment of other potential manifestations of SLE

Type of Manifestation	Treatment
Hematologic Manifestations	

Autoimmune hemolytic anemia ⁴¹⁸⁻⁴²⁵	Mild
(Elevated reticulocyte count, low haptoglobin, increased indirect bilirubin, high LDH, and a positive direct Coombs test)	 Mild increase in prednisone Assessment 1 week later Moderate and severe
	 IV methylprednisolone 1000 mg daily for 3 days followed by oral prednisone IVIG Azathioprine or mycophenolate mofetil as maintenance therapy Rituximab for refractory cases Splenectomy for refractory cases
Type of Manifestation	Treatment

Thrombocytopenia291, 426-450	1 st line	
	 Treatment is not needed if platelet count is >30,000 	
	 IV or oral corticosteroids Platelet transfusions should be considered only when the platelet count is less than 10 × 10⁹/mm³ or invasive procedures are needed. 	
	2 nd line	
	In refractory cases and as steroid sparing agents:	
	AzathioprineMycophenolate mofetil	
	3 rd line	
	 Rituximab Splenectomy showed good short-term response in SLE patients. However, many patients relapsed. 	
	In emergency situations (e.g., emergency therapy or active bleeding)	
	 IVIG Eltrombopag or romiplostim Thrombopoeitin receptor agonists, which increase platelet production. They increase the risk of thrombosis. 	
Leucopenia 451, 452	Rarely requires therapyGlucocorticoids are the main treatment	
	 for leukopenia in SLE patients. Cyclosporine or tacrolimus can be used as a steroid sparing agent. G-CSF should be avoided in SLE patients 	

Type of Manifestation	Treatment
Nervous System Manifestations	

Neuropsychiatric Lupus _{66, 192, 207, 208, 210-213, 277, 296,}	1 st line
297, 453-461	 Glucocorticoids Pulse methylprednisolone 1,000 mg intravenously for 3 consecutive days followed by oral prednisone. If psychosis present, corticosteroids need to be limited. IV cyclophosphamide Azathioprine or mycophenolate mofetil used as maintenance therapy following cyclophosphamide. 2nd line
	 Rituximab in severe refractory cases IVIG used in severe refractory cases and considered as a first line in the presence of concomitant infection and in pregnant females. 3rd line Plasma exchange in combination with immunosuppressive therapy
Immune System Manifestations	
Antiphospholipid Syndrome	Heparin followed by warfarin (DOACs not recommended ⁴⁶²⁻⁴⁶⁵)
	 Catastrophic APS IV methylprednisolone, heparin, plasmapheresis (or IVIG) Rituximab or eculizumab
Antiphospholipid Antibody	Antiplatelet: acetylsalicylic acid (aspirin)
Prophylactic Treatment	81 mg/dayHydroxychloroquineVitamin DStatin

Cutaneous Manifestations		
Cutaneous lupus erythematosus ^{131, 466-478}	1 st line	
	 Sun block (must block both UV-A and UV-B) and sun avoidance Topical corticosteroid should be used at the lowest potency and for the shortest duration. It is preferable to use: Low-mid-potency corticosteroid (e.g., triamcinolone acetonide, betamethasone valerate) on the trunk and extremities High-potency corticosteroid (e.g., Clobetasol) on the palms and soles Topical CNIS Hydroxychloroquine or chloroquine Hydroxychloroquine and quinacrine may be given concurrently. Systemic corticosteroids as bridging therapy. Short courses or low doses of oral steroids can be given in acute cases and as a bridge until the benefit of antimalarial drugs kicks in. 2nd line 	
	MethotrexateMycophenolate mofetil	
	Azathioprine 3 rd line	
	DapsoneRituximab	

Type of Manifestation	Treatment
Pulmonary Manifestations	

Diffuse alveolar hemorrhage ^{479, 480}	1 st line
	 Pulse methylprednisolone 1,000 mg daily for 3 days followed by 1 mg/kg oral
	2 nd line
	CyclophosphamidePlasmapheresis
	Rituximab
Lupus pulmonary arterial hypertension ⁴⁸¹⁻⁴⁸⁵	1 st line
	 General treatment of primary pulmonary hypertension to include sildenafil, endothelin receptor antagonists, and prostacyclin as appropriate.
	 IV and/or oral glucocorticoids and IV cyclophosphamide if due to active lupus Azathioprine or mycophenolate mofetil used as a maintenance therapy following cyclophosphamide.
	 Anticoagulation if antiphospholipid antibodies are present
	2 nd line
	Rituximab

Type of Manifestation	Treatment
Joint Manifestations	

Lupus arthritis132, 177, 192, 232, 238, 308, 486-490	1 st line
	 Hydroxychloroquine Short-term, low-dose prednisone <6 mg daily NSAID Medrol dose pack or IM triamcinolone 100 mg for flare 2nd line Methotrexate Leflunomide Azathioprine 3rd line Rituximab Belimumab, particularly if low complement or high anti-DNA Anti-TNF, if true co-existing RA
Cardiac Manifestations	
Lupus pericarditis ⁴⁹¹⁻⁴⁹³	 Mild and moderate pericarditis NSAID Corticosteroids, IV or oral Hydroxychloroquine Mycophenolate mofetil Cardiac tamponade Pulse methylprednisolone, usually followed by mycophenolate mofetil Pericardial window Recurrent pericarditis Colchicine Methotrexate Azathioprine Mycophenolate mofetil
Type of Manifestation	Treatment

Lupus myocarditis ⁴⁹⁴⁻⁴⁹⁹	1 st line
	 Pulse methylprednisolone followed by oral prednisone 1 mg/kg
	2 nd line
	 IV cyclophosphamide Azathioprine or mycophenolate mofetil as maintenance therapy
	3 rd line
	IVIG ISIS
	PlasmapheresisRituximab

APS, antiphospholipid syndrome; DNA, deoxyribonucleic acid; DOAC, direct oral anticoagulant G-CSF, granulocyte-colony stimulating factor; INR, international normalized ratio; IV, intravenous; IVIG, intravenous immunoglobulin; NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; TNF, tumor necrosis factor

Lupus During Pregnancy

The first-line treatment for pregnant patients is hydroxychloroquine,¹⁴⁷ as it is both safe and desirable (it reduces pre-eclampsia and disease activity) in pregnancy. When renal manifestations are present, azathioprine or tacrolimus²⁶³ are appropriate choices. Flares during pregnancy can be effectively managed with IV methylprednisolone pulses. When immunosuppressives are needed cyclosporine, tacrolimus and azathioprine can be used.

Appendix

Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index Selena Modification

Physicians Global Assessment (PGA)⁴⁰²

Visual Analog Scale			
	1		(
None	Mild	Moderate	Severe

SLE Disease Activity Index (SLEDAI)402

Check box: If descriptor is present at the time of visit or in the proceeding 10 days

Wt or Score	Present	Descriptor	Definition	
8		Seizure	Recent onset (last 10 days). Exclude metabolic, infectious or drug cause, or seizure due to past irreversible CNS damage.	
8		Psychosis	Altered ability to function in normal activity due to severe disturbance in the perception of reality. Include hallucinations, incoherence, marked loose associations, impoverished thought content, marked illogical thinking, bizarre, disorganized, or catatonic behavior. Excluded uremia and drug causes.	
8		Organic Brain Syndrome	Altered mental function with impaired orientation, memory or other intelligent function, with rapid onset and fluctuating clinical features. Include clouding of consciousness with reduced capacity to focus, and inability to sustain attention to environment, plus at least two of the following: perceptual disturbance, incoherent speech, insomnia or daytime drowsiness, or increased or decreased psychomotor activity. Exclude metabolic, infectious or drug causes	
8		Visual Disturbance	Retinal and eye changes of SLE. Include cytoid bodies, retinal hemorrhages, serous exudate or hemorrhages in the choroid, optic neuritis, scleritis or episcleritis. Exclude hypertension, infection, or drug causes	
8		Cranial Nerve Disorder	New onset of sensory or motor neuropathy involving cranial nerves. Include vertigo due to lupus.	
8		Lupus Headache	Severe persistent headache: may be migrainous, but must be nonresponsive to narcotic analgesia	
8		CVA	New onset of cerebrovascular accident(s). Exclude arteriosclerosis or hypertensive causes.	
8		Vasculitis	Ulceration, gangrene, tender finger nodules, periungual, infarction, splinter hemorrhages, or biopsy or angiogram proof of vasculitis	
4		Arthritis	More than 2 joints with pain and signs of inflammation (i.e. tenderness, swelling, or effusion)	
4		Myositis	Proximal muscle aching/weakness, associated with elevated creatine phosphokinase/aldolase or electromyogram changes or a biopsy showing myositis.	
4		Urinary Casts	Heme-granular or red blood cell casts	

4		Hematuria	>5 red blood cells/high power field. Exclude stone, infection or other cause.	
4		Proteinuria	New onset or recent increase of more than .5 gm/24 hours.	
4		Pyuria	>5 white blood cells/high power field. Exclude infection.	
Wt or Score	Present	Descriptor	Definition	
2		Rash	Ongoing inflammatory lupus rash.	
2		Alopecia	Ongoing abnormal, patchy or diffuse loss of hair due to active lupus.	
2		Mucosal Ulcers	Ongoing oral or nasal ulcerations due to active lupus.	
2		Pleurisy	Classic and severe pleuritic chest pain with pleural rub or effusion or pleural thickening due to lupus.	
2		Pericarditis	Classic and severe pericardial pain or rub or effusion, or electrocardiogram confirmation.	
2		Low Complement	Decrease in CH50, C3, or C4 below the lower limit of normal for testing laboratory.	
2		Increased DNA binding	>25% binding by Farr assay or above normal range for testing laboratory.	
1		Fever	>38°C. Exclude infectious cause	
1		Thrombocytopenia	<100 000 platelets/mm ³	
1		Leukopenia	<3000 WBC/mm ³ . Exclude drug causes	

_____ TOTAL SCORE (Sum of weights next to descriptors marked present)

SELENA Flare Index

D	Mild or Moderate Flare	Severe Flare
	Change in SLEDAI >3 points	Change in SLEDAI >12 points
	New/worse: _Discoid, photosensitive, profundus, cutaneous vasculitis, bullous lupus _Nasopharyngeal ulcers _Pleuritis _Pericarditis _Arthritis _Fever (SLE)	New/worse: _CNS-SLE _Vasculitis _Nephritis _Myositis _Platelets <60,000 _Hemolytic anemia: Hb <7% or decrease in Hb >3% _ Requiring : double prednisone or prednisone >.5 mg/kg/day
	Increase in Prednisone, but not to >.5 mg/kg/day	Prednisone >.5 mg/kg/day
	Added Plaquenil	New Cytoxan, Azathioprine, Methotrexate, Cellcept, Hospitalization (SLE)
	≥I increase in PGA, but not to more than 2.5	Increase in PGA to >2.5

CNS-SLE, neuropsychiatric lupus; Hb, hemoglobin; PGA, Physician Global Assessment; Pk, platelets; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; SLEDAI, SLE Disease Activity Index

Lupus Low Disease Activity State (LLDAS)⁵⁰⁰

- SLEDAI 🛛 4, PGA 🖾 1
- Prednisone <=7.5 mg/day
- No major organ involvement (renal, CNS, serositis, vascular, or constitutional) No recent increase in disease activity

References

- Petri M, Genovese M, Engle E, Hochberg M. Definition, incidence, and clinical description of flare in systemic lupus erythematosus. A prospective cohort study. *Arthritis Rheum* 1991;34:937-944.
- Izmirly PM, Wan I, Sahl S, Buyon JP, Belmont HM, et al. The incidence and prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus in New York County (Manhattan), New York: The Manhattan Lupus Surveillance Program. Arthritis Rheumatol 2017;69:2006-2017.
- Dall'Era M, Cisternas MG, Snipes K, Herrinton LJ, Gordon C, Helmick CG. The incidence and prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus in San Francisco County, California: The California Lupus Surveillance Project. Arthritis Rheumatol 2017;69:19962005.
- 4. van Vollenhoven RF. Editorial: who gets lupus? Clues to a tantalizing syndrome. *Arthritis Rheumatol* 2017;69:483-486.
- Somers EC, Marder W, Cagnoli P, Lewis EE, DeGuire P, et al. Population-based incidence and prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus: the Michigan Lupus Epidemiology and Surveillance program. *Arthritis Rheumatol* 2014;66:369-378.
- Lim SS, Bayakly AR, Helmick CG, Gordon C, Easley KA, Drenkard C. The incidence and prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus, 2002-2004: The Georgia Lupus Registry. Arthritis Rheumatol 2014;66:357-368.
- Lawrence RC, Helmick CG, Arnett FC, Deyo RA, Felson DT, et al. Estimates of the prevalence of arthritis and selected musculoskeletal disorders in the United States. Arthritis Rheum 1998;41:778-799.
- 8. Chakravarty EF, Bush TM, Manzi S, Clarke AE, Ward MM. Prevalence of adult systemic

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.201 Iupus erythematosus in California and Pennsylvania in 2000: estimates obtained using hospitalization data. *Arthritis Rheum* 2007;56:2092-2094.

- Pons-Estel GJ, Alarcon GS, Scofield L, Reinlib L, Cooper GS. Understanding the epidemiology and progression of systemic lupus erythematosus. Semin Arthritis Rheum 2010;39:257-268.
- 10. Lahita RG. The role of sex hormones in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 1999;11:352-356.
- Danchenko N, Satia JA, Anthony MS. Epidemiology of systemic lupus erythematosus: a comparison of worldwide disease burden. *Lupus* 2006;15:308-318.
- 12. Rus V, Maury EE, Hochberg MC. The epidemiology of systemic lupus erythematosus. In: Wallace DJ, Hahn BH, eds. *Lupus Erythematosus*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2002.
- Peschken CA, Esdaile JM. Rheumatic diseases in North America's indigenous peoples. Semin Arthritis Rheum 1999;28:368-391.
- Borchers AT, Keen CL, Shoenfeld Y, Gershwin ME. Surviving the butterfly and the wolf: mortality trends in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Autoimmun Rev* 2004;3:423-453.
- 15. Bongu A, Chang E, Ramsey-Goldman R. Can morbidity and mortality of SLE be improved? *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol* 2002;16:313-332.
- Rahman A, Isenberg DA. Systemic lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med 2008;358:929-939.
- 17. Sherer Y, Gorstein A, Fritzler MJ, Shoenfeld

Y. Autoantibody explosion in systemic lupus erythematosus: more than 100 different antibodies found in SLE patients. *Semin Arthritis Rheum* 2004;34:501-537.

- Cook HT, Botto M. Mechanisms of Disease: the complement system and the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2006;2:330-337.
- Ahearn JM, Liu CC, Kao AH, Manzi S. Biomarkers for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Transl Res* 2012;159:326342.
- 20. Kyttaris VC, Katsiari CG, Juang YT, Tsokos GC. New insights into the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Curr Rheumatol Rep* 2005;7:469-475.
- 21. Rhodes B, Vyse TJ. General aspects of the genetics of SLE. *Autoimmunity* 2007;40:550-559.
- Deng Y, Tsao BP. Genetic susceptibility to systemic lupus erythematosus in the genomic era. Nat Rev Rheumatol 2010;6:683-692.
- Deapen D, Escalante A, Weinrib L, Horwitz D, Bachman B, et al. A revised estimate of twin concordance in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 1992;35:311-318.
- Ulff-Moller CJ, Simonsen J, Kyvik KO, Jacobsen S, Frisch M. Family history of systemic lupus erythematosus and risk of autoimmune disease: Nationwide Cohort Study in Denmark 1977-2013. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2017;56:957-964.
- 25. D'Cruz DP, Khamashta MA, Hughes GR. Systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lancet* 2007;369:587-596.

- 26. Barbhaiya M, Costenbader KH. Ultraviolet radiation and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2014;23:588-595.
- Harley JB, James JA. Epstein-Barr virus infection may be an environmental risk factor for systemic lupus erythematosus in children and teenagers. *Arthritis Rheum* 1999;42:1782-1783.
- James JA, Neas BR, Moser KL, Hall T, Bruner GR, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus in adults is associated with previous EpsteinBarr virus exposure. Arthritis Rheum 2001;44:1122-1126.
- Parks CG, Cooper GS, Nylander-French LA, Sanderson WT, Dement JM, et al.
 Occupational exposure to crystalline silica and risk of systemic lupus erythematosus: a population-based, case-control study in the southeastern United States. Arthritis Rheum 2002;46:1840-1850.
- Cooper GS, Parks CG, Treadwell EL, St Clair EW, Gilkeson GS, Dooley MA. Occupational risk factors for the development of systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol 2004;31:1928-1933.
- Meacock R, Dale N, Harrison MJ. The humanistic and economic burden of systemic lupus erythematosus : a systematic review. *Pharmacoeconomics* 2013;31:49-61.
- Estes D, Christian CL. The natural history of systemic lupus erythematosus by prospective analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 1971;50:85-95.
- Arbuckle MR, McClain MT, Rubertone MV, Scofield RH, Dennis GJ, et al. Development of autoantibodies before the clinical onset of systemic lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med 2003;349:1526-1533.
- Bertsias G, Cervera R, Boumpas DT.
 Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: Pathogenesis and Clinical Features. Chapter

20, EULAR Textbook of Rheumatic Diseases. 2012.

- Tan EM, Feltkamp TE, Smolen JS, Butcher B, Dawkins R, et al. Range of antinuclear antibodies in "healthy" individuals. *Arthritis Rheum* 1997;40:1601-1611.
- Wandstrat AE, Carr-Johnson F, Branch V, Gray H, Fairhurst AM, et al. Autoantibody profiling to identify individuals at risk for systemic lupus erythematosus. J Autoimmun 2006;27:153-160.
- 37. ter Borg EJ, Horst G, Hummel EJ, Limburg PC, Kallenberg CG. Measurement of increases in anti-double-stranded DNA antibody levels as a predictor of disease exacerbation in systemic lupus erythematosus. A long-term, prospective study. Arthritis Rheum 1990;33:634-643.
- Ng KP, Manson JJ, Rahman A, Isenberg DA. Association of antinucleosome antibodies with disease flare in serologically active clinically quiescent patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 2006;55:900-904.
- 39. Ho A, Magder LS, Barr SG, Petri M. Decreases in anti-double-stranded DNA levels are associated with concurrent flares in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 2001;44:2342-2349.
- 40. Pretel M, Marques L, Espana A. Druginduced lupus erythematosus. *Actas Dermosifiliogr* 2014;105:18-30.
- Antonov D, Kazandjieva J, Etugov D, Gospodinov D, Tsankov N. Drug-induced lupus erythematosus. *Clin Dermatol* 2004;22:157-166.
- 42. Vasoo S. Drug-induced lupus: an update. *Lupus* 2006;15:757-761.
- 43. Dalle Vedove C., Simon JC, Girolomoni G. Drug-induced lupus erythematosus with emphasis on skin manifestations and the

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023 role of anti-TNFα agents. *J Dtsch Dermatol Ges* 2012;10:889-897.

- Borchers AT, Keen CL, Gershwin ME. Druginduced lupus. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007;1108:166-182.
- 45. Williams EL, Gadola S, Edwards CJ. AntiTNFinduced lupus. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2009;48:716-720.
- Costa MF, Said NR, Zimmermann B. Druginduced lupus due to anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha agents. *Semin Arthritis Rheum* 2008;37:381-387.
- Cappelli LC, Gutierrez AK, Bingham CO, 3rd, Shah AA. Rheumatic and musculoskeletal immune-related adverse events due to immune checkpoint inhibitors: a systematic review of the literature. *Arthritis Care Res* (Hoboken) 2017;69:1751-1763.
- Cappelli LC, Shah AA, Bingham CO, 3rd. Immune-related adverse effects of cancer immunotherapy - implications for rheumatology. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am* 2017;43:65-78.
- Stucci S, Palmirotta R, Passarelli A, Silvestris E, Argentiero A, et al. Immune-related adverse events during anticancer immunotherapy: Pathogenesis and management. Oncol Lett 2017;14:56715680.
- 50. Fadel F, El Karoui K, Knebelmann B. AntiCTLA4 antibody-induced lupus nephritis. *N Engl J Med* 2009;361:211-212.
- 51. Weber JS, D'Angelo SP, Minor D, Hodi FS, Gutzmer R, et al. Nivolumab versus chemotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma who progressed after anti-CTLA4 treatment (CheckMate 037): a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2015;16:375-384.
- 52. Larkin J, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, et al. Combined nivolumab

and ipilimumab or monotherapy in untreated melanoma. *N Engl J Med* 2015;373:23-34.

- Postow MA, Chesney J, Pavlick AC, Robert C, Grossmann K, et al. Nivolumab and ipilimumab versus ipilimumab in untreated melanoma. N Engl J Med 2015;372:20062017.
- 54. RL R. Drug-induced lupus. In: DJ W, BH H, eds. *Dubois' Systemic Lupus Erythematosus*.
 Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2007:870-900.
- Petri M, Allbritton J. Antibiotic allergy in systemic lupus erythematosus: a casecontrol study. J Rheumatol 1992;19:265269.
- Petri M. Diet and systemic lupus erythematosus: from mouse and monkey to woman? *Lupus* 2001;10:775-777.
- Sarzi-Puttini P, Atzeni F, Capsoni F, Lubrano
 E, Doria A. Drug-induced lupus erythematosus. *Autoimmunity* 2005;38:507-518.
- Katz U, Zandman-Goddard G. Drug-induced lupus: an update. *Autoimmun Rev* 2010;10:46-50.
- Jolly M. How does quality of life of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus compare with that of other common chronic illnesses? *J Rheumatol* 2005;32:1706-1708.
- 60. Garris C, Shah M, Farrelly E. The prevalence and burden of systemic lupus erythematosus in a medicare population: retrospective analysis of medicare claims. *Cost Eff Resour Alloc* 2015;13:9.
- American College of Rheumatology (ACR).
 1997 Update of the 1982 American College of Rheumatology Revised Criteria for Classification of Systemic Lupus

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023 Erythematosus. 1997. http://www.rheumatology.org/Portals/0/Fi les/1997%20Update%20of%201982%20Re vised.pdf. Accessed February 12, 2019.

- 62. Piette JC. Updating the American College of Rheumatology criteria for systemic lupus erythematosus: comment on the letter by Hochberg. *Arthritis Rheum* 1998;41:751.
- Petri M, Orbai AM, Alarcon GS, Gordon C, Merrill JT, et al. Derivation and validation of the Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics classification criteria for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 2012;64:2677-2686.
- 64. Costenbader KH, Johnson S, Aringer M. EULAR/ACR classification criteria update for SLE. Presentated at the 2017 ACR/ARHP Annual Meeting, San Diego, CA, USA 2017.
- 65. Mosca M, Tani C, Aringer M, Bombardieri S, Boumpas D, et al. European League Against Rheumatism recommendations for monitoring patients with systemic lupus erythematosus in clinical practice and in observational studies. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2010;69:1269-1274.
- 66. Bertsias GK, Ioannidis JP, Aringer M, Bollen Ε. Bombardieri S, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of systemic erythematosus lupus with neuropsychiatric manifestations: report of a task force of the EULAR standing committee for clinical affairs. Ann Rheum Dis 2010;69:2074-2082.
- Hahn BH, McMahon MA, Wilkinson A, Wallace WD, Daikh DI, et al. American College of Rheumatology guidelines for screening, treatment, and management of lupus nephritis. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken*) 2012;64:797-808.
- 68. Petri M, Hellmann D, Hochberg M. Validity and reliability of lupus activity measures in

the routine clinic setting. *J Rheumatol* 1992;19:53-59.

- 69. Petri M, Magder LS. Comparison of remission and Lupus Low Disease Activity State in damage prevention in a United States Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Cohort. Arthritis Rheumatol 2018.
- 70. Petri M. Infection in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am* 1998;24:423-456.
- Fei Y, Shi X, Gan F, Li X, Zhang W, et al. Death causes and pathogens analysis of systemic lupus erythematosus during the past 26 years. *Clin Rheumatol* 2014;33:57-63.
- 72. Yurkovich M, Vostretsova K, Chen W, vinaZubieta JA. Overall and cause-specific mortality in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2014;66:608-616.
- Petri M, Genovese M. Incidence of and risk factors for hospitalizations in systemic lupus erythematosus: a prospective study of the Hopkins Lupus Cohort. J Rheumatol 1992;19:1559-1565.
- 74. Hsieh SC, Tsai CY, Sun KH, Yu HS, Tsai ST, et al. Decreased spontaneous and lipopolysaccharide stimulated production of interleukin 8 by polymorphonuclear neutrophils of patients with active systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 1994;12:627-633.
- 75. Pryor BD, Bologna SG, Kahl LE. Risk factors for serious infection during treatment with cyclophosphamide and high-dose corticosteroids for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 1996;39:1475-1482.
- 76. Ayvazian LF, Badger T. Disseminated lupus erythematosus occurring among student nurses. *N Engl J Med* 1948;239:565-570.

- 77. Ristow SC, Douglas RG, Jr., Condemi JJ. Influenza vaccination of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Intern Med* 1978;88:786-789.
- 78. Zingdale SB, Sanchezavalos JC, Ndrada JA, Stringa SG, Manni JA. Appearance of anticoaguland factors and certain 'autoimmune' antibodies following antigenic stimulation with blood group substances in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 1963;6:581-598.
- 79. Crowe SR, Merrill JT, Vista ES, Dedeke AB, Thompson DM, et al. Influenza vaccination responses in human systemic lupus erythematosus: impact of clinical and demographic features. *Arthritis Rheum* 2011;63:2396-2406.
- Williams GW, Steinberg AD, Reinertsen JL, Klassen LW, Decker JL, Dolin R. Influenza immunization in systemic lupus eruthematosus. A double-blind trial. Ann Intern Med 1978;88:729-734.
- Klippel JH, Karsh J, Stahl NI, Decker JL, Steinberg AD, Schiffman G. A controlled study of pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 1979;22:1321-1325.
- 82. van Assen S, Elkayam O, Agmon-Levin N, Cervera R, Doran MF, et al. Vaccination in adult patients with auto-immune inflammatory rheumatic diseases: а systematic literature review for the European League Against Rheumatism evidence-based recommendations for vaccination in adult patients with inflammatory autoimmune rheumatic diseases. Autoimmun Rev 2011;10:341-352.
- 83. Naveau C, Houssiau FA. Pneumococcal sepsis in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2005;14:903-906.
- 84. Vila-Corcoles A. Vaccinate your child and save its grandparents from a heart attack?

Current perspectives in antipneumococcal vaccination. *J Intern Med* 2009;266:432444.

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 2012;61:816819.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Adults: Protect Yourself with Pneumococcal Vaccines. https://www.cdc.gov/features/adultpneum ococcal/index.html. Accessed February 12, 2019.
- 87. Fischer L, Gerstel PF, Poncet A, Siegrist CA, Laffitte E, et al. Pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccination in adults undergoing immunosuppressive treatment for inflammatory diseases--a longitudinal study. *Arthritis Res Ther* 2015;17:151.
- Battafarano DF, Battafarano NJ, Larsen L, Dyer PD, Older SA, et al. Antigen-specific antibody responses in lupus patients following immunization. *Arthritis Rheum* 1998;41:1828-1834.
- Elkayam O, Paran D, Caspi D, Litinsky I, Yaron M, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of pneumococcal vaccination in patients with rheumatoid arthritis or systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Infect Dis* 2002;34:147153.
- 90. Rezende RP, Ribeiro FM, Albuquerque EM, Gayer CR, Andrade LE, Klumb EM. Immunogenicity of pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine in adult systemic lupus erythematosus patients undergoing immunosuppressive treatment. Lupus 2016;25:1254-1259.
- 91. Mok CC, Ho LY, Fong LS, To CH. Immunogenicity and safety of a quadrivalent human papillomavirus vaccine in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: a case-control study. Ann Rheum Dis 2013;72:659-664.

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023

- 92. Brodman R, Gilfillan R, Glass D, Schur PH. Influenzal vaccine response in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Intern Med* 1978;88:735-740.
- Maillefert JF, Sibilia J, Toussirot E, Vignon E, Eschard JP, et al. Rheumatic disorders developed after hepatitis B vaccination. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 1999;38:978-983.
- 94. McMahon BJ, Heyward WL, Templin DW, Clement D, Lanier AP. Hepatitis Bassociated polyarteritis nodosa in Alaskan Eskimos: clinical and epidemiologic features and long-term follow-up. *Hepatology* 1989;9:97-101.
- Zaas A, Scheel P, Venbrux A, Hellmann DB. Large artery vasculitis following recombinant hepatitis B vaccination: 2 cases. J Rheumatol 2001;28:1116-1120.
- Le HC, Cohen P, Bousser MG, Letellier P, Guillevin L. Suspected hepatitis B vaccination related vasculitis. J Rheumatol 1999;26:191-194.
- Trevisani F, Gattinara GC, Caraceni P, Bernardi M, Albertoni F, et al. Transverse myelitis following hepatitis B vaccination. J Hepatol 1993;19:317-318.
- 98. Fried M, Conen D, Conzelmann M, Steinemann E. Uveitis after hepatitis B vaccination. Lancet 1987;2:631-632.
- 99. Poullin P, Gabriel B. Thrombocytopenic purpura after recombinant hepatitis B vaccine. *Lancet* 1994;344:1293.
- 100. Meyboom RH, Fucik H, Edwards IR. Thrombocytopenia reported in association with hepatitis B and A vaccines. *Lancet* 1995;345:1638.
- 101. Neau D, Bonnet F, Michaud M, Perel Y, Longy-Boursier M, et al. Immune thrombocytopenic purpura after recombinant hepatitis B vaccine: retrospective study of seven cases. Scand J Infect Dis 1998;30:115-118.

- 102. Finielz P, Lam-Kam-Sang LF, Guiserix J. Systemic lupus erythematosus and thrombocytopenic purpura in two members of the same family following hepatitis B vaccine. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 1998;13:2420-2421.
- 103. Vautier G, Carty JE. Acute sero-positive rheumatoid arthritis occurring after hepatitis vaccination. *Br J Rheumatol* 1994;33:991.
- Pope JE, Stevens A, Howson W, Bell DA. The development of rheumatoid arthritis after recombinant hepatitis B vaccination. J Rheumatol 1998;25:1687-1693.
- 105. Kuruma KA, Borba EF, Lopes MH, de Carvalho JF, Bonfa E. Safety and efficacy of hepatitis B vaccine in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2007;16:350-354.
- Lal H, Cunningham AL, Godeaux O, Chlibek R, Diez-Domingo J, et al. Efficacy of an adjuvanted herpes zoster subunit vaccine in

older adults. *N Engl J Med* 2015;372:20872096.

- 107. Jolles S, Sewell WA, Leighton C. Druginduced aseptic meningitis: diagnosis and management. *Drug Saf* 2000;22:215-226.
- Gladman DD, Urowitz MB, Rahman P, Ibanez D, Tam LS. Accrual of organ damage over time in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol 2003;30:19551959.
- 109. Danowski A, Magder L, Petri M. Flares in lupus: Outcome Assessment Trial (FLOAT), a comparison between oral methylprednisolone and intramuscular triamcinolone. *J Rheumatol* 2006;33:57-60.
- 110. Thamer M, Hernan MA, Zhang Y, Cotter D, Petri M. Prednisone, lupus activity, and permanent organ damage. *J Rheumatol* 2009;36:560-564.

- 111. Magder LS, Petri M. Incidence of and risk factors for adverse cardiovascular events among patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Am J Epidemiol* 2012;176:708-719.
- 112. Ruiz-Irastorza G, Ramos-Casals M, BritoZeron P, Khamashta MA. Clinical efficacy and side effects of antimalarials in systemic lupus erythematosus: a systematic review. Ann Rheum Dis 2010;69:20-28.
- 113. Fangtham M, Petri M. 2013 update: Hopkins lupus cohort. *Curr Rheumatol Rep* 2013;15:360.
- 114. Belmont HM. Treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus - 2013 update. *Bull Hosp Jt Dis (2013)* 2013;71:208-213.
- 115. van den Borne BE, Dijkmans BA, de Rooij HH, le CS, Verweij CL. Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine equally affect tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin 6, and interferon-gamma production by peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *J Rheumatol* 1997;24:55-60.
- 116. Bondeson J, Sundler R. Antimalarial drugs inhibit phospholipase A2 activation and induction of interleukin 1beta and tumor necrosis factor alpha in macrophages: implications for their mode of action in rheumatoid arthritis. *Gen Pharmacol* 1998;30:357-366.
- 117. Silva JC, Mariz HA, Rocha LF, Jr., Oliveira PS, Dantas AT, et al. Hydroxychloroquine decreases Th17-related cytokines in systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Clinics (Sao Paulo)* 2013;68:766-771.
- 118. Sacre K, Criswell LA, McCune JM. Hydroxychloroquine is associated with impaired interferon-alpha and tumor necrosis factor-alpha production by plasmacytoid dendritic cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Res Ther* 2012;14:R155.

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023

- 119. Willis R, Seif AM, McGwin G, Jr., MartinezMartinez LA, Gonzalez EB, et al. Effect of hydroxychloroquine treatment on proinflammatory cytokines and disease activity in SLE patients: data from LUMINA (LXXV), a multiethnic US cohort. *Lupus* 2012;21:830835.
- 120. Ziegler HK, Unanue ER. Decrease in macrophage antigen catabolism caused by ammonia and chloroquine is associated with inhibition of antigen presentation to T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1982;79:175178.
- 121. Costedoat-Chalumeau N, Dunogue B, Morel N, Le Guern V, Guettrot-Imbert G. Hydroxychloroquine: a multifaceted treatment in lupus. *Presse Med* 2014;43:e167-e180.
- 122. Lafyatis R, York M, Marshak-Rothstein A. Antimalarial agents: closing the gate on Tolllike receptors? Arthritis Rheum 2006;54:3068-3070.
- 123. Wallace DJ, Gudsoorkar VS, Weisman MH, Venuturupalli SR. New insights into mechanisms of therapeutic effects of antimalarial agents in SLE. Nat Rev Rheumatol 2012;8:522-533.
- 124. Marmor MF, Kellner U, Lai TY, Melles RB, Mieler WF. Recommendations on screening for chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine retinopathy (2016 revision). *Ophthalmology* 2016;123:1386-1394.
- 125. Durcan L, Clarke WA, Magder LS, Petri M. Hydroxychloroquine blood levels in systemic lupus erythematosus: clarifying dosing controversies and improving adherence. J Rheumatol 2015;42:20922097.
- 126. Kuhn A, Ochsendorf F, Bonsmann G. Treatment of cutaneous lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2010;19:1125-1136.
- 127. Jallouli M, Saadoun D, Eymard B, Leroux G, Haroche J, et al. The association of systemic

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023 lupus erythematosus and myasthenia gravis: a series of 17 cases, with a special focus on hydroxychloroquine use and a review of the literature. *J Neurol* 2012;259:1290-1297.

- 128. The Canadian Hydroxychloroquine Study Group. A randomized study of the effect of withdrawing hydroxychloroquine sulfate in systemic lupus erythematosus. *N Engl J Med* 1991;324:150-154.
- 129. Petri MA, van Vollenhoven RF, Buyon J, Levy RA, Navarra SV, et al. Baseline predictors of systemic lupus erythematosus flares: data from the combined placebo groups in the phase III belimumab trials. *Arthritis Rheum* 2013;65:2143-2153.
- Frances C, Cosnes A, Duhaut P, Zahr N, Soutou B, et al. Low blood concentration of hydroxychloroquine in patients with refractory cutaneous lupus erythematosus: a French multicenter prospective study. *Arch Dermatol* 2012;148:479-484.
- Ruzicka T, Sommerburg C, Goerz G, Kind P, Mensing H. Treatment of cutaneous lupus erythematosus with acitretin and hydroxychloroquine. Br J Dermatol 1992;127:513-518.
- 132. Williams HJ, Egger MJ, Singer JZ, Willkens RF, Kalunian KC, et al. Comparison of hydroxychloroquine and placebo in the treatment of the arthropathy of mild systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Rheumatol* 1994;21:1457-1462.
- 133. Winkelmann RR, Kim GK, Del Rosso JQ. Treatment of cutaneous lupus erythematosus: review and assessment of treatment benefits based on Oxford Centre for Evidence-based Medicine Criteria. J Clin Aesthet Dermatol 2013;6:27-38.
- 134. Mok CC, Tang SS, To CH, Petri M. Incidence and risk factors of thromboembolism in systemic lupus erythematosus: a

comparison of three ethnic groups. *Arthritis Rheum* 2005;52:2774-2782.

- Toloza SM, Uribe AG, McGwin G, Jr., Alarcon GS, Fessler BJ, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus in a multiethnic US cohort (LUMINA). XXIII. Baseline predictors of vascular events. *Arthritis Rheum* 2004;50:3947-3957.
- Wallace DJ. Does hydroxychloroquine sulfate prevent clot formation in systemic lupus erythematosus? *Arthritis Rheum* 1987;30:1435-1436.
- 137. Ho KT, Ahn CW, Alarcon GS, Baethge BA, Tan FK, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus in a multiethnic cohort (LUMINA): XXVIII. Factors predictive of thrombotic events. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2005;44:13031307.
- 138. Ruiz-Irastorza G, Egurbide MV, Pijoan JI, Garmendia M, Villar I, et al. Effect of antimalarials on thrombosis and survival in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2006;15:577-583.
- 139. Mok CC, Tong KH, To CH, Siu YP, Ho LY, Au TC. Risk and predictors of arterial thrombosis in lupus and non-lupus primary glomerulonephritis: a comparative study. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2007;86:203-209.
- 140. Erkan D, Yazici Y, Peterson MG, Sammaritano L, Lockshin MD. A crosssectional study of clinical thrombotic risk factors and preventive treatments in antiphospholipid syndrome. *Rheumatology* (*Oxford*) 2002;41:924-929.
- 141. Gerstein HC, Thorpe KE, Taylor DW, Haynes RB. The effectiveness of hydroxychloroquine in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus who are refractory to sulfonylureas--a randomized trial. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 2002;55:209-219.

- 142. Wasko MC, Hubert HB, Lingala VB, Elliott JR, Luggen ME, et al. Hydroxychloroquine and risk of diabetes in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *JAMA* 2007;298:187-193.
- 143. Kerr G, Aujero M, Richards J, Sayles H, Davis L, et al. Associations of hydroxychloroquine use with lipid profiles in rheumatoid arthritis: pharmacologic implications. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)* 2014;66:16191626.
- 144. Durcan L, Winegar DA, Connelly MA, Otvos JD, Magder LS, Petri M. Longitudinal evaluation of lipoprotein variables in systemic lupus erythematosus reveals adverse changes with disease activity and prednisone and more favorable profiles with hydroxychloroquine therapy. J Rheumatol 2016;43:745-750.
- 145. Petri M. Hydroxychloroquine use in the Baltimore Lupus Cohort: effects on lipids, glucose and thrombosis. *Lupus* 1996;5 Suppl 1:S16-S22.
- 146. Kasitanon N, Fine DM, Haas M, Magder LS, Petri M. Hydroxychloroquine use predicts complete renal remission within 12 months patients treated with among mycophenolate mofetil therapy for membranous lupus nephritis. Lupus 2006;15:366-370.
- 147. Levy RA, Vilela VS, Cataldo MJ, Ramos RC, Duarte JL, et al. Hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) in lupus pregnancy: double-blind and placebo-controlled study. *Lupus* 2001;10:401-404.
- Petri M, Howard D, Repke J. Frequency of lupus flare in pregnancy. The Hopkins Lupus Pregnancy Center experience. Arthritis Rheum 1991;34:1538-1545.
- 149. Mekinian A, Lazzaroni MG, Kuzenko A, ijotas-Reig J, Ruffatti A, et al. The efficacy of hydroxychloroquine for obstetrical outcome in anti-phospholipid syndrome: Data from a European multicenter

retrospective study. Autoimmun Rev 2015;14:498-502.

150. Izmirly PM, Costedoat-Chalumeau N, Pisoni CN, Khamashta MA, Kim MY, et al. Maternal use of hydroxychloroquine is associated with a reduced risk of recurrent antiSSA/Roantibody-associated cardiac manifestations of neonatal lupus.

Circulation 2012;126:76-82.

- 151. Alarcon GS, McGwin G, Bertoli AM, Fessler BJ, Calvo-Alen J, et al. Effect of hydroxychloroquine on the survival of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: data from LUMINA, a multiethnic US cohort (LUMINA L). Ann Rheum Dis 2007;66:1168-1172.
- 152. Shinjo SK, Bonfa E, Wojdyla D, Borba EF, Ramirez LA, et al. Antimalarial treatment may have a time-dependent effect on lupus survival: data from a multinational Latin American inception cohort. Arthritis Rheum 2010;62:855-862.
- 153. Mok CC, Tse SM, Chan KL, Ho LY. Effect of immunosuppressive therapies on survival of systemic lupus erythematosus: a propensity score analysis of a longitudinal cohort. Lupus 2018;27:722-727.
- 154. James JA, Kim-Howard XR, Bruner BF, Jonsson MK, McClain MT, et al. Hydroxychloroquine sulfate treatment is associated with later onset of systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus 2007;16:401409.
- 155. Petri MA, Lahita RG, Van Vollenhoven RF, Merrill JT, Schiff M, et al. Effects of prasterone on corticosteroid requirements of women with systemic lupus double-blind. erythematosus: а randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum 2002;46:1820-1829.
- 156. Petri MA, Mease PJ, Merrill JT, Lahita RG, lannini MJ, et al. Effects of prasterone on disease activity and symptoms in women

with active systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 2004;50:2858-2868.

- 157. Mease PJ, Ginzler EM, Gluck OS, Schiff M, Goldman A, et al. Effects of prasterone on bone mineral density in women with systemic lupus erythematosus receiving chronic glucocorticoid therapy. J Rheumatol 2005;32:616-621.
- 158. Souberbielle JC, Body JJ, Lappe JM, Plebani M, Shoenfeld Y, et al. Vitamin D and musculoskeletal health, cardiovascular disease, autoimmunity and cancer: Recommendations for clinical practice. Autoimmun Rev 2010;9:709-715.
- 159. Petri M, Bello KJ, Fang H, Magder LS. Vitamin D in systemic lupus erythematosus: modest association with disease activity and the urine protein-to-creatinine ratio. Arthritis Rheum 2013;65:1865-1871.
- 160. Kamen DL, Cooper GS, Bouali H, Shaftman SR, Hollis BW, Gilkeson GS. Vitamin D deficiency in systemic lupus erythematosus. Autoimmun Rev 2006;5:114-117.
- 161. Cusack C, Danby C, Fallon JC, Ho WL, Murray B, et al. Photoprotective behaviour and sunscreen use: impact on vitamin D levels in cutaneous lupus erythematosus. Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed 2008;24:260-267.
- 162. Szodoray P, Tarr T, Bazso A, Poor G, Szegedi G, Kiss E. The immunopathological role of vitamin D in patients with SLE: data from a

single centre registry in Hungary. Scand J Rheumatol 2011;40:122-126.

- 163. Kamen DL. Vitamin D in lupus new kid on the block? Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis 2010;68:218-222.
- 164. Sangüesa Gómez C, Flores Robles BJ, Andréu JL. Bone health, vitamin D and lupus. Reumatol Clin 2015;11:232-236.

- 165. Meier C, Kraenzlin ME. Antiepileptics and bone health. *Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis* 2011;3:235-243.
- 166. Sakthiswary R, Raymond AA. The clinical significance of vitamin D in systemic lupus erythematosus: a systematic review. *PLoS One* 2013;8:e55275.
- 167. Wu PW, Rhew EY, Dyer AR, Dunlop DD, Langman CB, et al. 25-hydroxyvitamin D and cardiovascular risk factors in women with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 2009;61:1387-1395.
- 168. Mok CC, Birmingham DJ, Leung HW, Hebert LA, Song H, Rovin BH. Vitamin D levels in Chinese patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: relationship with disease activity, vascular risk factors and atherosclerosis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2012;51:644-652.
- 169. Reynolds JA, Haque S, Berry JL, Pemberton P, Teh LS, et al. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D deficiency is associated with increased aortic stiffness in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatology* (Oxford) 2012;51:544-551.
- 170. Ravenell RL, Kamen DL, Spence JD, Hollis BW, Fleury TJ, et al. Premature atherosclerosis is associated with hypovitaminosis D and angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitor non-use in lupus patients. Am J Med Sci 2012;344:268273.
- 171. Abou-Raya A, Abou-Raya S, Helmii M. The effect of vitamin D supplementation on inflammatory and hemostatic markers and disease activity in patients with systemic

lupus erythematosus: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. *J Rheumatol* 2013;40:265-272.

 Lima GL, Paupitz J, Aikawa NE, Takayama L, Bonfa E, Pereira RM. Vitamin D supplementation in adolescents and young adults with juvenile systemic lupus

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023 erythematosus for improvement in disease activity and fatigue scores: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)* 2016;68:9198.

- 173. Yeap SS, Othman AZ, Zain AA, Chan SP. Vitamin D levels: its relationship to bone mineral density response and disease activity in premenopausal Malaysian systemic lupus erythematosus patients on corticosteroids. *Int J Rheum Dis* 2012;15:1724.
- 174. Singh JA, Saag KG, Bridges SL, Jr., Akl EA, Bannuru RR, et al. 2015 American College of Rheumatology Guideline for the Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Arthritis Care Res* (Hoboken) 2016;68:1-25.
- Sakthiswary R, Suresh E. Methotrexate in systemic lupus erythematosus: a systematic review of its efficacy. *Lupus* 2014;23:225235.
- Wilson K, Abeles M. A 2 year, open ended trial of methotrexate in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol 1994;21:16741677.
- 177. Gansauge S, Breitbart A, Rinaldi N, SchwarzEywill M. Methotrexate in patients with moderate systemic lupus erythematosus (exclusion of renal and central nervous system disease). Ann Rheum Dis 1997;56:382-385.
- 178. Kipen Y, Littlejohn GO, Morand EF. Methotrexate use in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 1997;6:385-389.
- 179. Rahman P, Humphrey-Murto S, Gladman DD, Urowitz MB. Efficacy and tolerability of methotrexate in antimalarial resistant lupus arthritis. *J Rheumatol* 1998;25:243-246.
- 180. Wenzel J, Brahler S, Bauer R, Bieber T, Tuting T. Efficacy and safety of methotrexate in recalcitrant cutaneous

lupus erythematosus: results of a retrospective study in 43 patients. *Br J Dermatol* 2005;153:157-162.

- Miyawaki S, Nishiyama S, Aita T, Yoshinaga Y. The effect of methotrexate on improving serological abnormalities of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Mod Rheumatol* 2013;23:659-666.
- 182. Immunosuppressive Medications. Johns Hopkins Lupus Center. 2016. https://www.hopkinslupus.org/lupustreat ment/lupusmedications/immunosuppressiv emedications/. Accessed February 12, 2019.
- 183. Arava [package insert]. *Bridgewater, NJ* 2016.
- 184. Petri M. High dose Arava in lupus (HAIL). Arthritis Rheum 2001;44:S280.
- 185. Wang HY, Cui TG, Hou FF, Ni ZH, Chen XM, et al. Induction treatment of proliferative lupus nephritis with leflunomide combined with prednisone: a prospective multi-centre observational study. *Lupus* 2008;17:638644.
- 186. Cao H, Rao Y, Liu L, Lin J, Yang H, et al. The efficacy and safety of leflunomide for the treatment of lupus nephritis in chinese patients: systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS One* 2015;10:e0144548.
- 187. Bertsias GK, Tektonidou M, Amoura Z, Aringer M, Bajema I, et al. Joint European League Against Rheumatism and European Renal Association-European Dialysis and Transplant Association (EULAR/ERA-EDTA) recommendations for the management of adult and paediatric lupus nephritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2012;71:1771-1782.
- 188. Okon LG, Werth VP. Cutaneous lupus erythematosus: diagnosis and treatment.

Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2013;27:391404.

189. Janssens P, Arnaud L, Galicier L, Mathian A, Hie M, et al. Lupus enteritis: from clinical

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023 findings to therapeutic management. *Orphanet J Rare Dis* 2013;8:67.

- 190. Pego-Reigosa JM, Cobo-Ibanez T, CalvoAlen J, Loza-Santamaria E, Rahman A, et al. Efficacy and safety of nonbiologic immunosuppressants in the treatment of nonrenal systemic lupus erythematosus: a systematic review. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2013;65:1775-1785.
- 191. Dooley MA, Jayne D, Ginzler EM, Isenberg D, Olsen NJ, et al. Mycophenolate versus azathioprine as maintenance therapy for lupus nephritis. N Engl J Med 2011;365:1886-1895.
- 192. Ginzler E, Sharon E, Diamond H, Kaplan D. Long-term maintenance therapy with azathioprine in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 1975;18:27-34.
- 193. Houssiau FA, D'Cruz D, Sangle S, Remy P, Vasconcelos C, et al. Azathioprine versus mycophenolate mofetil for long-term immunosuppression in lupus nephritis: results from the MAINTAIN Nephritis Trial. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2010;69:2083-2089.
- 194. Imuran [package insert]. San Diego, CA 2011.
- 195. Alami Z, Cissko H, Ahid S, Bernard N, DissonDautriche A, et al. Pregnancy outcomes after maternal use of azathioprine: a French cohort study. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 2013;27:43.
- 196. Viktil KK, Engeland A, Furu K. Outcomes after anti-rheumatic drug use before and during pregnancy: a cohort study among 150,000 pregnant women and expectant fathers. Scand J Rheumatol 2012;41:196201.
- 197. Fischer-Betz R, Specker C, Brinks R, Aringer M, Schneider M. Low risk of renal flares and negative outcomes in women with lupus nephritis conceiving after switching from mycophenolate mofetil to azathioprine. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2013;52:10701076.

- 198. Coelho J, Beaugerie L, Colombel JF, Hebuterne X, Lerebours E, et al. Pregnancy outcome in patients with inflammatory bowel disease treated with thiopurines: cohort from the CESAME Study. *Gut* 2011;60:198-203.
- 199. Langagergaard V, Pedersen L, Gislum M, Norgard B, Sorensen HT. Birth outcome in women treated with azathioprine or mercaptopurine during pregnancy: A Danish nationwide cohort study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2007;25:73-81.
- 200. Gotestam SC, Hoeltzenbein M, Tincani A, Fischer-Betz R, Elefant E, et al. The EULAR points to consider for use of antirheumatic drugs before pregnancy, and during pregnancy and lactation. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2016;75:795-810.
- Petri M. Cyclophosphamide: new approaches for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2004;13:366-371.
- 202. Singh JA, Hossain A, Kotb A, Oliveira A, Mudano AS, et al. Treatments for Lupus Nephritis: A Systematic Review and Network Metaanalysis. J Rheumatol 2016;43:1801-1815.
- 203. Cyclophosphamide [FDA package inserts]. http://www.iodine.com/drug/cyclophosph amide/fda-package-insert. Accessed 2016.
- 204. Boumpas DT, Austin HA, III, Vaughn EM, Klippel JH, Steinberg AD, et al. Controlled trial of pulse methylprednisolone versus two regimens of pulse cyclophosphamide in severe lupus nephritis. *Lancet* 1992;340:741-745.
- 205. Austin HA, III, Klippel JH, Balow JE, le Riche NG, Steinberg AD, et al. Therapy of lupus nephritis. Controlled trial of prednisone and cytotoxic drugs. *N Engl J Med* 1986;314:614-619.
- 206. Houssiau FA, Vasconcelos C, D'Cruz D, Sebastiani GD, de Ramon GE, et al. The United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023

10year follow-up data of the Euro-Lupus Nephritis Trial comparing low-dose and high-dose intravenous cyclophosphamide. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2010;69:61-64.

- 207. Boumpas DT, Yamada H, Patronas NJ, Scott D, Klippel JH, Balow JE. Pulse cyclophosphamide for severe neuropsychiatric lupus. *Q J Med* 1991;81:975-984.
- 208. Baca V, Lavalle C, Garcia R, Catalan T, Sauceda JM, et al. Favorable response to intravenous methylprednisolone and cyclophosphamide in children with severe neuropsychiatric lupus. J Rheumatol 1999;26:432-439.
- 209. McCune WJ, Golbus J, Zeldes W, Bohlke P, Dunne R, Fox DA. Clinical and immunologic effects of monthly administration of intravenous cyclophosphamide in severe systemic lupus erythematosus. *N Engl J Med* 1988;318:1423-1431.
- Mok CC, Lau CS, Wong RW. Treatment of lupus psychosis with oral cyclophosphamide followed by azathioprine maintenance: an open-label study. *Am J Med* 2003;115:59-62.
- 211. Neuwelt CM, Lacks S, Kaye BR, Ellman JB, Borenstein DG. Role of intravenous cyclophosphamide in the treatment of severe neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. *Am J Med* 1995;98:32-41.
- 212. Ramos PC, Mendez MJ, Ames PR, Khamashta MA, Hughes GR. Pulse cyclophosphamide in the treatment of neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 1996;14:295-299.
- Stojanovich L, Stojanovich R, Kostich V, Dzjolich E. Neuropsychiatric lupus favourable response to low dose i.v. cyclophosphamide and prednisolone (pilot study). Lupus 2003;12:3-7.

- 214. Barile-Fabris L, riza-Andraca R, OlguinOrtega L, Jara LJ, Fraga-Mouret A, et al. Controlled clinical trial of IV cyclophosphamide versus IV methylprednisolone in severe neurological manifestations in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2005;64:620-625.
- 215. Zamora MR, Warner ML, Tuder R, Schwarz MI. Diffuse alveolar hemorrhage and systemic lupus erythematosus. Clinical presentation, histology, survival, and outcome. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 1997;76:192-202.
- 216. Martinez-Martinez MU, bud-Mendoza C. Predictors of mortality in diffuse alveolar haemorrhage associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2011;20:568574.
- 217. Bayraktar UD, Erkan D, Bucciarelli S, Espinosa G, Asherson R. The clinical spectrum of catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome in the absence and presence of lupus. J Rheumatol 2007;34:346-352.
- 218. Abreu MM, Danowski A, Wahl DG, Amigo MC, Tektonidou M, et al. The relevance of "non-criteria" clinical manifestations of antiphospholipid syndrome: 14th International Congress on Antiphospholipid Antibodies Technical Task Force Report on Antiphospholipid Syndrome Clinical Features. *Autoimmun Rev* 2015;14:401414.
- 219. Berman H, Rodriguez-Pinto I, Cervera R, Morel N, Costedoat-Chalumeau N, et al. Rituximab use in the catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome: descriptive analysis of the CAPS registry patients receiving rituximab. *Autoimmun Rev* 2013;12:1085-1090.
- 220. Unlu O, Erkan D. Catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome: candidate therapies for a potentially lethal disease. Annu Rev Med 2017;68:287-296.

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023

- 221. Mok CC, Lai KN. Mycophenolate mofetil in lupus glomerulonephritis. *Am J Kidney Dis* 2002;40:447-457.
- 222. Villarroel MC, Hidalgo M, Jimeno A. Mycophenolate mofetil: An update. *Drugs Today (Barc)* 2009;45:521-532.
- 223. Ginzler EM, Dooley MA, Aranow C, Kim MY, Buyon J, et al. Mycophenolate mofetil or intravenous cyclophosphamide for lupus nephritis. *N Engl J Med* 2005;353:22192228.
- 224. Riskalla MM, Somers EC, Fatica RA, McCune
 WJ. Tolerability of mycophenolate mofetil in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol 2003;30:15081512.
- 225. Ong LM, Hooi LS, Lim TO, Goh BL, Ahmad G, et al. Randomized controlled trial of pulse intravenous cyclophosphamide versus mycophenolate mofetil in the induction therapy of proliferative lupus nephritis. *Nephrology (Carlton)* 2005;10:504-510.
- 226. Qiao LW, Qu QS, Jiang X. Evaluation of tolerance and safety of conversion from mycophenolate mofetil to enteric-coated mycophenolic acid in renal transplant recipients. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents 2017;31:141-146.
- 227. Appel GB, Contreras G, Dooley MA, Ginzler EM, Isenberg D, et al. Mycophenolate mofetil versus cyclophosphamide for induction treatment of lupus nephritis. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2009;20:1103-1112.
- 228. Chan TM, Tse KC, Tang CS, Mok MY, Li FK. Long-term study of mycophenolate mofetil as continuous induction and maintenance treatment for diffuse proliferative lupus nephritis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005;16:10761084.
- 229. Tian SY, Feldman BM, Beyene J, Brown PE, Uleryk EM, Silverman ED.
 Immunosuppressive therapies for the maintenance treatment of proliferative

lupus nephritis: a systematic review and network metaanalysis. *J Rheumatol* 2015;42:1392-1400.

- Touma Z, Gladman DD, Urowitz MB, Beyene J, Uleryk EM, Shah PS. Mycophenolate mofetil for induction treatment of lupus nephritis: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Rheumatol 2011;38:69-78.
- 231. W B, L M, M P. Immunosuppressive drugs in SLE differ in their hematologic side-effects. *Arthritis Rheum* 2016;60:282.
- 232. Karim MY, Alba P, Cuadrado MJ, Abbs IC, D'Cruz DP, et al. Mycophenolate mofetil for systemic lupus erythematosus refractory to other immunosuppressive agents. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2002;41:876-882.
- 233. Bijl M, Horst G, Bootsma H, Limburg PC, Kallenberg CG. Mycophenolate mofetil prevents a clinical relapse in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus at risk. Ann Rheum Dis 2003;62:534-539.
- 234. Nannini C, Crowson CS, Matteson EL, Moder KG. Mycophenolate mofetil is effective in reducing disease flares in systemic lupus erythematosus patients: a retrospective study. *Lupus* 2009;18:394-399.
- 235. Pisoni CN, Sanchez FJ, Karim Y, Cuadrado MJ, D'Cruz DP, et al. Mycophenolate mofetil in systemic lupus erythematosus: efficacy and tolerability in 86 patients. *J Rheumatol* 2005;32:1047-1052.
- 236. Posalski JD, Ishimori M, Wallace DJ, Weisman MH. Does mycophenolate mofetil prevent extra-renal flares in systemic lupus erythematosus? Results from an observational study of patients in a single practice treated for up to 5 years. *Lupus* 2009;18:516-521.
- 237. Yahya F, Jasmin R, Ng CT, Cheah TE, Sockalingam S. Open label randomized controlled trial assessing the efficacy of mycophenolate sodium against other

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023 conventional immunosuppressive agents in active systemic lupus erythematosus patients without renal involvement. *Int J Rheum Dis* 2013;16:724-730.

- 238. Ginzler EM, Wofsy D, Isenberg D, Gordon C, Lisk L, Dooley MA. Nonrenal disease activity following mycophenolate mofetil or intravenous cyclophosphamide as induction treatment for lupus nephritis: findings in a multicenter, prospective, randomized, open-label, parallel-group clinical trial. *Arthritis Rheum* 2010;62:211221.
- 239. Tselios K, Gladman DD, Su J, Urowitz MB. Mycophenolate mofetil in nonrenal manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus: an observational cohort study. J Rheumatol 2016;43:552-558.
- 240. Mendez R, Gonwa T, Yang HC, Weinstein S, Jensik S, Steinberg S. A prospective, randomized trial of tacrolimus in combination with sirolimus or mofetil mycophenolate in kidnev transplantation: results at 1 year. Transplantation 2005;80:303-309.
- 241. Mendez R. FK 506 and mycophenolate mofetil in renal transplant recipients: sixmonth results of a multicenter, randomized dose ranging trial. FK 506 MMF DoseRanging Kidney Transplant Study Group. *Transplant Proc* 1998;30:1287-1289.
- 242. Hejazi EZ, Werth VP. Cutaneous lupus erythematosus: an update on pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment. *Am J Clin Dermatol* 2016;17:135-146.
- 243. Wiederrecht G, Lam E, Hung S, Martin M, Sigal N. The mechanism of action of FK-506 and cyclosporin A. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1993;696:9-19.
- 244. Andersson J, Nagy S, Groth CG, Andersson U. Effects of FK506 and cyclosporin A on cytokine production studied in vitro at a single-cell level. *Immunology* 1992;75:136142.

- 245. Mok CC, Tong KH, To CH, Siu YP, Au TC. Tacrolimus for induction therapy of diffuse proliferative lupus nephritis: an openlabeled pilot study. *Kidney Int* 2005;68:813817.
- 246. Lanata CM, Mahmood T, Fine DM, Petri M. Combination therapy of mycophenolate mofetil and tacrolimus in lupus nephritis. *Lupus* 2010;19:935-940.
- 247. Wang S, Li X, Qu L, Wang R, Chen Y, et al. Tacrolimus versus cyclophosphamide as treatment for diffuse proliferative or membranous lupus nephritis: a nonrandomized prospective cohort study. *Lupus* 2012;21:1025-1035.
- 248. Bao H, Liu ZH, Xie HL, Hu WX, Zhang HT, Li LS. Successful treatment of class V+IV lupus nephritis with multitarget therapy. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 2008;19:2001-2010.
- 249. Chen W, Tang X, Liu Q, Chen W, Fu P, et al. Short-term outcomes of induction therapy with tacrolimus versus cyclophosphamide for active lupus nephritis: A multicenter randomized clinical trial. *Am J Kidney Dis* 2011;57:235-244.
- 250. Li X, Ren H, Zhang Q, Zhang W, Wu X, et al. Mycophenolate mofetil or tacrolimus compared with intravenous cyclophosphamide in the induction treatment for active lupus nephritis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2012;27:14671472.
- 251. Liu Z, Zhang H, Liu Z, Xing C, Fu P, et al. Multitarget therapy for induction treatment of lupus nephritis: a randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med* 2015;162:18-26.
- 252. Miyasaka N, Kawai S, Hashimoto H. Efficacy and safety of tacrolimus for lupus nephritis:
 a placebo-controlled double-blind multicenter study. *Mod Rheumatol* 2009;19:606-615.
- 253. Mok CC, Ying KY, Yim CW, Siu YP, Tong KH, et al. Tacrolimus versus mycophenolate

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023 mofetil for induction therapy of lupus nephritis: a randomised controlled trial and long-term follow-up. Ann Rheum Dis 2016;75:30-36.

- 254. Yap DY, Yu X, Chen XM, Lu F, Chen N, et al. Pilot 24 month study to compare mycophenolate mofetil and tacrolimus in the treatment of membranous lupus nephritis with nephrotic syndrome. *Nephrology (Carlton)* 2012;17:352-357.
- 255. Yang M, Li M, He W, Wang B, Gu Y. Calcineurin inhibitors may be a reasonable alternative to cyclophosphamide in the induction treatment of active lupus nephritis: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Exp Ther Med* 2014;7:1663-1670.
- 256. Tian SY, Feldman BM, Beyene J, Brown PE, Uleryk EM, Silverman ED. Immunosuppressive therapies for the induction treatment of proliferative lupus nephritis: a systematic review and network metaanalysis. J Rheumatol 2014;41:19982007.
- Yin PD, Yang XY. [A clinical study on low dose cyclosporin A in the treatment of lupus nephritis]. *Zhonghua Nei Ke Za Zhi* 1994;33:684-686.
- 258. Petrovic R, Stojanovic R, Novicic-Sasic D, Dimitrijevic J, Pavlovic S, et al. [Comparison of various cyclophosphamide treatment regimens on the course and outcome of lupus nephritis]. *Srp Arh Celok Lek* 2002;130 Suppl 3:19-25.
- 259. Zavada J, Sinikka PS, Rysava R, Horak P, Hrncir Z, et al. Extended follow-up of the CYCLOFA-LUNE trial comparing two sequential induction and maintenance treatment regimens for proliferative lupus nephritis based either on cyclophosphamide or on cyclosporine A. *Lupus* 2014;23:69-74.

- 260. Dammacco F, la Casa AO, Ferraccioli G, Racanelli V, Casatta L, Bartoli E. Cyclosporine-A plus steroids versus steroids alone in the 12-month treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. Int J Clin Lab Res 2000;30:67-73.
- 261. Moroni G, Doria A, Mosca M, Alberighi OD, Ferraccioli G, et al. A randomized pilot trial comparing cyclosporine and azathioprine for maintenance therapy in diffuse lupus nephritis over four years. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* 2006;1:925-932.
- Hannah J, Casian A, D'Cruz D. Tacrolimus use in lupus nephritis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Autoimmun Rev* 2016;15:93-101.
- 263. Webster P, Wardle A, Bramham K, Webster L, Nelson-Piercy C, Lightstone L. Tacrolimus is an effective treatment for lupus nephritis in pregnancy. *Lupus* 2014;23:1192-1196.
- 264. Prograf [package insert]. *Northbrook, IL* 2015; Astellas Pharma US, Inc.
- 265. Neoral [package insert]. *East Hanover, NJ* 2015; Novartis Pharmaceuticals
 Corporation.
- 266. Lai ZW, Hanczko R, Bonilla E, Caza TN, Clair B, et al. N-acetylcysteine reduces disease activity by blocking mammalian target of rapamycin in T cells from systemic lupus erythematosus patients: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum 2012;64:2937-2946.
- 267. Tedder TF, Engel P. CD20: a regulator of cellcycle progression of B lymphocytes. *Immunol Today* 1994;15:450-454.
- 268. Reff ME, Carner K, Chambers KS, Chinn PC, Leonard JE, et al. Depletion of B cells in vivo by a chimeric mouse human monoclonal antibody to CD20. *Blood* 1994;83:435-445.
- 269. Merrill JT, Neuwelt CM, Wallace DJ,

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023 Shanahan JC, Latinis KM, et al. Efficacy and safety of rituximab in moderatelytoseverely active systemic lupus erythematosus: the randomized, doubleblind, phase II/III systemic lupus erythematosus evaluation of rituximab trial. *Arthritis Rheum* 2010;62:222-233.

- 270. Rovin BH, Furie R, Latinis K, Looney RJ, Fervenza FC, et al. Efficacy and safety of rituximab in patients with active proliferative lupus nephritis: the Lupus Nephritis Assessment with Rituximab study. Arthritis Rheum 2012;64:1215-1226.
- 271. Cobo-Ibanez T, Loza-Santamaria E, PegoReigosa JM, Marques AO, Rua-Figueroa I, et al. Efficacy and safety of rituximab in the treatment of non-renal systemic lupus erythematosus: a systematic review. *Semin Arthritis Rheum* 2014;44:175-185.
- 272. Merrill J, Buyon J, Furie R, Latinis K, Gordon C, et al. Assessment of flares in lupus patients enrolled in a phase II/III study of rituximab (EXPLORER). Lupus 2011;20:709716.
- 273. Looney RJ, Anolik JH, Campbell D, Felgar RE, Young F, et al. B cell depletion as a novel treatment for systemic lupus erythematosus: a phase I/II dose-escalation trial of rituximab. Arthritis Rheum 2004;50:2580-2589.
- 274. Gottenberg JE, Guillevin L, Lambotte O, Combe B, Allanore Y, et al. Tolerance and short term efficacy of rituximab in 43 patients with systemic autoimmune diseases. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2005;64:913-920.
- 275. Smith KG, Jones RB, Burns SM, Jayne DR. Long-term comparison of rituximab treatment for refractory systemic lupus erythematosus and vasculitis: Remission, relapse, and re-treatment. *Arthritis Rheum* 2006;54:2970-2982.

- 276. Catapano F, Chaudhry AN, Jones RB, Smith KG, Jayne DW. Long-term efficacy and safety of rituximab in refractory and relapsing systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2010;25:35863592.
- 277. Tokunaga M, Saito K, Kawabata D, Imura Y, Fujii T, et al. Efficacy of rituximab (antiCD20) for refractory systemic lupus erythematosus involving the central nervous system. Ann Rheum Dis 2007;66:470-475.
- 278. Jonsdottir T, Gunnarsson I, Risselada A, Henriksson EW, Klareskog L, van Vollenhoven RF. Treatment of refractory SLE with rituximab plus cyclophosphamide: clinical effects, serological changes, and predictors of response. Ann Rheum Dis 2008;67:330-334.
- 279. Lindholm C, Borjesson-Asp K, Zendjanchi K, Sundqvist AC, Tarkowski A, Bokarewa M. Longterm clinical and immunological effects of anti-CD20 treatment in patients with refractory systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol 2008;35:826-833.
- 280. Galarza C, Valencia D, Tobon GJ, Zurita L, Mantilla RD, et al. Should rituximab be considered as the first-choice treatment for severe autoimmune rheumatic diseases? *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* 2008;34:124-128.
- 281. Leandro MJ, Cambridge G, Edwards JC, Ehrenstein MR, Isenberg DA. B-cell depletion in the treatment of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: a longitudinal analysis of 24 patients. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2005;44:15421545.
- 282. Lu TY, Ng KP, Cambridge G, Leandro MJ, Edwards JC, et al. A retrospective sevenyear analysis of the use of B cell depletion therapy in systemic lupus erythematosus at University College London Hospital: the first fifty patients. Arthritis Rheum 2009;61:482487.

- 283. Ng KP, Cambridge G, Leandro MJ, Edwards JC, Ehrenstein M, Isenberg DA. B cell depletion therapy in systemic lupus erythematosus: long-term follow-up and predictors of response. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2007;66:1259-1262.
- 284. Turner-Stokes T, Lu TY, Ehrenstein MR, Giles I, Rahman A, Isenberg DA. The efficacy of repeated treatment with B-cell depletion therapy in systemic lupus erythematosus: an evaluation. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2011;50:1401-1408.
- 285. Albert D, Dunham J, Khan S, Stansberry J, Kolasinski S, et al. Variability in the biological response to anti-CD20 B cell depletion in systemic lupus erythaematosus. Ann Rheum Dis 2008;67:1724-1731.
- 286. Reynolds JA, Toescu V, Yee CS, Prabu A, Situnayake D, Gordon C. Effects of rituximab on resistant SLE disease including lung involvement. *Lupus* 2009;18:67-73.
- 287. Bonilla-Abadia F, Coronel RN, Tobon GJ, Echeverri AF, Munoz-Buitron E, et al. Rituximab for remission induction and maintenance in refractory systemic lupus erythematosus. *Autoimmune Dis* 2014;2014:731806.
- 288. Terrier B, Amoura Z, Ravaud P, Hachulla E, Jouenne R, et al. Safety and efficacy of rituximab in systemic lupus erythematosus: results from 136 patients from the French AutoImmunity and Rituximab registry. *Arthritis Rheum* 2010;62:2458-2466.
- 289. Garcia-Carrasco M, Mendoza-Pinto C,
 Sandoval-Cruz M, Soto-Vega E, BeltranCastillo A, et al. Anti-CD20 therapy in patients with refractory systemic lupus erythematosus: a longitudinal analysis of 52 Hispanic patients. Lupus 2010;19:213-219.
- 290. Ramos-Casals M, Garcia-Hernandez FJ, de RE, Callejas JL, Martinez-Berriotxoa A, et al.

Off-label use of rituximab in 196 patients with severe, refractory systemic autoimmune diseases. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 2010;28:468-476.

- 291. Chen H, Zheng W, Su J, Xu D, Wang Q, et al. Low-dose rituximab therapy for refractory thrombocytopenia in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus--a prospective pilot study. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2011;50:1640-1644.
- 292. Pinto LF, Velasquez CJ, Prieto C, Mestra L, Forero E, Marquez JD. Rituximab induces a rapid and sustained remission in Colombian patients with severe and refractory systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2011;20:1219-1226.
- 293. Diaz-Lagares C, Perez-Alvarez R, GarciaHernandez FJ, yala-Gutierrez MM, Callejas JL, et al. Rates of, and risk factors for, severe infections in patients with systemic autoimmune diseases receiving biological agents off-label. *Arthritis Res Ther* 2011;13:R112.
- 294. Vital EM, Dass S, Buch MH, Henshaw K, Pease CT, et al. B cell biomarkers of rituximab responses in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 2011;63:3038-3047.
- 295. Fernandez-Nebro A, de la Fuente JL, Carreno L, Izquierdo MG, Tomero E, et al. Multicenter longitudinal study of Blymphocyte depletion in refractory systemic lupus erythematosus: the LESIMAB study. *Lupus* 2012;21:1063-1076.
- 296. Dale RC, Brilot F, Duffy LV, Twilt M, Waldman AT, et al. Utility and safety of rituximab in pediatric autoimmune and inflammatory CNS disease. *Neurology* 2014;83:142-150.
- 297. Narvaez J, Rios-Rodriguez V, de la FD, Estrada P, Lopez-Vives L, et al. Rituximab therapy in refractory neuropsychiatric

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023 lupus: current clinical evidence. *Semin Arthritis Rheum* 2011;41:364-372.

- 298. Kraaij T, Kamerling S, de Rooij E, Daele P, Bredewold O, et al. Synergetic B-cell immunomodulation with rituximab and belimumab combination treatment in severe, refractory SLE *Arthritis Rheumatol* 2017;69.
- 299. Condon MB, Ashby D, Pepper RJ, Cook HT, Levy JB, et al. Prospective observational single-centre cohort study to evaluate the effectiveness of treating lupus nephritis with rituximab and mycophenolate mofetil but no oral steroids. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2013;72:1280-1286.
- 300. Moore PA, Belvedere O, Orr A, Pieri K, LaFleur DW, et al. BLyS: member of the tumor necrosis factor family and B lymphocyte stimulator. *Science* 1999;285:260-263.
- 301. Davidson A. The rationale for BAFF inhibition in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Curr Rheumatol Rep* 2012;14:295-302.
- 302. Cancro MP, D'Cruz DP, Khamashta MA. The role of B lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS) in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Clin Invest 2009;119:1066-1073.
- 303. Cheema GS, Roschke V, Hilbert DM, Stohl W. Elevated serum B lymphocyte stimulator levels in patients with systemic immunebased rheumatic diseases. Arthritis Rheum 2001;44:1313-1319.
- 304. Petri M, Stohl W, Chatham W, McCune WJ, Chevrier M, et al. Association of plasma B lymphocyte stimulator levels and disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 2008;58:2453-2459.
- 305. Zhang J, Roschke V, Baker KP, Wang Z, Alarcon GS, et al. Cutting edge: a role for B lymphocyte stimulator in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol 2001;166:6-10.

- 306. Yu T, Enioutina EY, Brunner HI, Vinks AA, Sherwin CM. Clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of biologic therapeutics for treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2016.
- 307. Stohl W, Schwarting A, Okada M, Scheinberg M, Doria A, et al. Efficacy and safety of subcutaneous belimumab in systemic lupus erythematosus: a fiftytwoweek randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled study. Arthritis Rheumatol 2017;69:1016-1027.
- 308. Navarra SV, Guzman RM, Gallacher AE, Hall S, Levy RA, et al. Efficacy and safety of belimumab in patients with active systemic lupus erythematosus: a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2011;377:721-731.
- 309. Furie R, Petri M, Zamani O, Cervera R, Wallace DJ, et al. A phase III, randomized, placebo-controlled study of belimumab, a monoclonal antibody that inhibits B lymphocyte stimulator, in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 2011;63:3918-3930.
- 310. Stohl W, Hiepe F, Latinis KM, Thomas M, Scheinberg MA, et al. Belimumab reduces autoantibodies, normalizes low complement levels, and reduces select B cell populations in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 2012;64:2328-2337.
- 311. van Vollenhoven RF, Petri MA, Cervera R, Roth DA, Ji BN, et al. Belimumab in the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus: high disease activity predictors of response. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2012;71:1343-1349.
- Ginzler EM, Wallace DJ, Merrill JT, Furie RA, Stohl W, et al. Disease control and safety of belimumab plus standard therapy over 7 years in patients with systemic lupus

erythematosus. J Rheumatol 2014;41:300309.

- Collins CE, Dall'Era M, Kan H, Macahilig C, Molta C, et al. Response to belimumab among patients with systemic lupus erythematosus in clinical practice settings: 24-month results from the OBSErve study in the USA. Lupus Sci Med 2016;3:e000118.
- 314. Yapa SW, Roth D, Gordon D, Struemper H. Comparison of intravenous and subcutaneous exposure supporting dose selection of subcutaneous belimumab systemic lupus erythematosus Phase 3 program. Lupus 2016.
- 315. Guidelines for referral and management of systemic lupus erythematosus in adults. American College of Rheumatology Ad Hoc Committee on Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Guidelines. Arthritis Rheum 1999;42:1785-1796.
- 316. Cosman F, de Beur SJ, LeBoff MS, Lewiecki EM, Tanner B, et al. Clinician's Guide to Prevention and Treatment of Osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int 2014;25:2359-2381.
- 317. Tanner SB, Moore CF, Jr. A review of the use of dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) in rheumatology. Open Access Rheumatol 2012;4:99-107.
- 318. Gladman DD, Ibanez D, Ruiz I, Urowitz MB. Recommendations for frequency of visits to monitor systemic lupus erythematosus in asymptomatic patients: data from an observational cohort study. *J Rheumatol* 2013;40:630-633.
- 319. Costedoat-Chalumeau N, Amoura Z, Hulot JS, Aymard G, Leroux G, et al. Very low blood hydroxychloroquine concentration as an objective marker of poor adherence to treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis 2007;66:821-824.

- 320. Costedoat-Chalumeau N, Pouchot J,
 Guettrot-Imbert G, le G, V, Leroux G, et al. Adherence to treatment in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol* 2013;27:329-340.
- 321. Marmor MF. Comparison of screening procedures in hydroxychloroquine toxicity. *Arch Ophthalmol* 2012;130:461-469.
- 322. Ding HJ, Denniston AK, Rao VK, Gordon C. Hydroxychloroquine-related retinal toxicity. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2016;55:957-967.
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Glomerulonephritis Working Group. KDIGO Clinical Practice Guideline for Glomerulonephritis. *Kidney Int Suppl* 2012;2:139-127.
- 324. Fine DM, Ziegenbein M, Petri M, Han EC, McKinley AM, et al. A prospective study of protein excretion using short-interval timed urine collections in patients with lupus nephritis. *Kidney Int* 2009;76:1284-1288.
- 325. Leung YY, Szeto CC, Tam LS, Lam CW, Li EK, et al. Urine protein-to-creatinine ratio in an untimed urine collection is a reliable measure of proteinuria in lupus nephritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2007;46:649-652.
- 326. Hebert LA, Dillon JJ, Middendorf DF, Lewis EJ, Peter JB. Relationship between appearance of urinary red blood cell/white blood cell casts and the onset of renal relapse in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Am J Kidney Dis* 1995;26:432-438.
- 327. Moroni G, Radice A, Giammarresi G, Quaglini S, Gallelli B, et al. Are laboratory tests useful for monitoring the activity of lupus nephritis? A 6-year prospective study in a cohort of 228 patients with lupus nephritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2009;68:234-237.
- 328. Birmingham DJ, Irshaid F, Nagaraja HN, Zou X, Tsao BP, et al. The complex nature of

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023 serum C3 and C4 as biomarkers of lupus renal flare. *Lupus* 2010;19:1272-1280.

- 329. Esdaile JM, Abrahamowicz M, Joseph L, MacKenzie T, Li Y, Danoff D. Laboratory tests as predictors of disease exacerbations in systemic lupus erythematosus. Why some tests fail. Arthritis Rheum 1996;39:370-378.
- 330. Ghirardello A, Villalta D, Morozzi G, Afeltra A, Galeazzi M, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of currently available anti-double-stranded DNA antibody assays. An Italian multicentre study. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 2011;29:50-56.
- 331. Jaekell HP, Trabandt A, Grobe N, Werle E. Anti-dsDNA antibody subtypes and anti-C1q antibodies: toward a more reliable diagnosis and monitoring of systemic lupus erythematosus and lupus nephritis. Lupus 2006;15:335-345.
- 332. Grootscholten C, Dieker JW, McGrath FD, Roos A, Derksen RH, et al. A prospective study of anti-chromatin and anti-C1q autoantibodies in patients with proliferative lupus nephritis treated with cyclophosphamide pulses or azathioprine/methylprednisolone. Ann Rheum Dis 2007;66:693-696.
- 333. Gutierrez-Adrianzen OA, Koutouzov S, Mota RM, das Chagas Medeiros MM, Bach JF, de Holanda CH. Diagnostic value of antinucleosome antibodies in the assessment of disease activity of systemic lupus erythematosus: a prospective study comparing anti-nucleosome with antidsDNA antibodies. J Rheumatol 2006;33:1538-1544.
- 334. Mok CC, Ho LY, Leung HW, Wong LG. Performance of anti-C1q, antinucleosome, and anti-dsDNA antibodies for detecting concurrent disease activity of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Transl Res* 2010;156:320-325.

- 335. J vdV, Berden JH. Lupus nephritis: role of antinucleosome autoantibodies. Semin Nephrol 2011;31:376-389.
- 336. Steinberg AD, Decker JL. A double-blind controlled trial comparing cyclophosphamide, azathioprine and placebo in the treatment of lupus glomerulonephritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 1974;17:923-937.
- 337. Hill GS, Delahousse M, Nochy D, Remy P, Mignon F, et al. Predictive power of the second renal biopsy in lupus nephritis: significance of macrophages. *Kidney Int* 2001;59:304-316.
- 338. Hill GS, Delahousse M, Nochy D, Thervet E, Vrtovsnik F, et al. Outcome of relapse in lupus nephritis: roles of reversal of renal fibrosis and response of inflammation to therapy. *Kidney Int* 2002;61:2176-2186.
- 339. Moroni G, Pasquali S, Quaglini S, Banfi G, Casanova S, et al. Clinical and prognostic value of serial renal biopsies in lupus nephritis. *Am J Kidney Dis* 1999;34:530-539.
- 340. Petri M. Systemic lupus erythematosus and related diseases: clinical features. *The Autoimmune Diseases*. 4th ed. London, UK: Elsevier Academic Press; 2006:351-356.
- 341. Nossent J, Cikes N, Kiss E, Marchesoni A, Nassonova V, et al. Current causes of death in systemic lupus erythematosus in Europe, 2000--2004: relation to disease activity and damage accrual. *Lupus* 2007;16:309-317.
- 342. Lofstrom B, Backlin C, Pettersson T, Lundberg IE, Baecklund E. Expression of APRIL in diffuse large B cell lymphomas from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis. *J Rheumatol* 2011;38:1891-1897.
- 343. Kassan SS, Thomas TL, Moutsopoulos HM, Hoover R, Kimberly RP, et al. Increased risk of lymphoma in sicca syndrome. *Ann Intern Med* 1978;89:888-892.

- 344. Bernatsky S, Boivin JF, Joseph L, St PY, Moore A, et al. Prevalence of factors influencing cancer risk in women with lupus: social habits, reproductive issues, and obesity. J Rheumatol 2002;29:25512554.
- 345. Bernatsky S, Ramsey-Goldman R, Labrecque J, Joseph L, Boivin JF, et al. Cancer risk in systemic lupus: an updated international multi-centre cohort study. J Autoimmun 2013;42:130-135.
- 346. Apor E, O'Brien J, Stephen M, Castillo JJ. Systemic lupus erythematosus is associated with increased incidence of hematologic malignancies: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Leuk Res* 2014;38:1067-1071.
- 347. Bernatsky S, Ramsey-Goldman R, Rajan R, Boivin JF, Joseph L, et al. Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis 2005;64:1507-1509.
- 348. Ni J, Qiu LJ, Hu LF, Cen H, Zhang M, et al. Lung, liver, prostate, bladder malignancies risk in systemic lupus erythematosus: evidence from a meta-analysis. *Lupus* 2014;23:284-292.
- 349. Bourre-Tessier J, Peschken CA, Bernatsky S, Joseph L, Clarke AE, et al. Association of smoking with cutaneous manifestations in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2013;65:1275-1280.
- 350. Goobie GC, Bernatsky S, Ramsey-Goldman R, Clarke AE. Malignancies in systemic lupus erythematosus: a 2015 update. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 2015;27:454-460.
- 351. Hemminki K, Liu X, Ji J, Sundquist J, Sundquist K. Effect of autoimmune diseases on risk and survival in histology-specific lung cancer. *Eur Respir J* 2012;40:1489-1495.
- 352. Zard E, Arnaud L, Mathian A, Chakhtoura Z, Hie M, et al. Increased risk of high grade cervical squamous intraepithelial lesions in systemic lupus erythematosus: A

metaanalysis of the literature. *Autoimmun Rev* 2014;13:730-735.

- 353. Dreyer L, Faurschou M, Mogensen M, Jacobsen S. High incidence of potentially virus-induced malignancies in systemic lupus erythematosus: a long-term followup study in a Danish cohort. *Arthritis Rheum* 2011;63:3032-3037.
- 354. Abud-Mendoza С, Cuevas-Orta Ε, SantillanGuerrero EN, Martinez-Martinez MU, Hernandez-Castro B, et al. Decreased blood levels of B lymphocytes and NK cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) infected with papillomavirus (HPV). Arch Dermatol Res 2013;305:117-123.
- 355. Bernatsky S, Ramsey-Goldman R, Gordon C, Joseph L, Boivin JF, et al. Factors associated with abnormal Pap results in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatology* (Oxford) 2004;43:1386-1389.
- 356. Klumb EM, Araujo ML, Jr., Jesus GR, Santos DB, Oliveira AV, et al. Is higher prevalence of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia in women with lupus due to immunosuppression? *J Clin Rheumatol* 2010;16:153-157.
- 357. Andreoli L, Bertsias GK, Agmon-Levin N, Brown S, Cervera R, et al. EULAR recommendations for women's health and the management of family planning, assisted reproduction, pregnancy and menopause in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and/or antiphospholipid syndrome. Ann Rheum Dis 2017;76:476485.
- 358. Urowitz MB, Gladman DD, Anderson NM, Su J, Romero-Diaz J, et al. Cardiovascular events prior to or early after diagnosis of systemic lupus erythematosus in the systemic lupus international collaborating clinics cohort. *Lupus Sci Med* 2016;3:e000143.

- 359. Ridker P. Risk markers for atherothrombotic disease. In: Bonow RO, Mann DL, Zipes DP, Libby P, eds. *Braunwald Heart Disease*. 9th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders; 2012:914931.
- 360. Bertoli AM, Vila LM, Alarcon GS, McGwin G, Edberg JC, et al. Factors associated with arterial vascular events in PROFILE: a Multiethnic Lupus Cohort. Lupus 2009;18:958-965.
- 361. Gustafsson JT, Simard JF, Gunnarsson I, Elvin K, Lundberg IE, et al. Risk factors for cardiovascular mortality in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus, a prospective cohort study. *Arthritis Res Ther* 2012;14:R46.
- 362. Jolly M, RA M, JA B, M P. Does cigarette smoking affect disease phenotype in systemic lupus erythematosus? *Arthritis Rheum* 2010;62:765.
- 363. Urowitz MB, Gladman D, Ibanez D, Bae SC, Sanchez-Guerrero J, et al. Atherosclerotic vascular events in a multinational inception cohort of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)* 2010;62:881887.
- 364. Jiang F, Li S, Jia C. Smoking and the risk of systemic lupus erythematosus: an updated systematic review and cumulative metaanalysis. *Clin Rheumatol* 2015;34:18851892.
- 365. Freemer MM, King TE, Jr., Criswell LA. Association of smoking with dsDNA autoantibody production in systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis 2006;65:581-584.
- 366. Jewell ML, McCauliffe DP. Patients with cutaneous lupus erythematosus who smoke are less responsive to antimalarial treatment. J Am Acad Dermatol 2000;42:983-987.
- 367. Ballocca F, D'Ascenzo F, Moretti C, Omede P, Cerrato E, et al. Predictors of

cardiovascular events in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE): a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Prev Cardiol* 2015;22:1435-1441.

- 368. Bengtsson C, Ohman ML, Nived O, Rantapaa DS. Cardiovascular event in systemic lupus erythematosus in northern Sweden:
 incidence and predictors in a 7-year followup study. Lupus 2012;21:452-459.
- 369. Touma Z, Gladman DD, Ibanez D, Urowitz MB. Ability of non-fasting and fasting triglycerides to predict coronary artery disease in lupus patients. *Rheumatology* (Oxford) 2012;51:528-534.
- 370. Urowitz MB, Gladman DD. The SLICC inception cohort for atherosclerosis. *Curr Rheumatol Rep* 2008;10:281-285.
- 371. Wang XY, Tang XQ, Huang YJ, Chen WY, Yu XQ. Frequency of established cardiovascular disease and its risk factors in Chinese patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Rheumatol* 2012;31:669-675.
- 372. Sella EM, Sato EI, Leite WA, Oliveira Filho JA, Barbieri A. Myocardial perfusion scintigraphy and coronary disease risk factors in systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis 2003;62:1066-1070.
- 373. Bruce IN, Gladman DD, Ibanez D, Urowitz MB. Single photon emission computed tomography dual isotope myocardial perfusion imaging in women with systemic

lupus erythematosus. II. Predictive factors for perfusion abnormalities. *J Rheumatol* 2003;30:288-291.

374. Selzer F, Sutton-Tyrrell K, Fitzgerald SG, Pratt JE, Tracy RP, et al. Comparison of risk factors for vascular disease in the carotid artery and aorta in women with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 2004;50:151-159.

- Cypiene A, Kovaite M, Venalis A, Dadoniene J, Rugiene R, et al. Arterial wall dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2009;18:522-529.
- 376. Sacre K, Escoubet B, Pasquet B, Chauveheid MP, Zennaro MC, et al. Increased arterial stiffness in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients at low risk for cardiovascular disease: a cross-sectional controlled study. *PLoS One* 2014;9:e94511.
- 377. Bhatt SP, Handa R, Gulati GS, Sharma S, Pandey RM, et al. Atherosclerosis in Asian Indians with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Scand J Rheumatol* 2006;35:128-132.
- 378. Doria A, Shoenfeld Y, Wu R, Gambari PF, Puato M, et al. Risk factors for subclinical atherosclerosis in a prospective cohort of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis 2003;62:1071-1077.
- 379. McMahon M, Skaggs BJ, Sahakian L, Grossman J, FitzGerald J, et al. High plasma leptin levels confer increased risk of atherosclerosis in women with systemic lupus erythematosus, and are associated with inflammatory oxidised lipids. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2011;70:1619-1624.
- 380. Zhang CY, Lu LJ, Li FH, Li HL, Gu YY, et al. Evaluation of risk factors that contribute to high prevalence of premature atherosclerosis in Chinese premenopausal systemic lupus erythematosus patients. J Clin Rheumatol 2009;15:111-116.
- 381. Fang H, Ahmad R, Madger LS, Petri M. Lack of control of hypertension in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 2012;64:2571.
- 382. Rodgers A, Perkovic V. A randomized trial of intensive versus standard blood-pressure control. *N Engl J Med* 2016;374:2295.
- 383. Manzi S, Meilahn EN, Rairie JE, Conte CG, Medsger TA, Jr., et al. Age-specific incidence rates of myocardial infarction and angina in

women with systemic lupus erythematosus: comparison with the Framingham Study. *Am J Epidemiol* 1997;145:408-415.

- 384. Nikpour M, Urowitz MB, Ibanez D, Harvey PJ, Gladman DD. Importance of cumulative exposure to elevated cholesterol and blood pressure in development of atherosclerotic coronary artery disease in systemic lupus erythematosus: a prospective proofofconcept cohort study. Arthritis Res Ther 2011;13:R156.
- 385. Rahman P, Aguero S, Gladman DD, Hallett D, Urowitz MB. Vascular events in hypertensive patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2000;9:672-675.
- 386. Boucelma M, Haddoum F, Chaudet H, Kaplanski G, Mazouni-Brahimi N, et al. Cardiovascular risk and lupus disease. Int Angiol 2011;30:18-24.
- 387. Kiani AN, Post WS, Magder LS, Petri M. Predictors of progression in atherosclerosis over 2 years in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2011;50:2071-2079.
- 388. Kaul MS, Rao SV, Shaw LK, Honeycutt E, Ardoin SP, St Clair EW. Association of systemic lupus erythematosus with angiographically defined coronary artery disease: a retrospective cohort study. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2013;65:266273.
- 389. Goldberg RJ, Urowitz MB, Ibanez D, Nikpour M, Gladman DD. Risk factors for development of coronary artery disease in women with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Rheumatol* 2009;36:2454-2461.
- 390. McMahon M, Skaggs BJ, Grossman JM, Sahakian L, FitzGerald J, et al. A panel of biomarkers is associated with increased risk of the presence and progression of atherosclerosis in women with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheumatol 2014;66:130-139.

- 391. Lavie CJ, Milani RV, Ventura HO. Obesity and cardiovascular disease: risk factor, paradox, and impact of weight loss. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;53:1925-1932.
- 392. Norby GE, Gunther A, Mjoen G, Andersen R, Dolgos S, et al. Prevalence and risk factors for coronary artery calcification following kidney transplantation for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2011;50:1659-1664.
- 393. Kiani AN, Magder L, Petri M. Coronary calcium in systemic lupus erythematosus is associated with traditional cardiovascular risk factors, but not with disease activity. *J Rheumatol* 2008;35:1300-1306.
- 394. Schanberg LE, Sandborg C, Barnhart HX, Ardoin SP, Yow E, et al. Premature atherosclerosis in pediatric systemic lupus erythematosus: risk factors for increased carotid intima-media thickness in the atherosclerosis prevention in pediatric lupus erythematosus cohort. *Arthritis Rheum* 2009;60:1496-1507.
- 395. Smrzova A, Horak P, Skacelova M, Hermanova Z, Langova K, et al. Intima media thickness measurement as a marker of subclinical atherosclerosis in SLE patient. Biomed Pap Med Fac Univ Palacky Olomouc Czech Repub 2014;158:404-411.
- 396. Kiani AN, Vogel-Claussen J, rbab-Zadeh A, Magder LS, Lima J, Petri M. Semiquantified noncalcified coronary plaque in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol 2012;39:2286-2293.
- 397. Go AS, Chertow GM, Fan D, McCulloch CE, Hsu CY. Chronic kidney disease and the risks of death, cardiovascular events, and hospitalization. N Engl J Med 2004;351:1296-1305.
- 398. ter Borg EJ, de Jong PE, Meijer S, Kallenberg CG. Renal effects of indomethacin in

patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nephron* 1989;53:238-243.

- 399. Yang L, Tao J, Tang X, Wang Y, He X, et al. Prevalence and correlation of conventional and lupus-specific risk factors for cardiovascular disease in Chinese systemic lupus erythematosus patients. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2012;26:95-101.
- 400. Clowse ME. Lupus activity in pregnancy. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am* 2007;33:237-252,v.
- 401. US Food and Drug Administration. Approved risk evaluation and mitigation strategies (REMS). Mycophenolate shared systems REMS. Last updated November 13, 2015. . https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cd er/rems/index.cfm?event=RemsDetails.pag e&REMS=37. Accessed October 4, 2018.
- 402. Petri M, Kim MY, Kalunian KC, Grossman J, Hahn BH, et al. Combined oral contraceptives in women with systemic lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med 2005;353:2550-2558.
- 403. Alarcon GS, McGwin G, Jr., Petri M, Reveille JD, Ramsey-Goldman R, Kimberly RP. Baseline characteristics of a multiethnic lupus cohort: PROFILE. Lupus 2002;11:95101.
- 404. Kasitanon N, Magder LS, Petri M. Predictors of survival in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2006;85:147-156.
- 405. Weening JJ, D'Agati VD, Schwartz MM, Seshan SV, Alpers CE, et al. The classification of glomerulonephritis in systemic lupus erythematosus revisited. *Kidney Int* 2004;65:521-530.
- 406. van Vollenhoven RF, Mosca M, Bertsias G, Isenberg D, Kuhn A, et al. Treat-to-target in systemic lupus erythematosus: recommendations from an international

task force. Ann Rheum Dis 2014;73:958967.

- 407. Lightstone L. Minimising steroids in lupus nephritis--will B cell depletion pave the way? *Lupus* 2013;22:390-399.
- 408. Parikh SV, Pendergraft WF, Tumlin JA. Treatment of active lupus nephritis with voclosporin: Rapid remission over 48 weeks. Data from the AURA-LV study. *Poster presented at the National Kidney Foundation's 2017 Spring Clinical Meetings in Orlando, Florida* 2017;April 18-22:Poster 381.
- 409. Dooley MA, Pendergraft III W, Ginzler EM, Olsen NJ, Tumlin J, et al. Speed of remission with the use of voclosporin, MMF and low dose steroids: restuls of a global lupus nephritis study. Arthritis Rheum 2016;68:abstract 5L.
- 410. Isenberg D, Appel GB, Contreras G, Dooley MA, Ginzler EM, et al. Influence of race/ethnicity on response to lupus nephritis treatment: the ALMS study. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2010;49:128-140.
- 411. Mersereau J, Dooley MA. Gonadal failure with cyclophosphamide therapy for lupus nephritis: advances in fertility preservation. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am* 2010;36:99-108, viii.
- 412. Cervera R, Khamashta MA, Font J,
 Sebastiani GD, Gil A, et al. Morbidity and mortality in systemic lupus erythematosus during a 10-year period: a comparison of early and late manifestations in a cohort of 1,000 patients. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2003;82:299-308.
- 413. Kasitanon N, Petri M, Haas M, Magder LS, Fine DM. Mycophenolate mofetil as the primary treatment of membranous lupus nephritis with and without concurrent proliferative disease: a retrospective study of 29 cases. *Lupus* 2008;17:40-45.
- 414. Radhakrishnan J, Moutzouris DA, Ginzler EM, Solomons N, Siempos II, Appel GB.

Mycophenolate mofetil and intravenous cyclophosphamide are similar as induction therapy for class V lupus nephritis. *Kidney Int* 2010;77:152-160.

- 415. Praga M, Barrio V, Juarez GF, Luno J. Tacrolimus monotherapy in membranous nephropathy: a randomized controlled trial. *Kidney Int* 2007;71:924-930.
- 416. Howman A, Chapman TL, Langdon MM, Ferguson C, Adu D, et al. Immunosuppression for progressive nephropathy: membranous UK а controlled randomised trial. Lancet 2013;381:744-751.
- Ruggenenti P, Cravedi P, Chianca A, Perna A, Ruggiero B, et al. Rituximab in idiopathic membranous nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol 2012;23:1416-1425.
- 418. Karpouzas GA. Hematological and lymphoid abnormalities in SLE. In: Wallace DJ, Hahn BH, eds. *Dubois' Lupus Erythmatosus and Related Syndromes.* Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2013:426-437A.
- 419. Mak A, Mok CC. Mycophenolate mofetil for refractory haemolytic anemia in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2005;14:856858.
- 420. Flores G, Cunningham-Rundles C, Newland AC, Bussel JB. Efficacy of intravenous immunoglobulin in the treatment of autoimmune hemolytic anemia: results in 73 patients. *Am J Hematol* 1993;44:237242.
- 421. Zecca M, Nobili B, Ramenghi U, Perrotta S, Amendola G, et al. Rituximab for the treatment of refractory autoimmune hemolytic anemia in children. *Blood* 2003;101:3857-3861.
- 422. Abdwani R, Mani R. Anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody in acute life threatening haemolytic anaemia complicating childhood onset SLE. *Lupus* 2009;18:460464.

- 423. Zecca M, De Stefano P, Nobili B, Locatelli F. Anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody for the treatment of severe, immune-mediated, pure red cell aplasia and hemolytic anemia. *Blood* 2001;97:3995-3997.
- 424. Provan D, Butler T, Evangelista ML, Amadori S, Newland AC, Stasi R. Activity and safety profile of low-dose rituximab for the treatment of autoimmune cytopenias in adults. *Haematologica* 2007;92:1695-1698.
- 425. Dierickx D, Verhoef G, Van Hoof A, Mineur P, Roest A, et al. Rituximab in auto-immune haemolytic anaemia and immune thrombocytopenic purpura: a Belgian retrospective multicentric study. *J Intern Med* 2009;266:484-491.
- 426. Lurie DP, Kahaleh MB. Pulse corticosteroid therapy for refractory thrombocytopenia in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Rheumatol* 1982;9:311-314.
- 427. Arnal C, Piette JC, Leone J, Taillan B, Hachulla E, et al. Treatment of severe immune thrombocytopenia associated with systemic lupus erythematosus: 59 cases. J Rheumatol 2002;29:75-83.
- 428. Vasoo S, Thumboo J, Fong KY. Refractory immune thrombocytopenia in systemic lupus erythematosus: response to mycophenolate mofetil. *Lupus* 2003;12:630-632.
- 429. Chang HK. Successful treatment of refractory thrombocytopenia with mycophenolate mofetil in a patient with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Korean Med Sci 2005;20:883-885.
- 430. Goebel KM, Gassel WD, Goebel FD. Evaluation of azathioprine in autoimmune thrombocytopenia and lupus erythematosus. *Scand J Haematol* 1973;10:28-34.
- 431. Abu-Shakra M, Shoenfeld Y. Azathioprine therapy for patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2001;10:152-153.

- 432. Roldan R, Roman J, Lopez D, Gonzalez J, Sanchez C, Martinez F. Treatment of hemolytic anemia and severe thrombocytopenia with high-dose methylprednisolone and intravenous immunoglobulins in SLE. *Scand J Rheumatol* 1994;23:218-219.
- 433. Chandramouli NB, Rodgers GM. Prolonged immunoglobulin and platelet infusion for treatment of immune thrombocytopenia. *Am J Hematol* 2000;65:85-86.
- 434. Maier WP, Gordon DS, Howard RF, Saleh MN, Miller SB, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in systemic lupus erythematosus-associated thrombocytopenia. *Arthritis Rheum* 1990;33:1233-1239.
- 435. Levy Y, Sherer Y, Ahmed A, Langevitz P, George J, et al. A study of 20 SLE patients with intravenous immunoglobulin--clinical and serologic response. *Lupus* 1999;8:705712.
- 436. ter Borg EJ, Kallenberg CG. Treatment of severe thrombocytopenia in systemic lupus erythematosus with intravenous gammaglobulin. *Ann Rheum Dis* 1992;51:1149-1151.
- 437. Maeshima E, Kida Y, Goda M, Minami Y. A case of systemic lupus erythematosus expressing intractable thrombocytopenia remedied effectively by intermittent and continuous administrations of a small amount of immune globulin. *Mod Rheumatol* 2006;16:239-242.
- 438. You YN, Tefferi A, Nagorney DM. Outcome of splenectomy for thrombocytopenia associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Surg* 2004;240:286292.
- 439. Coon WW. Splenectomy for cytopenias associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Am J Surg* 1988;155:391394.

- 440. Gruenberg JC, VanSlyck EJ, Abraham JP. Splenectomy in systemic lupus erythematosis. *Am Surg* 1986;52:366-370.
- 441. Hall S, McCormick JL, Jr., Greipp PR, Michet CJ, Jr., McKenna CH. Splenectomy does not cure the thrombocytopenia of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Intern Med* 1985;102:325-328.
- 442. Hakim AJ, Machin SJ, Isenberg DA. Autoimmune thrombocytopenia in primary antiphospholipid syndrome and systemic lupus erythematosus: the response to splenectomy. *Semin Arthritis Rheum* 1998;28:20-25.
- 443. Kneitz C, Wilhelm M, Tony HP. Effective B cell depletion with rituximab in the treatment of autoimmune diseases. *Immunobiology* 2002;206:519-527.
- 444. ten Cate R, Smiers FJ, Bredius RG, Lankester AC, van Suijlekom-Smit LW, et al. Anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (rituximab) for refractory autoimmune thrombocytopenia in a girl with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2004;43:244.
- 445. Lehembre S, Macario-Barrel A, Musette P, Carvalho P, Joly P. [Rituximab treatment for immune thrombocytopenia associated with systemic lupus erythematosus]. *Ann Dermatol Venereol* 2006;133:53-55.
- 446. Fukushima T, Dong L, Sakai T, Sawaki T, Miki M, et al. Successful treatment of amegakaryocytic thrombocytopenia with anti-CD20 antibody (rituximab) in a patient with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2008;17:210-214.
- 447. Lateef A, Lahiri M, Teng GG, Vasoo S. Use of rituximab in the treatment of refractory systemic lupus erythematosus: Singapore experience. *Lupus* 2010;19:765-770.
- 448. Feinglass S, Deodhar A. Treatment of lupusinduced thrombocytopenia

with recombinant human interleukin-11. *Arthritis Rheum* 2001;44:170-175.

- 449. Maroun MC, Ososki R, Andersen JC, Dhar JP. Eltrombopag as steroid sparing therapy for immune thrombocytopenic purpura in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2015;24:746-750.
- 450. Alkaabi JK, Alkindi S, Riyami NA, Zia F, Balla LM, Balla SM. Successful treatment of severe thrombocytopenia with romiplostim in a pregnant patient with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2012;21:1571-1574.
- 451. Manger K, Kalden JR, Manger B. Cyclosporin A in the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus: results of an open clinical study. Br J Rheumatol 1996;35:669-675.
- 452. Vasiliu IM, Petri MA, Baer AN. Therapy with granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in systemic lupus erythematosus may be associated with severe flares. *J Rheumatol* 2006;33:1878-1880.
- 453. Barile-Fabris L, Ariza-Andraca R, OlguinOrtega L, Jara LJ, Fraga-Mouret A, et Controlled clinical trial of IV al. cyclophosphamide IV versus methylprednisolone in severe neurological manifestations in systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis 2005;64:620-625.
- 454. Fernandes Moca Trevisani V, Castro AA, Ferreira Neves Neto J, Atallah AN. Cyclophosphamide versus methylprednisolone for treating neuropsychiatric involvement in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2013;CD002265.
- 455. Hahn BH, Kantor OS, Osterland CK. Azathioprine plus prednisone compared with prednisone alone in the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. Report of a prospective controlled trial in 24 patients. Ann Intern Med 1975;83:597-605.

- 456. Toubi E, Kessel A, Shoenfeld Y. High-dose intravenous immunoglobulins: an option in the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Hum Immunol* 2005;66:395-402.
- 457. Camara I, Sciascia S, Simoes J, Pazzola G, Salas V, et al. Treatment with intravenous immunoglobulins in systemic lupus erythematosus: a series of 52 patients from a single centre. *Clin Exp Rheumatol* 2014;32:41-47.
- 458. Milstone AM, Meyers K, Elia J. Treatment of acute neuropsychiatric lupus with intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG): a case report and review of the literature. *Clin Rheumatol* 2005;24:394-397.
- 459. Neuwelt CM. The role of plasmapheresis in the treatment of severe central nervous system neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ther Apher Dial* 2003;7:173-182.
- 460. Bartolucci P, Brechignac S, Cohen P, Le Guern V, Guillevin L. Adjunctive plasma exchanges to treat neuropsychiatric lupus: a retrospective study on 10 patients. *Lupus* 2007;16:817-822.
- 461. Pons-Estel GJ, Salerni GE, Serrano RM, Gomez-Puerta JA, Plasin MA, et al. Therapeutic plasma exchange for the management of refractory systemic autoimmune diseases: report of 31 cases and review of the literature. *Autoimmun Rev* 2011;10:679-684.
- 462. Signorelli F, Nogueira F, Domingues V, Mariz HA, Levy RA. Thrombotic events in patients with antiphospholipid syndrome treated with rivaroxaban: a series of eight cases. *Clin Rheumatol* 2016;35:801-805.
- 463. Malec K, Goralczyk T, Undas A. The use of direct oral anticoagulants in 56 patients with antiphospholipid syndrome. *Thromb Res* 2017;152:93-97.

- 464. Win K, Rodgers GM. New oral anticoagulants may not be effective to prevent venous thromboembolism in patients with antiphospholipid syndrome. *Am J Hematol* 2014;89:1017.
- 465. Woller SC, Stevens SM, Kaplan DA, Branch DW, Aston VT, et al. Apixaban for the secondary prevention of thrombosis among patients with antiphospholipid syndrome: study rationale and design (ASTRO-APS). *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* 2016;22:239-247.
- Roenigk HH, Jr., Martin JS, Eichorn P, Gilliam JN. Discoid lupus erythematosus. Diagnostic features and evaluation of topical corticosteroid therapy. *Cutis* 1980;25:281285.
- 467. Jessop S, Whitelaw DA, Delamere FM. Drugs for discoid lupus erythematosus. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2009;CD002954.
- 468. Bezerra EL, Vilar MJ, da Trindade Neto PB, Sato EI. Double-blind, randomized, controlled clinical trial of clofazimine compared with chloroquine in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum* 2005;52:3073-3078.
- 469. Boehm IB, Boehm GA, Bauer R. of cutaneous Management lupus erythematosus with low-dose methotrexate: indication for modulation of inflammatory mechanisms. Rheumatol Int 1998;18:59-62.
- 470. Kreuter A, Tomi NS, Weiner SM, Huger M, Altmeyer P, Gambichler T. Mycophenolate sodium for subacute cutaneous lupus erythematosus resistant to standard therapy. *Br J Dermatol* 2007;156:13211327.
- 471. Gammon B, Hansen C, Costner MI. Efficacy of mycophenolate mofetil in antimalarialresistant cutaneous lupus erythematosus. J Am Acad Dermatol 2011;65:717-721.
- 472. Sadlier M, Kirby B, Lally A. Mycophenolate mofetil and hydroxychloroquine: an
 United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline
 Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023

effective treatment for recalcitrant cutaneous lupus erythematosus. *J Am Acad Dermatol* 2012;66:160-161; author reply 161-162.

- Callen JP, Roth DE, McGrath C, Dromgoole SH. Safety and efficacy of a broad-spectrum sunscreen in patients with discoid or subacute cutaneous lupus erythematosus. *Cutis* 1991;47:130-132, 135-136.
- Shehade S. Successful treatment of generalized discoid skin lesions with azathioprine. Arch Dermatol 1986;122:376377.
- 475. Englert HJ, Hughes GV. Danazol and discoid lupus. *Br J Dermatol* 1988;119:407-409.
- 476. Risselada AP, Kallenberg CG.
 Therapyresistent lupus skin disease successfully treated with rituximab.
 Rheumatology (Oxford) 2006;45:915-916.
- 477. Uthman I, Taher A, Abbas O, Menassa J, Ghosn S. Successful treatment of refractory skin manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus with rituximab: report of a case. *Dermatology* 2008;216:257-259.
- 478. Kieu V, O'Brien T, Yap LM, Baker C, Foley P, et al. Refractory subacute cutaneous lupus erythematosus successfully treated with rituximab. *Australas J Dermatol* 2009;50:202-206.
- 479. Ednalino C, Yip J, Carsons SE. Systematic review of diffuse alveolar hemorrhage in systemic lupus erythematosus: focus on outcome and therapy. J Clin Rheumatol 2015;21:305-310.
- 480. Andrade C, Mendonca T, Farinha F, Correia J, Marinho A, et al. Alveolar hemorrhage in systemic lupus erythematosus: a cohort review. *Lupus* 2016;25:75-80.
- 481. Jais X, Launay D, Yaici A, Le Pavec J, Tcherakian C, et al. Immunosuppressive therapy in lupus- and mixed connective tissue disease-associated pulmonary arterial hypertension: a retrospective

analysis of twenty-three cases. *Arthritis Rheum* 2008;58:521-531.

482. Gonzalez-Lopez L, Cardona-Munoz EG, Celis A, Garcia-de la Torre I, Orozco-Barocio G, et al. Therapy with intermittent pulse cyclophosphamide for pulmonary hypertension associated with systemic

lupus erythematosus. *Lupus* 2004;13:105112.

483. Miyamichi-Yamamoto S,
Fukumoto Y,
Sugimura K, Ishii T, Satoh K, et al. Intensive

immunosuppressive therapy improves pulmonary hemodynamics and long-term prognosis in patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension associated with connective tissue disease. *Circ J* 2011;75:2668-2674.

- 484. Asherson RA, Oakley CM.
 Pulmonary hypertension and systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol 1986;13:1-5.
- 485. Hennigan S, Channick RN, Silverman GJ. Rituximab treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension associated with systemic lupus erythematosus: a case report. *Lupus* 2008;17:754-756.
- 486. Islam MN, Hossain M, Haq SA, Alam MN, Ten Klooster PM, Rasker JJ. Efficacy and safety of methotrexate in articular and cutaneous manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Int J Rheum Dis* 2012;15:6268.
- 487. Fortin PR, Abrahamowicz M, Ferland D, Lacaille D, Smith CD, et al. Steroid-sparing effects of methotrexate in systemic lupus erythematosus: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Arthritis Rheum* 2008;59:1796-1804.
- 488. Wilson AG, Gordon C, di Giovine FS, de Vries N, van de Putte LB, et al. A genetic association between systemic lupus

United Rheumatology Clinical Practice Guideline Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) V1.1.2023 erythematosus and tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Eur J Immunol* 1994;24:191-195.

- Sztejnbok M, Stewart A, Diamond H, Kaplan D. Azathioprine in the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. A controlled study. *Arthritis Rheum* 1971;14:639-645.
- 490. Terrier B, Amoura Z, Ravaud P, Hachulla E, Jouenne R, et al. Safety and efficacy of rituximab in systemic lupus erythematosus: results from 136 patients from the French AutoImmunity and Rituximab registry. *Arthritis Rheum* 2010;62:2458-2466.
- Imazio M, Spodick DH, Brucato A, Trinchero R, Adler Y. Controversial issues in the management of pericardial diseases. *Circulation* 2010;121:916-928.
- 492. Tincani A, Rebaioli CB, Taglietti M, Shoenfeld Y. Heart involvement in systemic lupus erythematosus, anti-phospholipid syndrome and neonatal lupus. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2006;45 Suppl 4:iv8-13.
- 493. Maharaj SS, Chang SM. Cardiac tamponade as the initial presentation of systemic lupus erythematosus: a case report and review of the literature. *Pediatr Rheumatol Online J* 2015;13:9.
- 494. Berg G, Bodet J, Webb K, Williams G, Palmer D, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosis presenting as isolated congestive heart failure. *J Rheumatol* 1985;12:1182-1185.
- 495. Chan YK, Li EK, Tam LS, Chow LT, Ng HK. Intravenous cyclophosphamide improves cardiac dysfunction in lupus myocarditis. *Scand J Rheumatol* 2003;32:306-308.
- 496. Sandrasegaran K, Clarke CW, Nagendran V. Sub-clinical systemic lupus erythematosus presenting with acute myocarditis. *Postgrad Med J* 1992;68:475-478.
- 497. Frustaci A, Gentiloni N, Caldarulo M. Acute myocarditis and left ventricular aneurysm as presentations of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Chest* 1996;109:282-284.

- 498. Murai K, Oku H, Takeuchi K, Kanayama Y, Inoue T, Takeda T. Alterations in myocardial systolic and diastolic function in patients with active systemic lupus erythematosus. *Am Heart J* 1987;113:966-971.
- 499. Sherer Y, Levy Y, Shoenfeld Y. Marked improvement of severe cardiac dysfunction after one course of intravenous immunoglobulin in a patient with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Rheumatol* 1999;18:238-240.
- 500. Franklyn K, Lau CS, Navarra SV, Louthrenoo W, Lateef A, et al. Definition and initial

validation of a Lupus Low Disease Activity State (LLDAS). *Ann Rheum Dis* 2016;75:1615-1621.

Document Updates

Document		
Version	Description of Changes	Approval Date
1.1.2016	Creation of first version	Nov 2016
1.1.2019	2018/19 update	Mar 2019
1.1.2023	2023 update	Feb 2023